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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Yingcen (Chairman)

Mr. Xian Zhenyuan (Chief Executive)

Ms. Qin Ling (General Manager)
(appointed on 29 November 2021)

Mr. Liu Min

Ms. Li Tao

Non-executive Director

Ms. Chen Hong
(appointed on 30 July 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Jin
Mr. Li Liuging
Mr. Yeung Yui Yuen Michael
(resigned on 1 September 2021)
Ms. Zhao Jun
Ms. Ou Yaqun
(appointed on 30 July 2021)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Li Liuging (Chairman)
Ms. Zhao Jun
Ms. Ou Yaqun
(appointed on 1 September 2021)
Mr. Yeung Yui Yuen Michael
(resigned on 1 September 2021)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Ms. Zhao Jun (Chairlady)
Mr. Zhang Yingcen
Ms. Ou Yaqun
(appointed on 1 September 2021)
Mr. Yeung Yui Yuen Michael
(resigned on 1 September 2021)
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Zhang Yingcen (Chairman)
Ms. Zhao Jun
Mr. Liu Jin
(appointed on 1 September 2021)
Mr. Yeung Yui Yuen Michael
(resigned on 1 September 2021)

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Xian Zhenyuan
Mr. Tam Tak Kei Raymond

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tam Tak Kei Raymond

HEAD OFFICE IN THE PRC

4th Floor, Tian Lun Group Building,
No.6 Huang He East Road, Zheng Dong Xin District, Zhengzhou City, Henan Province,
The PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG
KONG

Unit 3905, 39/F, The Center
99 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Windward 3, Regatta Office Park
PO Box 1350

Grand Cayman

KY1-1108

Cayman Islands
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CAYMAN ISLANDS SHARE TRANSFER OFFICE

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Ltd
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park
PO Box 1350

Grand Cayman

KY1-1108

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor,

Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen’s Road East,

Wanchai, Hong Kong

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
22nd Floor, Prince’s Building,

Central, Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISER

Loong & Yeung

Room 1603, 16/F, China Building
29 Queen’s Road Central,

Central, Hong Kong
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PRINCIPAL BANKERS

China Construction Bank Corporation
Bank of China Limited
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

[ arigae:d STOCK CODE

01600 01600

REEBRBSE INVESTOR RELATIONS

FEh 86371 63707151 Telephone : 86 371 6370 7151

{5 : 86 371 6397 9930 Fax : 863716397 9930

B : hk@tianlungas.com E-mail hk@tianlungas.com

#84F : www.tianlungas.com Website : www.tianlungas.com

ok - B/ Address Hong Kong:
BEFRIR Unit 3905, 39/F, The Center
ERFKER 99 Queen’s Road Central
BRFIREFKEF Central, Hong Kong
99 §RAIRA (23913905 F Mainland:
A Department of Investor Relations,
FR DR Fg & BN T 4th Floor, Tian Lun Group Building,
gzt No.6 Huang He East Road,
MR N Zheng Dong Xin District,
KimEEmE Zhengzhou City, Henan Province, the PRC
B EBEFRER Zip Code : 450003

#4s : 450003
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HHRRIEE
Urban Gas Project
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Hebi City, Shilin Industrial Assemble Zone, Heqi Industrial
Assemble Zone, Xuchang City, Xuchange New Area, Shangjie
District in Zhengzhou City, High-tech District in Puyang
City, Minquan County, Song County, Xinye County, Weishi
County, Xinwei Industrial Park, Gangwei New District,
Weibei Technology and Food Industrial Park, Lankao County,
Xichuan County, Baofeng County, Ye County, Wugang City,
Xiping County, Shengiu County, township in Jia County,
township in Xichuan County
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% REDEBLBERER  FRWEERS i X
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Dunhua City, Panshi City, Da'an City, Jiutai City, Tongyu
County, Zhenlai County, Nong'an County, Changchun Airport
Economic Zone, Yitong Manchu Autonomous County, Qian'an
County, Wangging County
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Huize County, Gejiu City, Guangnan County, Yanshan County,
Ludian County, Hekou County

B BER - HEmaE - KPR

Cao County, Shan County, Gaoxin District in Heze City,
Dongming County
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Luzhai County, Guanyang County
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Baiyin City, Jingyuan County, Gulang County
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Dongkou County, Fenghuang County

ARETHER
Yuhua District in Shijiazhuang
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Longhu Town in Chaozhou City, Fuyang Town in Chaozhou
City, Dongfeng Town in Chaozhou City, Chenghai District in
Shantou City, Chaoyang District in Shantou City, Lechang
City
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Qian County, Liquan County, Zizhou County, Mizhi County,
Wubu County
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Xindu District in Chengdu City,

Jintang County in Chengdu City, Mianzhu City
=B@m

Sanming City
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Datong County, Huzhu County
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Business Regions (Continued)

REMRIER
Transportation Gas Project
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Hebi City, Xuchang City, Shangjie
District in Zhengzhou City,
Minguan County, Song County,
Xinye County, Weishi County,
Lankao County, Xichuan County,
Ye County, Wugang City
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Panshi City, Da’an City, Jiutai City,

Baicheng City, Tongyu County,

Zhenlai County, Shuangyang

District in Changchun City
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Da’an City
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Baiyin City, Gulang County
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Dongkou County
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Xingtai City
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Qian County, Liquan County, Wubu

County
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Wujiang City

Felunn)
Mianzhu City
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Datong County, Huzhu County
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BENMBERE

OPERATION & FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

TOTAL GAS SALES VOLUME
(B 5K) (0000 m3)

2011 2012 2013

GAS SALES STRUCTURE

T=EAP
Residential users

RRREREGRDE 202155 EME

2014 2015 2016

o
TIrE¥RRP

Industrial and commercial users

194,238

156,640

151,461

2017 2018 2019

FAAEEHENTIEAFS  IRHERF  BAFP - #
BXRBOREDAEMAEIHEE23.1% - 52.8% ~ 4.7% K
19.4% -

During the year, the volume of gas of the Group sold
to residential users, industrial and commercial users,
transportation users, gas source trade accounted for
23.1%, 52.8%, 4.7% and 19.4% of total gas sales volume,
respectively.

® ®
¥ il e

Transportation users  Gas source trade
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Operation & Financial Highlights (Continued)

ZHERRAFE 4,938,642
AGGREGATE CONNECTIONS USERS

() (users) 4,204,256

3,247,483
2,354,203
1,636,226
1,334,299
1,022,122
794,217
329,916 . I

2011 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

HRWMALRE
STRUCTURE OF REVENUE FROM GAS SALES

20.1% - AREBEREEAS  THEMS XBEF M

18.0% BEBOBERADBUEMIEEIA 19.8% ~ 53.6% * 6.5%
5 20.1% °

6.5% During the year, the revenue from gas sales of the Group

6.0% to residential users, industrial and commercial users,

transportation users, gas source trade accounted for 19.8%,
53.6%, 6.5% and 20.1% of total revenue from gas sales,
respectively.

T=EAP TIrE¥RP ZBAP LR
Residential users  Industrial and commercial users  Transportation users  Gas source trade
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Operation & Financial Highlights (Continued)

A 7,650,345
REVENUE
ARHEF T RMB’000
6,548,618
6,439,777

5,113,254

3,109,014

2,693,094
2,251,970

1,343,936

911,939
716,362
450,931

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

4 B R 8
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
AR¥F T RMB’000 1,063,673

1,028,114

813,465

600,360

429,157

317,982 334,409
250,939

186,288
149,223
90,353

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

RRREREGRDE 202155 EME
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Operation & Financial Highlights (Continued)

MERE
Financial Highlights
2020 2021
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBT T AR%T
WA & Fi Revenue and profit
de A Revenue 6,439,777 7,650,345
. b PT1SF BT A E Profit before income tax 1,418,375 1,362,804
FriSti & A Income tax expense 354,702 334,690
FEFH Profit for the year 1,063,673 1,028,114
EERAE Assets and liabilities
EMBNEE Non-current assets 8,555,621 9,889,619
g mENEE Current assets 4,362,517 5,215,217
: ERBaE Non-current liabilities 3,381,401 5,021,003
: R E Current liabilities 4,556,450 4,555,459
WENIRESEEY Cash and cash equivalents 1,640,081 1,014,978
= Equity
. A% AR Share capital 8,466 8,466
B3 Share premium 817,455 528,133
BRENARARIFTEE 2 ELR Equity attributable to owners of the Company 4,699,201 5,218,179
: eI MRS Non-controlling interests 281,086 310,195
s Total equity 4,980,287 5,528,374
FRRUE - EARERWE Earnings per share — basic earnings per share 1.04 1.00
(AR®IT) (RMB)
: BBER
:  Financial Indicators
: 2020 2021
: RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBT T ARET
ESpA Gross profit margin 27.7% 23.3%
: SRR Net profit margin 16.5% 13.4%
: TE & Current ratio 95.7% 114.5%
BEBEEX Assets gearing ratio 61.4% 63.4%
BAREFRER O Return on capital® 20.3% 18.5%
: w ORI FERBRAARIEEZ W Core profit/average equity attributable to owners of the Company
s
. LI&A'%:E*% o HREWA Sale of gas 528053 626092;
TH K . o . o
REVENUE STRUCTURE TRRRHE Revenue from engineering 39.6% 29.0%
434‘3’ R ARF&UL A construction services
Hith Others 2.4% 4.1%

29.0%

39.6% E - REEOMERERSEEY  TRTELREEHME T LB AL

WAL E D B A%166.9%  29.0% f 4.1% °

During the year, the revenue from transportation and sales of gas business,
engineering construction service business and other operation of the Group
accounted for approximately 66.9%, 29.0% and 4.1% of total revenue,
respectively.

Tian Lun Gas Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021 11
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2y R
Zhang Ylngcen, Chairman

ANNUAL RESULTS

In 2021, under the backdrop of the in-depth reform on the national oil and
gas system and the introduction of the “double-carbon” target, the natural
gas industry has experienced major changes in development. Expanding new
energy, researching and developing new technologies, and achieving high-
quality and integrated development of energy have become major subjects in
the energy industry. At the same time, this is also the mission of the urban
gas business to guarantee, optimize, and secure supply. In response to the
China’s policy for energy transformation and upgrading, the Group has taken
affirmative steps on the path towards sustainable development of urban gas
and emerging clean and low-carbon energy, and has been committed to the
mission of “developing clean energy and improving the living environment”.
We further expanded and innovated the low-carbon energy business while
promoting high-quality development of the natural gas business. Revenue
amounted to approximately RMB7,650 million in 2021, representing
an increase of 18.8% compared to the corresponding period in 2020.
Gross profit amounted to approximately RMB1,779 million, representing
a decrease of approximately 0.4% compared to the corresponding period
of last year. Annual core profit recorded RMB915 million, representing an
increase of approximately 2.2% compared to the corresponding period in
2020. In 2021, the Group’s gas sales volume was approximately 1,942
million m3. The total number of gas users from various categories of the
Group reached 4,938,642.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

CORPORATE MANAGEMENT

In 2021, the Group further standardized and improved the construction of
the talent system, increased investment in and training of young managerial
talents, and established a multi-channel development path for managerial
personnel. The Group also fully mobilized the enthusiasm of employees at all
levels, gave full play to their professional talents, and improved the overall
management level of the Company. The Group has successfully established
a “teach, assist and guide” mechanism for leader cadres, and completed the
internal selection of management cadres in the “Hundred Talents Program”
which focused on talent review and was supported by competitive selection,
striving to advance to a new phase on the construction of a professional
management team. Meanwhile, the Group continued to carried out the
“Outstanding Students Program” ([ KE§45TEI]) tailored for outstanding
college graduates to accelerate the development of talents, with the aim
of expediting the training of outstanding college students and establishing
talent teams of all age groups.

In terms of informatization construction, the Group has completed the
construction and promotion of the cost management system, the Behind-
the-Meter Construction Management System (X1 TI2E 12 Z#%) and the
bidding and procurement system. In recent years, the Group has established
a new generation of information platform centering on the development of
the urban gas business, which has effectively achieved the standardization
and integration of corporate management and business information. Not
only did it further integrate corporate resources, but also provided the Group

with solid data for various performance appraisals and business decisions.

Tian Lun Gas Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
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Apart from talent management and informatization construction, the
Group also attached great importance to the improvement of sustainable
development. In terms of building a safety management structure, the Group
closely adhered to the safety production policy of “ safety first, focus on
prevention, involvement of all staffs and continuous improvement”, adjusted
the safety management organizational structure, and coordinated the safety
production responsibility system for all employees, thereby improving safety
management and ensuring the direction of high-quality development of
urban gas company. In terms of identification of hidden hazards, the Group
has established a dual prevention mechanism for special rectification of
major hidden hazards and identification and handling of hidden hazards,
incorporating key issues such as major hidden hazard rectification and user
security inspection into the detailed safety assessment rules. The Group also
implemented safety management with great rewards and heavy penalties
and focused on prevention. In terms of fulfilling social responsibilities,
the Group insisted on supplying customers with safe and reliable clean
energy, and on providing friendly, professional and efficient customer
services. While striving to protect and improve the environment and make
contribution to China’s air pollution problem, the Group also fulfilled its own
social responsibilities and was committed to social welfare work, insisting
on taking practical actions to build the Group into a top-tier green and low-
carbon energy supply and service provider in the PRC.

OUTLOOK

The year of 2021 is the first year of the “14th Five-Year” Plan. It is also
a crucial year of seizing the momentum and embarking a new journey
of building a socialist modern country in an all-round way and marching
towards the second centenary goal. As the COVID-19 vaccination proceeds,
the Chinese and global economy has gradually restarted and recovered.
Although the pandemic recurred in some parts of the country from time
to time, it has not changed the stable development pattern of China’s
economy. With the annual total economic output reaching RMB114.4
trillion and the increase in GDP by 8.1% year-on-year, the China’s economic
growth rate ranks among the top of the major economies in the world. While
China’s economy has made major breakthroughs, we also fully realize that
high-quality energy development is indispensable to high-quality economic
development. Energy is the “lifeblood of industry” and the fundamental
raw material and industry for economic and social development, and the
construction of a modern energy system is a powerful measure to implement
the “14th Five-Year Plan”, and achieve carbon peak by 2030 and carbon
neutrality by 2060.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

As a public utility listed company mainly engaging in the operation of urban
pipeline gas, Tian Lun Gas will strive to contribute to the construction of
China’'s modern energy system. Given that the low-carbon and renewable
energy has become the trend for global energy structure adjustment, the
Group will closely follow the country’s direction on high-quality development,
continue to leverage its advantages in clean energy, build a solid foundation
for natural gas business, and accelerate the development of photovoltaics
and other new energies, thereby achieving great results on enterprise
efficiency, ecological and environmental benefits and social benefits.

According to the Group’s new development strategy outline (2022-2024),
the proportion of innovative business revenue will reach 10% of the overall
revenue by 2024. In order to achieve this goal, Tian Lun Gas will establish
good cooperative relations with more high-quality strategic partners in
the field of clean energy, and rely on the user resources accumulated in
townships in Henan Province to achieve complementary advantages and win-
win cooperation through the integration of innovative development strategic
ecosystems. As the largest township gas market development operator
in Henan Province, Tian Lun Gas has gasification construction projects
covering 5,000 villages and has accumulated 1.87 million rural residential
households. It has also built 6,800-kilometer of medium-pressure pipeline.
In the future, the Group will use such large-scale user base as the starting
point for the innovative business, cooperate with more high-quality business
partners to fully explore user resource values, and actively promote low-
carbon energy construction in Henan villages. By 2030, the Group will
promote township energy development model which forms gas-power
integration, maturely operate the healthy life service network, as well as
provide assistance in rural revitalization and energy modernization.

Under the guidance of the national policy and the goal of carbon peak
emissions and carbon neutrality, we will adhere to the corporate vision
of “committing ourselves to the cause of people’s livelihood and striving
to become a centennial brand”, and the mission of “developing clean
energy and improving the living environment”. While promoting high-
quality development of the natural gas business, we will further expand and
innovate the low-carbon energy business, aiming to become a top-tier green
and low-carbon energy supply and service provider in the PRC.

Tian Lun Gas Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021
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AWARDS

In January 2021, Tian Lun Gas won the “Best Infrastructure and Public
Utilities Company” award in the 5th “Golden HK Stock” Poll.

In January 2021, Henan Tian Lun Group, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tian
Lun Gas, has been awarded consecutively the Best Employer of the Year in
China in 2021.

In May 2021, Mr. Zhang Yingcen, the Chairman of the Board of Tian Lun
Gas, won the “2020 Henan Social Responsibility Private Enterprise Annual
Leader Award” ([ 2020/ FH @ ETREDLEFEREAME]).

In June 2021, Tian Lun Gas was ranked as the overall third place in “Asian
Utilities Enterprises”, and the second place in “Best Investor Relations
Team in Utilities in Asia”, “Best Investor Team in Utilities in Asia”, “Best
Investor Relations System in Utilities in Asia”, and “Best ESG Performance
in Utilities in Asia” by the international authoritative financial magazine
“Institutional Investor”.

In October 2021, Mr. Zhang Yingcen, the Chairman of the Board of Tian
Lun Gas, was awarded the title of the “Donation Star and Most Caring
Individual” ([ &=EE L IBEMEA Z £ 1) by the Henan Charity Federation.

In January 2022, Tian Lun Gas won the “Best Energy and Resources
Company” award and “Best ESG Award” at the “2022 Global Investment
Trends Forum and the 6th Golden Hong Kong Stocks Awards Ceremony”.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the Board of the Company, | owe a debt of gratitude to our staff
members for their indispensable contributions in 2021, to all customers,
shareholders of the Company and all sectors of society for their continued
support to the Company.

Zhang Yingcen
Chairman

31 March 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INDUSTRY REVIEW

As a vital material basis for the national economy, energy ensures the normal
operations of economic production and life of residents. At the current
stage, global energy consumption is accelerating its transition towards the
direction of clean, diversified and low-carbon energy, and the percentage
of natural gas and renewable energy in energy consumption will continue
to increase. It is expected that, by 2040, the world will form a diversified
energy supply structure which consists of petroleum, natural gas, coal and
non-fossil energy, while renewable energy and natural gas will gradually
replace coal and petroleum to become the main source for over 40% of
energy increment.

According to China’s energy development strategies, natural gas is an
indispensable sector under the strong promotion of low-carbon economy and
green development by the government. In 2021, the supply and demand
of natural gas market was at a tight balance, the apparent consumption
nationwide was 372.6 billion m3, representing a year-on-year growth of
12.7%; the production was 207.58 billion m3, representing a year-on-
year growth of 7.8%; and the annual total import volume was 1,213.6
billion tons, representing a year-on-year increase of 19.9%. While starting
a new phase of developing an ecological civilization in China, the Central
Committee of the Communist Party of China and the State Council issued
the “Working Guidance for Carbon Dioxide Peaking and Carbon Neutrality in
Full and Faithful Implementation of the New Development Philosophy ([
RETBERZEMEFNERESMOHZEERPMITENER))” and the
“Action Plan for Carbon Dioxide Peaking Before 2030 ({2030 F pilfjxiE I&1T
&)5%)) 7, which plans and arranges top-level design and action roadmap
for achieving carbon peak emissions and carbon neutrality. The National
Energy Administration issued the “Key Points on Energy Regulation Work for
2021 (2021 FHeREEE TIEZ L))", which fully implements the energy
system reform, steadily promotes the construction of oil and gas market, and
further emphasizes the bridging and supportive role of low-carbon energy
natural gas in the energy transition phase.
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In addition to top-level policy design, the government enhances its
management of safety and hidden dangers in the natural gas industry as
well as imposes higher safety management requirements on gas enterprises.
In terms of laws, the newly amended “Production Safety Law of the People’s
Republic of China” has expressly enacted laws on gas safety management
measures, requiring the implementation of normalized safety measures such
as gas alarms, home safety inspections and safety trainings for frontline
staff. In terms of execution, the Work Safety Committee of the State Council
issued the “Work Plan for Special Rectification of Urban Gas Safety in
China ((ZBIBEM R L2 EIBEATETZ))” which plans to strengthen
the urban gas safety work, as well as urges local governments to actively
organize the gas safety inspection and rectification work, fully inspects the
safety risks throughout the whole chain and process of the gas industry, and
strives to prevent and curb major gas accidents and accidents with serious
consequences. The enhancement and implementation of safety production
and management will effectively promote high-quality development of gas
industry, thus achieve “survival of the fittest” principle in the industry
development.

While expanding the natural gas market and ensuring the stability of gas
industry in general, urban gas enterprises have successively prepared
themselves to step into the new energy “racetrack”. Being a cleaner
traditional energy, natural gas has entered a period of rapid growth in
recent years. However, under the goals of carbon peak emissions and
carbon neutrality, actively seeking to transit to new energy sectors such
as photovoltaics, wind power and energy storage has become a major
industry trend. The Premier of the State Council Li Kegiang pointed out at a
conference on energy conservation, emission reduction and tackling climate
change that, in order to promote the implementation of “Report on the Work
of the Government ({ B /¥ T E#R & ))” and push ahead the development
of energy conservation, emission reduction and low-carbon, China needs
to actively develop clean energy (such as wind power, nuclear power,
hydropower, photovoltaics) and energy-saving and environmental protection
industries, vigorously promote distributed energy, as well as develop smart
power grids. Various national ministries and commissions, such as the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology, the National Development
and Reform Commission, the Ministry of Finance and the National
Administration for Rural Revitalization, have also made deployment for
the development plan of new energy industry, as well as improved the new
energy mechanisms and policy measures at both supply side and consumer
side, so as to adapt to the needs for promoting green and low-carbon energy
transition under the new trend.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

2021 was the beginning of China’s “14th Five-Year Plan”, and with
President Xi Jinping's speech at the 75th session of the General Assembly
of the United Nations, solemnly announced to the world for the first time
regarding the development goal of “China’s carbon peak emissions by 2030;
and carbon neutrality by 2060”, transformation to safe and clean energy
will be the key energy strategy in China’s “14th Five-Year Plan”, and clean
energy and renewable energy will also undergo greater development during
the “14th Five-Year Plan” period.

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has practiced its
operational philosophy of “implementing diverse measures, sticking to
development philosophy, and innovating development models”. While
exploring deep the gas industry, it has expanded its business scale
through selective mergers and acquisitions strategies to realize corporate
transformation and energy level enhancement with innovative thinking. As a
result, the Group maintained the steady growth of its overall performance.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BE+-HA=1t—-HLEE

For the year ended 31 December

—EB--F —BCEF 25
2021 2020 Change by
WA (NRETFT) Revenue (RMB’000) 7,650,345 6,439,777 18.8%
EMARETFT) Gross profit (RMB’000) 1,779,119 1,786,125 (0.4%)
FEZLFE *(AREFT) Core profit for the year* (RMB’000) 915,343 895,213 2.2%
BENAARAERE Profit attributable to owners
(ARETIT) of the Company (RMB’000) 1,000,672 1,043,512 (4.1%)
MRS (B - F) Weighted average shares (Unit: '000) 999,645 1,001,292 (0.2%)
FRUES ** — EAR(ARBIT)  Earnings per share** — basic (RMB) 1.00 1.04 (3.8%)
BRETEMRRAR Total pipeline gas users: 4,938,642 4,204,256 17.5%
—F=ERAF(FE) — Residential users (households) 4,901,266 4,175,949 17.4%
— ITRA%RF(FH) — Industrial and commercial users (users) 37,376 28,307 32.0%
AARHEEE (BUAK) Natural gas sales volume
(in ten thousand m3): 194,238 151,461 28.2%
— RARTEXLHERE — Sales volume of retail business of
(B AX) natural gas (in ten thousand m3) 156,613 121,774 28.6%
— FERAFPRARHES — Natural gas sales volume
(B Fk) to residential users
(in ten thousand md) 44,776 37,524 19.3%
— IHERPRARHEES — Natural gas sales volume to
(B Fk) industrial and commercial users
(in ten thousand m?3) 102,678 76,429 34.3%
— RBAPRARHEE — Natural gas sales volume
(B Fk) to transportation users
(in ten thousand m?3) 9,159 7,820 17.1%
—RARHBEKIERE — Sales volume of wholesale business of
(B AX) natural gas (in ten thousand m3) 37,624 29,686 26.7%
REEBMREAREE (B AX)  Long-haul pipeline gas transmission
volume (in ten thousand m?) 81,287 76,563 6.2%
ZHAPEBEERE(AR) Total length of medium and
high-pressure pipelines (kilometre) 8,606 7,063 21.8%

* R EMFIG — F5 -

> REBEBAESHERRE - SEESRKER

EEBBIEFOBTE -

* Excluding other gains — net.
In accordance with the requirements of the relevant accounting standards,

earning per share of the Group will be subject to the weighted average number

of ordinary shares.

RAERRIERER AR 2021 FFEHRE
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Engineering Construction Service

The Group actively developed urban gas residential users and rural
gasification business in Henan's operating areas. For the year ended 31
December 2021, the Group connected a total of 638,713 new residential
users to gas pipelines, and the total number of residential users to gas
pipelines increased to 4,901,266, representing an increase of 17.4% as
compared with the corresponding period of last year.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group provided engineering
construction service for a total of 4,646 industrial and commercial users to
gas pipelines, and the total number of its industrial and commercial users
under the projects operated by the Group increased to 37,376, representing
an increase of 32.0% as compared with the corresponding period of last
year.

Gas Sales Volume

For the year ended 31 December 2021, natural gas sales volume of the
Group amounted to 1,942 million m3, representing an increase of 28.2%,
as compared with the corresponding period of last year. Among which, gas
sales volume in retail business amounted to 1,566 million m3, representing
an increase of 28.6% as compared with corresponding period of last year.
Gas volume sold to residential users, industrial and commercial users,
transportation gas users and wholesale business accounted for 23.1%,
52.8%, 4.7% and 19.4% of total gas sales volume, respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, pipeline gas transmission volume of
the Group was 813 million m3.

Development of New Projects

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group took up the operation
and management of four urban gas projects in Jingyuan County, Baiyin
City in Gansu Province, Datong County, Xining City and Huzhu County,
Haidong City in Qinghai Province, and Mianzhu City in Sichuan Province,
with relevant financial consolidation completed. Through mergers and
acquisitions and tender, the Group has newly acquired two urban gas
projects in Mianzhu City in Sichuan Province and Wangging County, Yanbian
Korean Autonomous Prefecture in Jilin Province, respectively. During the
Reporting Period, the Group had a total of 69 urban gas projects in 16
provinces across the country.
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Acquisition of urban gas project in Mianzhu City in Sichuan
Province

Mianzhu City, Sichuan Province is located in the Chengdu-Chongging urban
agglomeration and the core area of the Chengdu-Deyang-Mianyang city
cluster, and is expected to become a major transportation hub between
Chengdu and Tibet. The project has a stable gas supply, and the building
of 80.6 kilometers of high-pressure and secondary high-pressure pipelines
within the main pipeline network and 262.3 kilometers of township
medium-pressure gas pipelines was completed. At the same time, the
region, where locates De'a Industrial Park, Jiangsu Industrial Park and
Equipment Manufacturing Industrial Park, has a good industrial foundation.
De’a Industrial Park is the only provincial-level development zone in Sichuan
Province that is dominated by the lithium battery industry for new materials
and new energy industries. Jiangsu Industrial Park focuses on industries
such as food processing, machinery manufacturing and photovoltaic energy,
and Equipment Manufacturing Industrial Park focuses on ferrous metal
smelting, equipment manufacturing and warehousing logistics. Therefore,
the future industrial gas consumption in this area will be large with good
development potential. In addition, the project has the only LNG filling
station from Mianzhu to Deyang City, which is a significant geographical
advantage. In the future, this project can form a synergistic development
advantage with the projects operated by the Group in Xindu District and
Jintang County in Chengdu.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Obtain urban gas project in Wangging County, Yanbian Korean
Autonomous Prefecture in Jilin Province

Wangging County is located in the northern part of Yanbian Korean
Autonomous Prefecture. It is an important link among the Changjitu
Development and Opening Pilot Zone, the eastern Jilin Province and
Heilongjiang Province, with convenient transportation and significant
geographical advantages. The project is a natural gas market to be
developed, with broad prospects for future market development. Wanggqing
County is rich in local forestry resources and under-forest resources. The
Wangging Industrial Concentration Zone located in the business area has
formed a certain scale of industrial projects of forestry processing industry,
food processing industry and other industries. According to Jilin Province’
plans for the Changjitu Development and Opening Pilot Zone and Wangging
County, the area is leveraging its forest resources to form an industrial chain
for food processing and export, and there is a good development potential
for the gas sales volume to the industrial customers. The acquisition of
this project enables the Group to expand its business to Yanbian Korean
Autonomous Prefecture and further enhance its business volume and
influence in Jilin Province. At the same time, the project is adjacent to
Dunhua City where the Group has operation, which can form regional
synergy that is conducive to improving management efficiency and reducing
operating costs.

Gas Source Optimization

In 2021, the trend of energy price was complex and fluctuating. Therefore,
the Group further adjusted the procurement strategy, optimized the gas
source structure and enhanced its ability to secure supply based on the
supply and demand as well as market conditions. The Group endeavored
to promote the coordination and cooperation of gas sources by striving
for new open gas source in the primary pipe network, maintaining good
cooperation with upstream suppliers, increasing the contract increment of
existing projects, establishing and completing the external coordination and
cooperation resource system of gas sources to realize the docking in various
regions as required. Through the development of centralized procurement for
LNG trade, a large-amount prepayment model for LNG trade was adopted for
trial run so as to lock the volume, price and profit in advance. Meanwhile,
it strived to explore and introduce various gas sources as well as expand to
unconventional gas sources to enhance its ability to control resources.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group has a total of six long-haul
pipelines, five of which have been put into operation with one in Da’an City,
Jilin Province, one in Wujiang City, Jiangsu Province, two in Pingdingshan
City, Henan Province and one in Xuchang City, Henan Province, which
play an important role in securing the Group’s gas source supply. Among
which, Yuzhou-Changge project has commenced operation of gas supply by
supplying gas to Xuchang Company (§F&°2®]), a member of the Group, so
as to further reduce the cost of gas supply for the company while Puyang-
Hebei pipeline has commenced preliminary preparation. As of 31 December
2021, the total length of medium and high-pressure pipelines of the Group
reached 8,606 kilometers.

Value-added Services

The continuous expansion of the Group’s urban gas users has provided
abundant customer resources and broad development space for developing
value-added business. The Company has continued to carry out customer-
oriented value-added services, providing users with a variety of products
and services, so as to meet multi-layered needs of customers, to tap
potential value, to attract consumption from users, to improve ongoing
user satisfaction, and to increase corporate profitability. In addition to
traditional value-added businesses such as conversion business, sales of gas
appliance and insurance business, the Company is committed to building
its own brand and expanding its business scale in multiple dimensions. The
management efficiency of value-added services has been improved in terms
of measurement, security, system interaction and loT perception etc. with
the “Internet + IoT” technology while comprehensive service capabilities
have been enhanced to empower value-added services.

As at 31 December 2021, revenue from value-added business achieved
RMB268 million, representing a substantial increase of 94.6% as compared
with RMB138 million for the corresponding period of last year; gross profit
reached RMB139 million, representing a substantial increase of 56.0% as
compared with RMB89 million for the corresponding period of last year.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s revenue amounted
to RMB7,650 million, representing an increase of RMB1,211 million or
18.8% as compared with the corresponding period of last year. Among
which, revenue from engineering construction services amounted to
RMB2,222 million which represented a decrease of 12.9% as compared
with the corresponding period of last year; revenue from gas retail business
amounted to RMB4,090 million which represented an increase of 33.6%
as compared with the corresponding period of last year; revenue from gas
wholesale business amounted to RMB1,027 million which represented
an increase of 52.4% as compared with the corresponding period of last
year. The Group’s revenue was primarily derived from sales of natural gas in
cylinders and in bulk business, engineering construction service business,
accounting for 53.5%, 13.4% and 29.0% (the corresponding period of last
year: 47.5%, 10.5% and 39.6%), respectively, of the total revenue for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

Revenue from engineering construction services

For the year ended 31 December 2021, revenue generated from engineering
construction services amounted to RMB2,222 million, representing a
year-on-year decrease of 12.9% as compared with RMB2,550 million for
the corresponding period of last year. In term of engineering construction
services proceeds, for the year ended 31 December 2021, cash proceeds
from engineering construction services amounted to RMB1,426 million.

Revenue from Gas Retail Business

For the year ended 31 December 2021, revenue from gas retail business
of the Group amounted to RMB4,090 million, representing a year-on
year increase of 33.6% as compared with RMB3,061 million for the
corresponding period of last year.

Revenue from Gas Wholesale Business

For the year ended 31 December 2021, revenue from gas wholesale
business of the Group amounted to RMB1,027 million, representing a
year-on-year increase of 52.4% as compared with RMB674 million for the
corresponding period of last year.
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Revenue from Other Businesses

Most of the revenue from other businesses comes from value-added services.
During the Reporting Period, the Group has explored deep into the needs
of users, strived to enrich product content and enhanced comprehensive
service capabilities, bringing in revenue from other business of RMB312
million, representing a substantial increase of 100.7% as compared with
RMB155 million for the corresponding period of last year.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group realized gross profit of
RMB1,779 million, representing a decrease of RMB7.01 million or 0.4%
from the corresponding period of last year. Overall gross profit margin of
the Group was 23.3%, representing a decrease of 4.4 percentage points as
compared with the corresponding period of last year.

Other gains — Net

For the year ended 31 December 2021, other gains — net of the Group
amounted to RMB99 million, representing a decrease of RMB61 million as
compared with the corresponding period of last year.

Finance Expenses — Net

For the year ended 31 December 2021, finance expenses — net of the
Group amounted to RMB228 million, representing a decrease of RMB11
million as compared with the corresponding period of last year.

Net Profit and Core Profit

For the year ended 31 December 2021, net profit of the Group amounted
to RMB1,028 million, representing a decrease of RMB36 million or 3.3%
as compared with the corresponding period of last year. For the year ended
31 December 2021, core profit of the Group amounted to RMB915 million,
representing an increase of 2.2% as compared with RMB895 million for the
corresponding period of last year.

Net Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2021, net profit attributable to owners of
the Company was RMB1,001 million, representing a decrease of RMB43
million or 4.1% as compared with the corresponding period of last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

FINANCIAL POSITION

The Group has been adopting prudent policies in respect of financial
resources management, including maintaining an appropriate level of cash
and cash equivalents as well as sufficient credit limits, in order to cope
with the needs of daily operation and business development and control the
borrowing at a healthy level.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group incurred capital
expenditure of RMB1,341 million, of which RMB918 million was used in
project acquisitions and RMB423 million in continuously improving urban
gas business. The above capital expenditure was financed by the Group’s
operating cash flows and bank borrowings.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group held cash and cash equivalents of
RMB1,015 million in total, of which 97.1% was denominated in RMB, 1.6%
was denominated in HK dollars and 1.3% was denominated in US dollars,
safeguarding the needs of project expansion and acquisition of businesses
of the Group.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s total borrowings were RMB6,306
million (among which loans denominated in RMB were RMB3,477 million,
loans denominated in US dollars were RMB2,036 million and loans
denominated in HK dollars were RMB793 million). Among those borrowings,
67.4% of which were classified as non-current liabilities, and 32.6% of
which were classified as current liabilities. As at 31 December 2021, the
gearing ratio, calculated based on the percentage of total liabilities over
total assets, was 63.4%.
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T mit

FINANCE COST AND EXCHANGE RISK
MANAGEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s finance cost was
RMB243 million, representing a decrease of 6.9% as compared with the
corresponding period of last year.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s overseas borrowings
denominated in foreign currencies accounted for 44.9% of its total
borrowings. The Group will continue to closely monitor the changes in
exchange rates and strive to lower its finance costs through diversified
arrangements, and will adopt necessary measures to lower its exchange risk
as and when necessary.

Information Management

Based on the strategic goals of development, the Group has continued to
innovate and refine information management, thereby reducing corporate
costs and risks in an effective manner while improving corporate decision-
making and core competitiveness.

During the year, for the rural gasification projects, the Group promoted
the cost management system and the Behind-the-Meter Construction
Management System (31& TI2E IR ZE%T). Among which, digital settlement
was adopted for the cost management system to realize cost management
analysis of the construction project from the project stage of bidding
to the completion of settlement during the whole process, providing
reference analysis for the Group in making business decisions. It also can
be linked with the smart storage system to realize the functions such as
the verification of materials, project estimate, project budget and project
settlement. The Behind-the-Meter Construction Management System can
achieve the one-stop service, i.e. dispatching and making appointment for
construction; timely acceptance and convenient behind-the-meter charges,
for single household, whole village and whole township via login into the
PC terminal or APP, which further improves the service quality of the
Group’s rural gasification projects. In addition, upon the acceptance of the
construction, it can directly remit the received materials, practical materials
and the materials that should be returned by the construction unit. It can
also be integrated with the existing financial NC system after completing the
verification of materials, so as to carry forward the construction in a rapid
way.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

In addition, the Group has built a bidding and procurement system to jointly
realize online management and effective support for various procurement
models such as open bidding, invitational bidding, quotation, competitive
bargaining and single source, and achieve the full management of bidding
project establishment, tender issuance, bidding, bid evaluation, winning
the bid, as well as the release of information on bidding and procurement
and the self-service function of suppliers. The Group has also built a
video conferencing system and continued to optimize the network so as to
fulfil the needs of full coverage of “headquarters-management company-
subsidiary” for remote conference scenarios, further reducing the financial
and time costs incurred in cross-regional conferences.

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

ESG Management

In order to better integrate ESG into corporate governance as well as
promote the strategic transformation organized and implemented as
planned by the Company, it has further established the overall ESG
strategic framework and goals subject to the needs of future development
strategies. In 2021, the Company established an improvement plan with a
complete framework, clear hierarchy, clear rights and responsibilities and
efficient operation for ESG governance structure, implementing a three-level
structure, namely “governance level, management level and execution level”
to proceed ESG management at each level. The establishment of an ESG
organizational and management system under the charge of the Board as
well as an ESG working group to deeply practice the philosophy and goals of
sustainable development, and promote the integration of ESG into corporate
culture, functional departments and daily operation and management
process. In addition, the sustainable development report is used to disclose
the sustainable development process of the Company to stakeholders from
multiple channels and perspectives, so as to improve the transparency of
the Company’s operation.
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Environmental Responsibility

2021 marks the beginning of the “14th Five-Year Plan” and the
implementation of “dual carbon goals”. Natural gas will continue to play its
role as a bridge in the transformation from fossil energy to new energy. Tian
Lun Gas, in the process of nearly 20-year development, has accumulated
rich experience in city gas project operation. Since 2018, it has cooperated
with Henan Yuzi on the promotion of “rural gasification” in Henan’s
engineering construction to revitalize rural areas with green development,
while exploring deep the needs of industrial and commercial users to
provide ongoing clean and efficient smart energy solutions for industrial
and commercial users. In 2021, the Company’s operation and transmission
business distributed a total of 2,755 million m3 of natural gas, equivalent
to the replacement of approximately 4.59 million tons of standard coal
consumed.

Social Responsibility

Currently, the COVID-19 pandemic is still raging around the world with
unceasing local infections and outbreaks in China. Faced with severe
prevention and control of the pandemic, the Group has implemented a
strict prevention mechanism for the pandemic in its operating halls, actively
guided users to conduct business online, and visited communities or villages
to conduct gas business based on users’ needs, so as to ensure normal gas
consumption by residents. While taking actions to get self-protection from
the pandemic, door-to-door security checks will be arranged at any time
subject to the actual situation of industrial and commercial users, and
safety checks will also be conducted on station equipment, gas pipelines,
pressure vessels, gas facilities, etc., to eliminate potential safety hazards as
well as ensure safe and stable gas supply during the pandemic period.

In July 2021, Henan Province suffered from a natural disaster, extreme
heavy rainfall, which adversely affected many areas. At the critical moment
of flood control and rescue, all members of the Group in Henan province
acted in a swift manner by launching the emergency rescue plan for flood
control and gas, and rushing to rescue while securing supply as quick as
possible. Being brave in response to dangers such as urban waterlogging,
traffic paralysis and house damage, the rescue team was dispatched to
investigate the dangers, rescue and repair with more than 460 batches of
rescue missions and more than 190 emergency repairs on critical dangers,
to ensure the safety of users and secure gas supply. While rushing to rescue
and securing supply, the Group strived to raise funds and donate supplies
with a total funding of RMB8 million to assist in flood control and disaster
relief.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

In the same month, Tian Lun Gas received its first loan granted by Asian
Development Bank of USD50 million (or equivalent amount in RMB),
which will be used to supplement its working capital. During the pandemic
in 2020, Tian Lun Gas has strictly implemented the government’s
prevention and control policies for the pandemic, bravely assumed social
responsibilities, and guaranteed the sustainable and stable gas supply to
residential users. Vulnerable groups including single mothers, the elderly,
children left unattended are also of our concern. Such grant of loan is
highly recognized by ADB for Tian Lun Gas’s corporate mission and social
responsibility.

Safety Production

Guaranteeing safety production and occupational health is an important
goal for sustainable development of enterprises. In 2021, the Company
continued to maintain a record of safety incidents with zero accidents
and zero incidents of occupational disease. As a responsible public utility
enterprise, Tian Lun Gas has integrated safety management into its daily
work, as well as continued to improve gas safety operations in five aspects:
protection of organization and employees, safe operation of equipment,
optimization of production environment, enhancement of management
means, strengthening of safety publicity. The Company established a sound
and pragmatic safety management system, specified the major safety
responsibilities of safety committees, function centres and business units
at all levels, implemented a safety production responsibility system for
all employees, built a positive and normalized safety management model,
and constantly promoted the construction of a safe information platform
which made safety management work more scientific and efficient. Safety
management put emphasis on preventive measures, thus internally, the
Group organized safety trainings for all employees on a random schedule
and established a safety training mechanism; and externally, the Group
publicized knowledge on gas safety and increased residents’ awareness on
safe use of gas, thereby ensuring an all-rounded safety protection in place.
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Quality Services

The Group has always adhered to the concept of “Being customer-centric
and service-oriented”, and it enhanced customer satisfaction to continuously
enhance brand influences through the provision of high-quality customer
services. In order to better realize comprehensive service value and better
serve its customers, the Company has established a brand-new customer
service system and after-sale service platform and used information
technology means on system integration, so as to achieve information
sharing and complete the sales system upgrade. The Group deeply explored
customer demands, collected user files, conducted big data analysis to
form user profiles and constantly track user demands, and kept improving
and upgrading its service system based on customer expectations. Also, the
Group built service stations for resident users in townships as well as set up
station points in villages and towns for convenient payment methods such
as recharge devices, so as to continuously improve user experiences and
service efficiency.

Talent Development

Tian Lun Gas has adhered to the “people-oriented” management philosophy,
respected and protected the lawful rights of all employees, as well as
established reasonable talent development channels and remuneration and
welfare system, so as to enable joint creation and sharing among employees
and the company. Through talent review of the “Hundred Talents Program”
for operations and management cadres, the Group selected talents with high
potentials, actively trained graduate reserve cadres, and explored talents
who matched with its corporate values from internal and external channels,
with an aim to constantly inject vitality into corporate development. The
Group also built a “teach, assist and guide” mechanism for leader cadres
and provided employees with more opportunities for growth so as to
empower the team. In August 2021, the Company launched the share award
scheme to motivate and attract professional talents as well as to improve
team cohesion and enthusiasm, so as to further optimize and improve the
incentive system.
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New Business Development

In order to adapt to the trend of green sustainable development, and
seize the opportunities arising from energy reform, the Company, while
implementing high-quality development for its existing gas business,
strategically planned it layout in the new energy market. In July 2021,
the Group successfully introduced Zhuhai Port, a company with a state-
owned background, as a strategic investor (holding 11.96% shares and
becoming the second largest shareholder of the company), thus both
parties could together explore the construction of a new energy service
system which combined both new energy technology, such as wind
power and photovoltaics, and traditional gas services. Subsequently, the
Group has successively entered into strategic cooperation agreements
with three powerful energy enterprises, namely SPIC Henan, CECEP and
POWERCHINA, and all these parties, together with the Group, could
form complementary advantages of new energy technology and customer
and market resources in business development in areas such as rooftop
photovoltaics, clean energy heating services in urban and residential
communities, and conversion of gas filling stations.

In addition, in February 2022, the Group issued an additional 50,000,000
shares at the price of HK$8.40 per share, thereby raised a net start-up
capital of HK$414 million for effective development of new businesses.
The Group intended to use the relevant net proceeds from the above matter
as follows: (i) approximately HK$289.8 million or 70% will be used for
development of rooftop photovoltaics projects for rural residential users and
commercial/industrial users; (ii) approximately HK$82.8 million or 20%
will be used for the development of clean energy heating services; and (iii)
approximately HK$41.4 million or 10% will be used for working capital and
general corporate purposes.

In November 2021, in the Three-Year Strategy Plans (2022-2024)
published by the Group, it was proposed that revenue from innovative
business will account for 10% of the overall revenue by 2024, which further
specified the development goal of new energy business. In the future, the
Group will further expand the strategic cooperation ecosystem by actively
exploring the application scenarios such as photovoltaics, energy storage,
biomass gas and hydrogen with deployment of its respective advantages in
the market, technology and customer resources so as to expand and promote
synergy between gas and electricity as well as the intelligent and integrated
energy business which is multi-energy complementary, striving to become
the first-class green low carbon energy supplier and service provider in
China.
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Township Energy Development Plan

The Group formulated a detailed township energy development plan.
Through the three phases: development phase for user resource, discovery
phase for resource value and enhancement phase for resource value, the
plan will bring new profit growth to the Group’s township energy business
and further enhance the sustainable development of the business.

First phase: Development phase for user resource (July 2018 to
December 2021)

Since 2018, the Group has cooperated with Henan Yuzi to implement “rural
gasification” construction in townships in Henan Province. After three and
a half years of development, the Group has become the largest township
gas market development operator in Henan Province, with its gasification
construction projects covering 5,000 villages and providing engineering
construction services to 1.87 million rural residential households. It has also
built 6,800-kilometer of medium-pressure pipeline. At present, the Group
has completed in stages the development and accumulation of township
customers.

Second phase: Discovery phase for resource value (2022 to 2025)

2022 is the first year of the second phase for the Group’s township energy
planning. The Group will use such large-scale user base as a starting point
for its township energy business. By 2025, the Group will cooperate with
more high-quality business partners to fully explore user resource values,
actively promote low-carbon energy construction in Henan villages, develop
residential rooftop distributed photovoltaics project, and initially establish
rural healthy life service network, in a bid to realize the country’s rural
revitalization goal under the 14th Five-Year Plan.

Third phase: Enhancement phase for resource value (2026 to 2030)

The Group will fully promote township energy development model which
forms gas-power integration, actively facilitate the low-carbon energy
construction in rural Henan, maturely operate the healthy life service
network, as well as provide long-term assistance in rural revitalization and
energy modernization.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

OUTLOOK

In 2021, oil and gas industry had steady progress, with outstanding results
in the increase of reserves and production. Driven by policies such as
“carbon peak emissions” and “carbon neutrality” and “prevention and
control on air pollution”, China’s natural gas exploration and development
achieved great progress, production growth reached a new level, natural gas
import volume showed rapid growth trend, and natural gas consumption
also attained further growth. According to the “China Energy and Chemical
Industry Development Report 2021 ({2021 B 8¢ JR 1t L B ¥ % E
£EM)”, during the “14th Five-Year Plan” period, natural gas, as a low-carbon
energy, still maintained an annual average consumption growth of over 7%,
and the growth rate of domestic natural gas was ensured at approximately
5%. Despite substantial changes in the geopolitical environment resulting
from China’s goals of energy transition, carbon neutrality and carbon peak
emissions, global COVID-19 pandemic as well as regional conflicts in certain
parts of the world, which will profoundly affect the natural gas development
prospects in China, however, during the “14th Five-Year Plan” and in the
long term, the overall trend of positive progress in the construction of a
system of “production, supply, storage and marketing” of natural gas in
China will remain unchanged, and the promotion of quality development of
natural gas industry will still be the major direction and important driver of
energy transition in China.

At the present stage, China’s energy structure is undergoing change and
moving towards diversification, the momentum of energy development is
transforming from traditional energy growth to new energy growth. Besides
natural gas — the only low-carbon energy among fossil energies, new
energy such as photovoltaics, wind power and hydrogen energy develop in
a scientific and orderly manner, thereby accelerates the construction of a
clean, low-carbon, safe and efficient energy mechanism. Under the macro-
background of the deepening of such energy structural reform, the operating
concepts of urban gas enterprises keep pace with the times, and gradually
develop towards the industrial chain integration, value chain diversification
and ecological chain low carbonization in the gas industry. During the
transformation and development of urban gas enterprises, the cooperation
between natural gas and renewable energy can become perfect complement
to each other. Natural gas not only offsets the restrictive factors, such as
lack of flexibility and low energy density, of renewable energy, but also is
able to obtain “double guarantee” on economy and safety, thereby facilitates
urban gas enterprises to accelerate their transformation to integrated energy
service provider.
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As a public utility listed enterprise which mainly engages in urban pipeline
gas operations, Tian Lun Gas will continue to give full play to its advantages
in clean energy field, actively coordinate with China’s goals on carbon
peak emissions and carbon neutrality, as well as strive to contribute to
the construction of a modern energy system in China. The Group will use
its market development capability and user volume accumulated from
the traditional urban gas business as bases, and while focusing on its
major business, the Group will continue to promote development of low-
carbon innovative energy business. Meanwhile, the Group will extend
along the industrial chain, be oriented to users’ needs, fully explore user
values, and enhance expansion of new business such as rooftop distributed
photovoltaics, and clean and heating integrated energy business for
industrial users as well as low-carbon transportation energy services, so as to
provide customers with diversified energy supply and services.

According to the New Development Strategy Outline (2022-2024), the
Group’s positioning will be — focuses on gas business as the core, and
provides users with low-carbon, economical, safe and convenient energy
services through business expansion and innovation. And it is planned that,
by 2024, while realizing the compound annual growth rate of not less than
25% in the overall gas retail sales volume, revenue from innovative business
will account for 10% of the overall revenue, aiming to become China’s first-
class supplier and service provider for green low-carbon energy. To better
fulfil this long-term goal, the Group will continue to enhance the importance
of ESG management, continue to promote full-scale improvement plan for
environmental protection, social responsibilities and corporate governance
(ESG), and construct sustainable development framework, so as to strive
for the integration of enterprise efficiency, ecological and environmental
benefits and social benefits.
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Repurchase, Sell or Redeem any Shares of the Company

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company purchased certain
of its shares on the Stock Exchange which were subsequently cancelled by
the Company. The details of such share repurchase for the year ended 31

TZA=T—HIEFE ZFRMIEEEF  December 2021 are summarised below:

EROBIZAT ¢

B EEERAEE eEnROERER PR ER%

Number of shares Repurchase price

Month repurchased of shares per share Price paid

BS B wEE
Highest Lowest In total

BT BT BT
HK$ HK$ HK$

T —F+_H

December 2021 18,672,000 8.42 7.57 150,631,069.39
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The 18,672,000 shares repurchased in December 2021 were cancelled in
February 2022.

In 2021, pursuant to the rules of share award scheme and the terms of trust
deed, the trustee of share award scheme purchased a total of 12,817,500
shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange for an aggregate amount of
HK$95,123,323.

The shares of the Company were repurchased by the Company in 2021
pursuant to the mandate granted by the shareholders at the annual general
meeting held in May 2021, for the purpose of benefiting the Company and
its shareholders as a whole by increasing the net asset value and earnings
per share of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor its subsidiaries had
purchased, redeemed or sold any of listed securities of the Company.
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EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Cancellation of Shares Repurchased

On 7 February 2022, the Company has completed cancellation of
43,588,000 shares repurchased in aggregate from 2 December 2021 to 21
January 2022.

Top-up Placing of Existing Shares

On 21 February 2022, the Company, Tian Lun Group Limited and the
Placing Agent entered into the Placing Agreement, pursuant to which the
Placing Agent conditionally agreed, as agent of Tian Lun Group Limited, to
procure on a best efforts basis the Placees to purchase an aggregate of up
to 50,000,000 Shares at the price of HK$8.40 per Share, on the terms
and subject to the conditions set out in the Placing Agreement. At the same
date, the Company entered into the Subscription Agreement with Tian Lun
Group Limited, pursuant to which Tian Lun Group Limited conditionally
agreed to subscribe for Subscription Shares (equivalent to the number
of Placing Shares) at the Subscription Price (same as the Placing Price)
in accordance with the terms and conditions set out in the Subscription
Agreement.

On 24 February 2022, an aggregate of 50,000,000 Placing Shares of the
Company have been successfully placed by the Placing Agent to not less
than six Placees at the Placing Price of HK$8.40 per Placing Share.

On 28 February 2022, an aggregate of 50,000,000 Subscription Shares
have been subscribed by Tian Lun Group Limited at the Subscription Price
of HK$8.40 per Subscription Share (equivalent to the number of the
Placing Shares actually sold by Tian Lun Group Limited under the Placing).
The Subscription Shares represent approximately 4.95% of the issued
share capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the
Subscription Shares. For details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 21 February 2022 and 28 February 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no material contingent liabilities.

DIVIDEND

Pursuant to the resolutions of the Board on 31 March 2022, the Board
recommended the payment of a final dividend (the “Final Dividend”)
for the year ended 31 December 2021 of RMB14.57 cents per share
(2020: RMB15.30 cents per share). Together with an interim dividend of
RMB13.43 cents per share which had been paid, total dividend paid for the
year ended 31 December 2021 was RMB28.00 cents per share.

The Final Dividend will be paid in Hong Kong dollars on or about 21 June
2022 (Tuesday) to the Shareholders whose name appear on the register
of members of the Company on 7 June 2022 (Tuesday), subject to the
Shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting. Further
announcement will be made by the Company in relation to the exact amount
of the Final Dividend in Hong Kong dollars when the conversion rate for
Renminbi to Hong Kong dollars to be adopted has been determined by the
Board.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine the Shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed Final
Dividend, the register of members of the Company will be closed from 2
June 2022 (Thursday) to 7 June 2022 (Tuesday) (both days inclusive),
during which no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered.

In order to be eligible to receive the proposed Final Dividend, all transfer
documents, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged
with the Group’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712- 1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, no later than 4:30
p.m. on 1 June 2022 (Wednesday).
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors. Upon specific enquiries made to
all the Directors, each of them confirmed that they strictly complied with
the required standards set out in the Model Code for the year ended 31
December 2021.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has adopted and has complied with all code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
for the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) of the Company consists of
three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Li Liuging (chairman
of the Audit Committee), Ms. Zhao Jun and Ms. Ou Yaqun. The Audit
Committee had held meetings with the management to review accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed the audit,
internal control and financial reporting issues. The Audit Committee had
reviewed and discussed the annual consolidated results and consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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E AR E T AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REEEGHABRMETIBAEBINEZE PricewaterhouseCoopers, the external auditor of the Group, had audited
EMZE BB ETANEFEZ - B%E  the consolidated financial statements of the Group and issued unqualified
FRIESAE L EEREER - opinion.
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Mr. Zhang Yingcen, aged 59, is the founder of the Company, the
Chairman of the Company and an executive Director. He is responsible
for the overall strategic planning and has involved in leading the
development and investment of the business of the Group in the PRC.
Mr. Zhang has more than 25 years of management experience, including
20 years of experience in the management of gas enterprises. Mr. Zhang
obtained his certificate of EMBA from Tsinghua University in 2018. He
is currently the vice president of Chinese Xianggi Association, and the
vice president of Henan Charity General Federation.
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Mr. Xian Zhenyuan, aged 47, is the chief executive of the Company
and an executive Director of the Company. Mr. Xian has 18 years of
experience in the management of gas enterprises. Mr. Xian joined the
Group in 2003 and served as a director and general manager of certain
subsidiaries of the Company successively. Mr. Xian obtained a bachelor’s
degree majoring in International Trade from Southeast University in the
PRC in 1997 and obtained a master’'s degree majoring in Accounting
from Macquarie University in Australia in 2003.
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Ms. Qin Ling, aged 50, was appointed as the general manager and an
executive Director of the Company on 29 November 2021. From April 2019
to May 2021, Ms. Qin served as a vice president of Tus Environmental
Science and Technology Development Co., Ltd, the shares of which are
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000826.SZ). From
January 2018 to April 2019, she served as an executive vice president of
CMIG New Energy Investment Co., Ltd. From April 2007 to January 2018,
she served as an executive vice president of ENN Group Co. Ltd* (T
BN ER AT, a vice president of ENN Smart Energy Group* (¥7E2%
BEREJREEE) and a deputy general manager of ENN energy services Co.,
Ltd., etc. From August 2005 to April 2007, she worked as the manager
of the Transportation Data Analysis Center at the National Center of ITS
Engineering & Technology* (BIZRE 8E3 B E 4 TIZEAITAAZEH 43). Ms. Qin
obtained a bachelor degree (major in automatic control) and a master of
business administration from Tsinghua University in July 1994 and June
1997, respectively. Ms. Qin obtained a master of science in civil engineering
(major in intelligent transportation) from the University of Virginia in May
2001.
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Mr. Liu Min, aged 48, who obtained a bachelor’'s degree in Economics
from Renmin University of China (FEARKE), is an executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Liu joined Henan Tian Lun Investment
Holdings Group Limited “Henan Tian Lun Investment” (Jil @& X 1%
B EEABRAF]), a company controlled by Mr. Zhang Yingcen, the
ultimately controlling Shareholder of the Company in January 2019.
Mr. Liu was appointed as executive Director and general manager on
17 June 2019 and resigned general manager on 29 November 2021.
He is currently a vice president of Henan Tian Lun Investment. Mr. Liu
has years of experience in clean energy industry, financial management,
investment and financing management, asset acquisition, project
development, product marketing and business operations. Mr. Liu has
served as the vice president of the New Energy Chamber of the National
Federation of Industry and Commerce (2RI EEH S S HLRE
@) and the vice chairman of the 7th Hainan Provincial Federation of
Industry and Commerce (8% LEXEEEE). Prior to joining our
Group, Mr. Liu has served as the finance manager and the general
manager assistant of Beijing Daxing Urban Construction Group (Qihong
Industrial Corporation)(Jt R ARHIKZEFEZEEERISEFRLAF]) from
July 1995 to April 1999, the assistant president, chief financial officer,
the rotating president and the executive president of Hanergy Holding
Group Limited (ZEBEIER% 5 E), the chairman of Hanergy Yunnan Wulang
River Basin Hydropower Development Limited (Z&EZE R F BRI
KEFEEBR/AT]), the chairman of Nanfang Center of Hanergy Solar
Power Manufacturing Industry Group (GEBENIAREE £ EE/EH 5
1[3), the chairman of Hanergy Corporation in the America region (Z&¢
FMIRIG A R]), the chief executive officer and the chairman of Hanergy
Global Solar Power and Applications Group (ZEE2ERLIREREE),
the executive director and deputy chairman of Hanergy Thin Film Power
Group Limited (2828 RETSEHBRRAF]), formerly known as Hanergy
Solar Group Limited (Z8EX[FeESEBE AR AF]), the shares of which
were listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00566), from May 1999
to September 2015.
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Ms. Li Tao, aged 49, is an executive Director and deputy general
manager of the Company. She joined the Group in April 2011 and is
responsible for the financial management of the Group. Ms. Li has years
of experience in corporate finance management. Prior to joining the
Group, Ms. Li had served as the head of finance of SDIC Henan Coal
Transportation & Sales Co., Ltd. Ms. Li obtained a bachelor’s degree in
Economics from Henan University of Economics and Law in the PRC
in 1994, and obtained a master’s degree in applied accounting and
finance from Hong Kong Baptist University on 13 November 2014. She
is a senior accountant and a Certified Public Accountant in the PRC.
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Non-executive Director

Ms. Chen Hong, aged 48, was appointed as a non-executive Director of the
Company on 30 July 2021. From May 2011 to August 2013, Ms. Chen
served as the financial controller (F4#4825) of Zhuhai Letong Chemical Co.,
Ltd.* EREMLEB(L TR AR A7), the shares of which are listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002319), and a director of Xinghua
Port Holdings Ltd. (Stock Code: 1990) (now known as Zhuhai Harbour
(Singapore) Company., Limited), the shares of which were listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong and the listing was withdrawn
on 20 November 2020. Zhuhai Harbour (Singapore) Company., Limited
is now a subsidiary of Zhuhai Port Co., Ltd.* Ms. Chen is currently the
financial controller (91742 25) of Zhuhai Port Co., Ltd.* (AREBRNHBRA
7)), the shares of which are listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
000507). Zhuhai Port Co., Ltd. is a substantial shareholder of our Company.
Ms. Chen is also a director of Zhuhai Port (Hong Kong) Development Co.,
Limited. Zhuhai Port (Hong Kong) Development Co., Limited is a subsidiary
of Zhuhai Port Co., Ltd.*, and a substantial shareholder of the Company.
Ms. Chen is also a director of Jiangsu Xiugiang Glasswork Co., Ltd.* (L&
SRIIE T B AR A F]), the shares of which are listed on Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 300160). Ms. Chen, who obtained a bachelor degree
(major in electronic materials and components) from South China University
of Technology (ZERI¥2 T KZ) in China in July 1995, is a member of the
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Jin, aged 51, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 28 May 2018. Mr. Liu served as an assistant
professor at Anderson School of Management of the University of California,
Los Angeles from July 1999 to July 2006 and served as a tenured associate
professor from July 2006 to July 2008. He also served as an Economics
Instructor at the Department of Economics at Columbia University in 1998.
He obtained a doctoral degree in Business Administration from Columbia
Business School in 1999. Mr. Liu is currently a professor of Accounting and
Finance, the director of Investment Research Center. Mr. Liu has extensive
experience in research on capital markets, financial accounting and equity
investment and is an internationally renowned expert in the field of equity
investment and securities analysis. Mr. Liu’s research has international
influence and has been one of the authors whose research achievements
are most widely quoted in international literatures among Chinese social
science scholars in the past decade. He is a long-term reviewer and editorial
board member of various international first-level academic journals. Mr. Liu
has received the Outstanding Research Award from Cheung Kong Graduate
School of Business, the Eric and “E” Juline Faculty Excellence in Research
Award, and the Barclays Global Investors Best Paper Award.

Mr. Li Liuqing, aged 48, is an independent non-executive Director. Mr.
Li has over ten years of experience in accounting and auditing, and was
a senior manager and vice branch manager of Henan Branch of Ascenda
Certified Public Accountants Ltd. He is currently a partner in Zhongxingcai
Guanghua Certified Public Accountants LLP and in charge of its Henan
Branch. Mr. Li obtained a bachelor’s degree in Accounting from Henan
University of Economics and Law in 1998 and a postgraduate certificate
majoring in Corporate Management from Tianjin University of Finance and
Economics in 2000. Mr. Li is a Certified Public Accountant on securities, a
Certified Public Valuer and a Certified Tax Agent in the PRC.
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Mr. Yeung Yui Yuen Michael, aged 66, resigned as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company on 1 September 2021. Mr. Yeung is
experienced in the development and growth of fast-moving consumer
products (gum, chocolate, and confections) in emerging markets, and
was the president of Wrigley Asia Pacific Ltd. He worked in R.J Reynolds
Tobacco Co. Ltd., SC Johnson Co. Ltd., and Hong Kong TVB Co. Ltd. Mr.
Yeung is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors and a
council member of the Gerson Lehman Group (Asia) Ltd. Mr. Yeung obtained
a bachelor’s degree in Business Administration and Commerce (Distinction)
from the University of Alberta, Canada in 1977.

Ms. Zhao Jun, aged 59, is an independent non-executive Director. Ms.
Zhao worked in the Post Office of Zhengzhou City and Postal Transportation
Bureau of Henan Province and served as a Senior Lecturer, Education
Officer and Occupational Testing Officer successively. She had been the
human resources director of Shanghai Shibang Machinery Co., Ltd. Beijing
Office and a supervisor of Beijing Kelushi Heavy Industrial Technology
Co., Ltd. Ms. Zhao obtained a bachelor’'s degree majoring in Agricultural
Machinery Repair from Agricultural Machinery Department of Henan
Agricultural University in the PRC in 1984.

Ms. Ou Yaqun, aged 51, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 30 July 2021. Ltd., Ms. Ou served as the chief
financial officer (BfEE7E) of Greka Engineering & Technology Ltd (t&1m
B IR AR AF*) from February 2008 to September 2017; a budget
analyst of Xinyuan (China) Real Estate, Ltd. (&4t (FFE)EZEAER A7), a
subsidiary of Xinyuan Real Estate Co., Ltd., the shares of which are listed
on New York Stock Exchange (stock code: XIN), from July 2007 to February
2008; the finance controller (817548 85) of Henan Hejing Air Purification
Technology Co., Ltd* CAEZFZ=RFEBIMTEREEZAF]) (now known as
Henan Hejing Cleaning Technology Co., Ltd* (R F2FRMABRETA
@))) from July 1998 to June 2007; and a finance supervisor (B 1§48 /4
BRAEE) of The Fifth Research and Design Institute of Nuclear Industry* (1%
TEERIIFERBT) from July 1992 to June 1998. Ms. Ou is currently the
deputy general manager (&484%32) of Zhengzhou Qidi Donglong Technology
Development Co., Ltd.* (¥R EERI R AR /A R]). Ms. Ou obtained
a bachelor degree (major in accountancy) from Hengyang Engineering
Institute* (7% TEFx) (now known as University of South China (% A E2))
in June 1992. Ms. Ou, who obtained a master degree of accounting from
Henan University of Economics and Law (Al @ 81 & BUEAZ) in June 2010,
is a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Senior Management

Mr. Xu Weidong (72f3#), aged 52, is a deputy general manager of the
Company. He is responsible for the management of the Group’s coal-to-
gas conversion business division. Mr. Xu has accumulated 30 years of
experience in the management of gas enterprises. After joining the Group
in May 2011, he successively acted as general manager of Jilin Zhongji
Dadi Gas Group Co., Ltd. (EM&EFFARUMAREEBRAF]) and general
manager of Xuchang Tian Lun Gas Limited (ZF & X fmARAR A T)). Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Xu worked at Jilin Zhongji Dadi Gas Group Co., Ltd.
as general manager. Mr. Xu obtained a diploma in marketing from Wuhan
University of Technology. Mr. Xu obtained a senior economist qualification
certificate of PRC.

Mr. Zhang Linxiong (5R#), aged 54, is a deputy general manager of the
Company. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in July 2011, and he is responsible
for the management of the Group’s Security and Management Center. Mr.
Zhang has accumulated 32 years of experience in the management of gas
enterprises. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhang worked at Baiyin Natural
Gas Co., Ltd. (HIREMAARAEREE LT as executive deputy general
manager. Mr. Zhang obtained a diploma in water supply and drainage from
Changchun College of Architecture (REZERZFERIER) in 1990.

Mr. Dai Wei, aged 41, is the chief strategy officer, a deputy general manager
of the Company and general manager of Hong Kong office. Mr. Dai joined
the Group in August 2020, and he is responsible for the capital market
business of the Group. Mr. Dai has 15 years of experience in the public
utilities industry and is one of the earliest analysts to cover the China city
gas industry in the market. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Dai has previously
worked at Credit Suisse as a Director, Daiwa Capital Markets as an Executive
Director and CLSA as a Senior Analyst. His team at Credit Suisse was ranked
as a top 3 utilities research team by the Institutional Investor magazine for
3 consecutive years. His work won the Best Research Report Competition
organized by the Hong Kong Society of Financial Analysts (HKSFA) in 2015.
Mr. Dai graduated from the University of Toronto in Canada and has been a
CFA charter holder for 10 years.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tam Tak Kei Raymond, aged 59, is the company secretary. Mr. Tam has
been appointed as an independent non-executive director of Vision Fame
International Holding Limited (stock code: 1315), CNQC International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1240), Meigu Technology Holding Group
Limited (stock code: 8349) and Kingland Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1751) since December 2011, September 2012, January 2017 and
May 2020, respectively. He was also the company secretary of Branding
China Group Limited (now known as BC Technology Group Limited) (stock
code: 863) from April 2013 to April 2018. Mr. Tam was an independent
non-executive director of Li Bao Ge Group Limited (stock code: 1869) from
June 2016 to February 2020. Mr. Tam obtained a bachelor degree of arts
in Accounting with Computing from the University of Kent at Canterbury,
United Kingdom in July 1985. He is an associate member of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Tam has
been appointed as the finance director of an auction company in Hong Kong
since December 2011.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors are pleased to present the annual report for the year ended 31
December 2021 together with the audited consolidated financial statements
to the shareholders.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The Company is an investment holding company whose subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the investment, operation and management of
gas pipeline connections, transportation, distribution and sales of gas,
construction and operation of gas filling stations, and production and sales
of LNG in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). Further details of the
principal business and subsidiaries of the Company are set out in Note 11
to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s business review for the year ended 31 December 2021, and
discussion about the Group’s future business development, are set out in the
section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 12 to 16 and the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 17 to 41 of this
annual report.

MAJOR RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Directors are aware that the Group’s financial position, operating results
and business outlook may be subject to many risks and uncertainties directly
or indirectly relating to the business of the Group, and have put in place the
relevant policies to ensure continuous identification and management of the
adverse impacts such risks might have on the Group. The major risks and
uncertainties currently facing by the Group are set out below.

Finance risks

The Group may be exposed to finance risks including foreign currency risk,
interest rate risk and liquidity risk. Management of the Group monitors
market changes and will adopt various means to mitigate such risks as and
when appropriate.
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Business risk

The performance of major business of the Group is subject to many factors,
including but not limited to overall market and economic conditions, and the
performance of property, industry and commerce market where the Group
operates its business. The Group will adjust its development plan in a timely
manner in line with the development of its local users and in accordance
with the relevant policies.

Growth strategy

The Group's business growth objectives will be achieved through internal
growth, strategic investments and acquisitions. In the event of change in
market condition, insufficient funds generated from operation or other
reason, the Group will consider delaying, revising or abandoning its growth
strategy in certain aspects.

Human resources risk

The Group may be subject to the risk of loss and recruitment of staff
and talents with requisite skills. The Group will provide competitive
remuneration packages and career development plans to suitable candidates
and employees based on market standard, individual experience and
individual performance. The Group will also recognise and encourage
employees’ contribution to the Group through performance appraisal system
and adoption of share option scheme.

Pandemic risk

The Group may need to face business suspension due to the severe
pandemic situation in the areas where its businesses operate. The Group will
learn from the experience of fighting the pandemic in 2021, and actively
respond to government calls to face against the pandemic. While securing
the user gas market, the Group will also implement preventive measures and
actively start the resumption of work and production, so as to maintain the
stable growth of business.



BRIEBRRRE

AEEFRABROBERRITE - HIER
X R ERBRENEL E TR ERIFE
Fr o AREERIE STIRIR BLRE 2R o

AEBEERRREER  BORNEERER
Re& - WERRITHR ° 2021 F - AKEX
ARELEMRBEHHEDHRAR27.55
BYTTK - BRE—HRARBRHE - AL
& 73 Bhm 49 459 B MR K H)EFE

AEBERERBELT THHERCHE
R B TRRER - RIBERNAB R
MENED - RALMEGERE  AER
B MBI RAR] /R BETRMKE
BB MERRK HEEF(HL 85
OAM EM R FRAHITNEE - IRBEAME
SEEREEITE  ROERRE BN

PRASEIRBTE -

AEERERBRERFEIMNE - WEARKE
BEBELFTEHRNEZNRREE
PADDSRERIZ O AT 4 B 1 o

HES FFRHAEEHZ
EE@HR

AEE-HEREEAFRERBIERNER
A SEBIBTITERRNLEMN
BIEWEREE R R L 26 R Rk - A%
EREEERMUEXRMBEERSTL
TE A 4B A5 B R e A B AR R T RO SR Bl ET
g - AR AEERILATERNERE
ZHIE R R E - AEEBRREEES
AR - BIREXERET -

EEEHE (8

Directors’ Report (Continued)

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group has adopted the relevant environmental protection standards
in the PRC, formulated occupational health and environmental protection
measures, and established regulated operation procedures to ensure
compliance with the laws and regulations relating to environmental
protection.

As a gas supplier, the Group is committed to environmental protection and
improving air pollution. In 2021, the Group’s natural gas operation and
transmission business distributed a total of 2,755 million m® of natural gas.
Based on the gas sales volume, the Group helped reduce emissions from
approximately 4.59 million tons of coal.

In its day-to-day business operation, the Group continues to promote green
measures and improve employees’ awareness of environmental protection
and advocates the concept of recycling for use. It uses energy-saving lamps
for lighting and requires employees to turn off the lights before leaving office
so that no lights will be left always on. It requires turning off the faucet
after using to avoid water waste. It promotes electronic office and expands
the functions of our OA online office system to improve use efficiency. It
encourages double-sided printing to reduce resource waste so as to reduce
the impacts on the environment.

The Group will review its environmental protection work on a regular basis
and adopt more environmental protection measures in respect of business
operation to strengthen the environmental sustainability.

IMPORTANT RELATIONSHIPS WITH
EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group has always considered employees as essential for its continuous
business growth, pays great attention to the safety of employee’s working
environment, and has in place health and safety systems and measures.
The Group also organises induction and on-the-job trainings on a regular
basis based on the needs of employee position and career development.
In addition, the Group has established a fair and effective performance
appraisal system and incentive plan to motivate employees to exhibit their
talents and achieve performance objectives.
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With customer needs in mind and by adhering to the principle of “putting
customers above all else”, the Group has developed a customer service
guidebook and customer complaint management measures, and continues
to provide customers with value-added services in order to improve customer
satisfaction.

The Group selectively chooses suppliers by setting out requirements for
suppliers participating in its public tender in areas such as experience,
reputation and production capacity, and assesses successful bidders on a
half-yearly basis. The Group has established long-term good cooperation
with many suppliers.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group’s business is mainly conducted by the Company’s subsidiaries in
Mainland China, and the Company is listed on the Stock Exchange. As such,
during the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this report,
the Group has been in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC and Hong Kong, such as the Environmental Protection Law, the Air
Pollution Control Law, the Labour Law, the Labour Contract Law, the Special
Provisions on Labour Protection of Female Workers and the Production
Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the annual results of the Group for the last five financial years
is set out on the last page of this report. The summary does not form part of
the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

In order to thank the Shareholders for their support, the Group has
established a long-term steady dividend policy. Pursuant to the resolutions
of the Board dated 31 March 2022, the Board recommended the payment
of the Final Dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 of RMB14.57
cents per share (the “Final Dividend”) (2020: RMB15.30 cents per share).
Together with an interim dividend of RMB13.43 cents per share which had
been paid, total dividend paid for the year ended 31 December 2021 was
RMB28.00 cents per share.
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The Final Dividend will be paid in Hong Kong dollars on or about 21 June
2022 (Tuesday) to the Shareholders whose name appear on the register
of members of the Company on 7 June 2022 (Tuesday), subject to the
Shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting. Further
announcement will be made by the Company in relation to the exact amount
of the Final Dividend in Hong Kong dollars when the conversion rate for
Renminbi to Hong Kong dollars to be adopted has been determined by the
Board.

RESERVES

Details of movements of reserves of the Company and the Group during
the year are set out in Notes 25, 27 and 38 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 December 2021, the distributable reserves of the Company was
RMB528,133,000 being the share premium.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group are
set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographies of Directors and senior management of the Group are set
out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this annual
report.

BANK BORROWINGS

Details of bank borrowings of the Group are set out in Note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors as of 31 December 2021 and as at the date of this report
were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Yingcen (Chairman)
Mr. Xian Zhenyuan
Ms. Qin Ling
(appointed on 29 November 2021)
Mr. Liu Min
Ms. Li Tao

Non-executive Director

Ms. Chen Hong
(appointed on 30 July 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Jin
Mr. Li Liuging
Mr. Yeung Yui Yuen Michael
(resigned on 1 September 2021)
Ms. Zhao Jun
Ms. Ou Yaqun
(appointed on 30 July 2021)

The Company has maintained appropriate directors and senior management
liability insurance policies for all Directors and members of senior
management and reviews the coverage on an annual basis.

All non-executive Directors entered into service contracts with the Company
for a term of three years and subject to termination by either party upon
giving no less than one month’s prior written notice to the other party.

As of 31 December 2021, none of the Directors had a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed under “RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS” below, none
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries had entered into any contract of
significance in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, as at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into by
the Company or existed during the year.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of Mr. Li Liuging and Ms. Zhao Jun has served the Company for more
than nine years. As an independent non-executive Director with extensive
experience and knowledge and in-depth understanding of the Company’s
operations and business, each of Mr. Li Liuging and Ms. Zhao Jun has
expressed objective views and given independent guidance to the Company
over the past years. The Board considered that their long service would not
affect their exercise of independent judgment and was satisfied that each of
Mr. Li Liuging and Ms. Zhao Jun has the required integrity and experience
to continue fulfilling the role of an independent non-executive Director and
consider each of Mr. Li Liuging and Ms. Zhao Jun to be independent.

The Board confirmed that it has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual written confirmation of his or her
independence and considered, based on the confirmations received,
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-executive
Directors remained independent during the year.
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REMUNERATION POLICY

The Directors and senior management of the Company receive compensation
in the form of fees, salaries, allowances, benefits in kind or discretionary
bonuses relating to the performance of the Group. The Group also reimburses
the Directors and senior management for expenses which are necessarily
and reasonably incurred for providing services to the Group or discharging
their duties in relation to the operation of the Group. When reviewing
and determining the specific remuneration packages for the executive
Directors and senior management, the Remuneration Committee takes into
consideration factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the Directors, employment elsewhere in
the Group and desirability of performance-based remuneration.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in Note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Details of the remuneration of the five highest paid individuals are set out in
Note 9 to consolidated financial statements.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ")),
which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies (“Model Code”), to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange, were as follows:

Long positions in the shares of the Company (“Shares”):

ERYNE|
2EE BT
BABL
Bk
FEEE Approximate
58 BB percentage
B Rty BEE Number of  of the total issued
EENE Capacity/Nature Number of underlying share capital
Name of director of interest Shares held Shares held of the Company
RS ([REED) EnEaEA D) o 36,878,608 3.67%
Mr. Zhang Yingcen (“Mr. Zhang”) Beneficial owner (Note 1)
ZYEHAE R 555,899,300 110,635,824 66.41%
(MtzE2 & 3)
Interest of controlled
corporation
(Notes 2 and 3)
fofsrEss (fiEE4) 5,722,500 36,878,608 4.24%
Interest of spouse (Note 4)
HARRS A ([EEAE D) EnEAA 9,000,000 — 0.90%
Mr. Xian Zhenyuan (“Mr. Xian") Beneficial owner
ZIEGLEE R (H5E5) 12,829,500 — 1.28%
Interest of controlled
corporation(Note 5)
TEL L BEnEEAA 3,000,000 — 0.30%
Ms. Li Tao Beneficial owner
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Notes:

1.

On 27 March 2015, (i) Mr. Zhang, Ms. Sun Yanxi (“Ms. Sun”) and Mr. Zhang
Daoyuan, as sponsors (collectively, the “Sponsors”); (ii) Chequers Development
Limited, Gold Shine Development Limited and Tian Lun Group Limited (formerly
known as Fortune Hill Group Limited) as companies owned directly and/or indirectly
by one or more Sponsors; and (iii) International Finance Corporation (“IFC”) and
IFC Global Infrastructure Fund, LP (“IFC Fund”, “IFC” and “IFC Fund” collectively,
the “Investors”) entered into a sponsors’ agreement (the “Sponsors’ Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Grantors have, inter alia, granted the Put Option (as defined in
the circular of the Company dated 21 April 2015) to IFC and IFC Fund.

The Grantors assume joint and several obligations to purchase the Put Shares
(as defined in the circular of the Company dated 21 April 2015). Accordingly,
assuming the Investors elect to exercise the Put Option (as defined in the
circular of the Company dated 21 April 2015) in full against Mr. Zhang only,
Mr. Zhang is obliged to purchase the Put Shares. On 14 July 2021, Kind
Edge Limited acquired an aggregate of 141,000,000 ordinary shares of
the Company from IFC Fund and IFC. Since then, the Put Shares have been
reduced to 36,878,608 shares.

Gold Shine Development Limited is interested in 471,171,300 Shares through its
wholly-owned subsidiary, namely Tian Lun Group Limited. The entire issued share
capital of Gold Shine Development Limited is owned as to 60% by Mr. Zhang.
Therefore, Mr. Zhang is deemed or taken to be interested in all the Shares and
underlying Shares held by Tian Lun Group Limited for the purposes of the SFO.

Mr. Zhang wholly owns Kind Edge Limited, which is interested in 21,000,000
Shares. Therefore, Mr. Zhang is deemed to be interested in the aforesaid
21,000,000 Shares.

Mr. Zhang is the director of Gold Shine Development Limited, Tian Lun Group
Limited, Chequers Development Limited and Kind Edge Limited.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

38 The Grantors assume joint and several obligations to purchase the Put Shares
under the Sponsors’ Agreement. Accordingly, assuming the Investors elect to
exercise the Put Option in full against the Sponsors’ SPVs (as defined in the
circular of the Company dated 21 April 2015) only, the Sponsors’ SPVs, as a
group, is obliged to purchase the Put Shares, being 36,878,608 Shares. Such
underlying 110,635,824 Shares represent the aggregation of the maximum
number of the Put Shares that may be put by the Investors to each of the
Sponsors’ SPVs in such circumstances.

4. Ms. Sun the spouse of Mr. Zhang holds 5,722,500 Shares through her
individual security account. Therefore, Mr. Zhang is deemed or taken to be
interested in all the Shares held by Ms. Sun for the purpose of the SFO.

The Grantors assume joint and several obligations to purchase the Put Shares
under the Sponsors’ Agreement. Accordingly, assuming the Investors elect
to exercise the Put Option in full against Ms. Sun only, Ms. Sun is obliged to
purchase the Put Shares, being 36,878,608 Shares.

58 Mr. Xian beneficially owns the entire equity interests of Pleasant New Limited,
which in turn owns 12,829,500 Shares. Therefore, Mr. Xian is deemed or
taken to be interested in all the Shares held by Pleasant New Limited for the
purposes of the SFO. Mr. Xian is the sole director of Pleasant New Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors
or chief executives of the Company had any interests or short positions in
the Shares, the underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the
SFO, or which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Interests and Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures of the Company or any Associated Corporation” above and the
section headed “Share Option Scheme” below, at no time during the year
was the Company or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or chief
executives of the Company or their associates to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

So far as is known to the Directors, as at 31 December 2021, as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO, the following persons (except the Directors and chief executives of the
Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares or the underlying
Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:
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(ERNE|
BERITRA
BABES
FrisiEEs Approximate
BB percentage of
51 RmtE FERGEE Number of issued share
HE LB Capacity/Nature Number of underlying capital of
Name of Interest Shares held Shares held the Company
KmEEER AT EnaEA 471,171,300 36,878,608 50.62%
(Mf5E1 - 2 % 3) Beneficial owner
Tian Lun Group Limited
(Notes 1, 2 and 3)
LEERAR AR EnEEA — 36,878,608 3.67%
(51~ 2% 4) Beneficial owner
Gold Shine Development Bzl = B e s 471,171,300 36,878,608 50.62%
Limited (Notes 1, 2 and 4) Interest of controlled
corporation
BEREERARAT EnEEA 63,728,000 36,878,608 10.02%
(2% 5) Beneficial owner
Chequers Development
Limited (Notes 2 and 5)
FRRER 2+ ey 5,722,500 36,878,608 4.24%
(W2 ke)([#Hzx]) Beneficial interest
Ms. Sun Yanxi BB 555,899,300 147,514,432 70.09%
(Notes 2 and 6) (“Ms. Sun™) Interest of spouse
KEERNBRAT Pzl = B s 120,000,000 — 11.96%
Zhuhai Port Co., Ltd. Interest of controlled
corporation
KEERBBRRERAR EmEAA 120,000,000 — 11.96%
Zhuhai Port (Hong Kong) Beneficial owner
Development Co., Limited
mEE EmEAA 69,280,759 — 6.90%

Mr. Koo Yuen Kim

Beneficial owner
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Notes:

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

The entire issued share capital of Tian Lun Group Limited is held by Gold Shine
Development Limited. Tian Lun Group Limited owns 471,171,300 Shares.
Therefore, Gold Shine Development Limited is deemed or taken to be interested
in all the Shares and underlying Shares held by Tian Lun Group Limited for the
purposes of the SFO.

The Grantors assume joint and several obligations to purchase the Put Shares
under the Sponsors’ Agreement.

Such 36,878,608 underlying Shares represent the maximum number of the
Put Shares that may be put by the Investors to Tian Lun Group Limited under
the Sponsors’ Agreement.

Such 36,878,608 underlying Shares represent the maximum number of
the Put Shares that may be put by the Investors to Gold Shine Development
Limited under the Sponsors’ Agreement.

Such 36,878,608 underlying Shares represent the maximum number of the
Put Shares that may be put by the Investors to Chequers Development Limited
under the Sponsors’ Agreement.

Gold Shine Development Limited is owned as to 60% by Mr. Zhang. Together
with Notes (1), (3) and (4) above, Mr. Zhang is deemed or taken to be
interested in all the Shares and the underlying Shares held by Tian Lun Group
Limited for the purposes of the SFO.

Chequers Development Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Zhang and owns
63,728,000 Shares. Together with Note (5) above, Mr. Zhang is also deemed
or taken to be interested in all the Shares and underlying Shares held by
Chequers Development Limited for the purposes of the SFO.

Mr. Zhang may be obliged to purchase the 36,878,608 underlying Shares,
representing the maximum number of the Put Shares that may be put by the
Investors to Mr. Zhang under the Sponsors’ Agreement.

Mr. Zhang wholly owns Kind Edge Limited, which is interested in 21,000,000
Shares. Therefore, Mr. Zhang is deemed to be interested in the aforesaid
21,000,000 Shares.

Ms. Sun is the spouse of Mr. Zhang, and therefore Ms. Sun is deemed or taken
to be interested in all the Shares and the underlying Shares in which Mr. Zhang
is interested and may be obliged to purchase respectively for the purpose of
the SFO. Ms. Sun holds 5,722,500 Shares through her individual security
account and may be obliged to purchase the 36,878,608 underlying Shares,
representing the maximum number of the Put Shares that may be put by the
Investors to Ms. Sun under the Sponsors’ Agreement.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Directors were not
aware of any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying shares,
debentures of the Company which falls to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

In order to attract and retain the eligible persons, to provide additional
incentive to them and to promote the success of the business of the Group,
the Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the “Old
Scheme”) on 13 October 2010 whereby the Board was authorised, at their
absolute discretion and subject to the terms of the Old Scheme, to grant
options to subscribe for the shares of the Company (the “Shares”) to, inter
alia, any employees (full-time or part-time), directors, consultants, advisers,
major shareholders, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers,
business partners or service providers of the Group.

On 12 July 2018, the Company granted a total of 30,000,000 ordinary
shares of nominal value of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
Company in accordance with the Old Scheme adopted on 13 October 2010.
For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company 12 July
2018.

The Old Scheme expired on 12 October 2020 and the Board has adopted
a new share option scheme with terms in compliance with Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules. Upon expiry of the Old Scheme, no further options will
be granted thereunder; however, the rules of the Old Scheme will remain
in full force and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise
of option granted prior to its expiry or otherwise as may be required in
accordance with the rules of the Old Scheme. Options granted prior to such
expiry will continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the rules
of the Old Scheme. As at the date of this report, there were 18,000,000
options outstanding under the Old Scheme.
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In view of the expiry of the Old Scheme and to enable the Company to
grant Options to Eligible Participants as incentives or rewards for their
contributions to the success of the Group, the Company conditionally
adopted a new share option scheme (the “New Scheme”) on 28 October
2020, pursuant to which, The Board is authorized to, at its absolute
discretion and on such terms as it may think fit, grant any employee (full-time
or part-time), director, consultant or adviser of any member of the Group, or
any substantial shareholder of any member of the Group, or any distributor,
contractor, supplier, agent, customer, business partner or service provider of
any member of the Group, options to subscribe for such number of Shares
as the Board may determine in accordance with the terms and price of the
New Scheme. The New Scheme has become unconditional on 5 November
2020 and will be effective for ten years commencing from 5 November
2020, and it is subject to early termination according to the terms set out in
the New Scheme. An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within
7 days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The amount
payable by the grantee of an option to the Company on acceptance of the
offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.00. The Subscription Price of a
Share in respect of any particular option granted under the New Scheme
shall be a price solely determined by the Board and notified to a participant
and shall be at least the higher of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant
of the option, which must be a Business Day; (ii) the average of the closing
prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five Business Days immediately preceding the date of grant of
the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of the
option, provided that in the event of fractional prices, the Subscription Price
per Share shall be rounded upwards to the nearest whole cent.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

The Company has the right to issue share options, provided that the total
number of shares that may be issued upon the exercise of all options
granted under the New Scheme must not exceed 10% of the shares in issue
on the date of approval of the New Scheme. The Company may refresh
such limit at any time but is subject to the shareholders’approval and the
issuance of a circular in compliance with the Listing Rules. The aggregate
number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the New Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of
the Shares in issue from time to time. No options may be granted under
the New Share Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of the
Company, if this will result in such 30% limit being exceeded. As at the
date of this report, the total number of Shares which may be issued under
the New Scheme was 100,361,510 shares, representing 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of this report. The total number
of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of options granted to any
participant (including both exercised and outstanding options) under the
New Share Option Scheme, in any 12-month period up to the date of grant
must not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.

A share option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the New
Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may determine which shall
not exceed ten years from the date of grant subject to the provisions of early
termination thereof.

From the effective date of the New Scheme to the date of this report, there
were no share options granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the
New Scheme, nor any outstanding share options. A summary of the principal
terms of the New Scheme was set out in the circular of the Company dated
8 October 2020.

Tian Lun Gas Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021

67



EEEHE (8

Directors’ Report (Continued)

TEREBHEZZ-_—F+-H=+—H The following table discloses the movements in the Company’s share options

IHERRI AR R BB I D during the period ended 31 December 2021:
BEBRN W-B=-F
1 D 8%  X¥/E# T-A=t-B
—BZ-% HRE BRI Lapsed/ HAR{TE
-A-B Granted Exercised cancelled  Outstanding
As at during the during the during the as at
AERA 1 January Reporting Reporting Reporting 31 December Bt AH TESE e
Grantees 2021 period period period 2021  Date of grant Exercisable period Exercise price
HtbfEE 6,000,000 — = 6,000,000 “E2-/\tATZH < ol el =) 9,128
Other employees 12 July 2018 ZZ--%#tA+-H
12 July 2020 - 11 July 2021
6,000,000 — — — 6000000 ZZ-/\FtAT=H “E--%tATZRZ 9,127
12 July 2018 ZE-#tA+-H
12 July 2021 - 11 July 2022
6,000,000 — — — 6000000 Z=Z-/\FtAT=H - tATCRZE 9,127
12 July 2018 ZEZ=#tA+-H
12 July 2022 - 11 July 2023
6,000,000 — — — 6000000 Z=Z-\EtAT=AH “E-=FtA+t-HZE 9,127
12 July 2018 o125 ) ol =
12 July 2023 - 11 July 2024
gt 24,000,000 — — 6,000,000 18,000,000
Total

ZEBECEE R-ZF__FPH_-1  The share options were cancelled with effect from 20 April 2022.

HAER -
Bt AR5 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
ARRBIRIM SR AERIZ BB ZE—"F " —  The material related party transactions entered into by the Company and

FTZA=T—HILFENAFHENEAN  subsisting during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in Note 36
BT R 5  DEAHIMBEMERMTEI6F  to the consolidated financial statements. Such related party transactions
WE - 2FBM IR TFE EMMRAE  do not fall under the definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing
AAEN [RER S | sk [#FERER S ] connected transaction” under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and the
EFE - ARASRREMARRAELI4AEE  Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
SFHRERE © Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS, DISPOSAL AND
SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

Save as disclosed in this report, during the year ended 31 December 2021
and as at the date of this report, the Group had no material acquisition,
disposal or significant investments.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that every Director
shall be entitled to be of the Company indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in
or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation
thereto. The Company has adopted and maintained appropriate insurance to
provide protection for possible legal action against its directors.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In 2021, sales to the five largest customers of the Group accounted for
approximately 27.89% of the turnover of the Group, in which sales to the
largest customer accounted for approximately 18.84%, while purchases
from the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately
35.80% of the purchases of the Group in which purchases from the
largest supplier accounted for approximately 10.94%. To the best of the
Board’s knowledge having made all enquiries with all Directors, neither
the Directors, their close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules), nor
any Shareholders owning more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital had any beneficial interests in the Group’s five largest customers or
suppliers during the year.
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BA - HEFEEAAT PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
B EmES COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

BE_Z-_—F+HA=+—HILFE -  During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company purchased certain
RACIRE R BEEEE TG - MAET  of its shares on the Stock Exchange which were subsequently cancelled by
MRy B2 EARRDRIFEH - R -ZF - —%  the Company. The details of such share repurchase for the year ended 31
TZA=+—BILFE ZERHEEF  December 2021 are summarised below:

BERBENT :
A& EEEROHE eEEROERER PRt ERS
Number of shares Repurchase price of
Month repurchased shares per share Price paid
&S B B
Highest Lowest In total
BT BT BT
HK$ HK$ HK$
—E-—F+=A 18,672,000 8.42 7.57 150,631,069.39

December 2021

RZTE_—F+ = HERMI18,672,000 The 18,672,000 shares repurchased in December 2021 were cancelled in
BRIMERZTZ_F A5 - February 2022.

REZTZ—F - RHBEEFTEMZFEAR  In 2021, pursuant to the rules of share award scheme and the terms of trust
RN BB R BBV IR A R E 522 40165 A  deed, the trustee of share award scheme purchased a total of 12,817,500
42%H95,123,323 B LB XTI A S L shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange for an aggregate amount of
12,817,500 IRA R RIS HK$95,123,323.

EFEERBER-_Z=_—FAHAZFT/"HBHEIT The shares of the Company were repurchased by the Directors in 2021
MR EAFAZSERFERHEEN-E  pursuant to the mandate granted by the shareholders at the annual general
T —FEBEARRATRG - E@BIEAN  meeting held on 26 May 2021, for the purpose of benefiting the Company
RAEEFERSRERMNABFFHEARAF R  and its shareholders as a whole by increasing the net asset value and
PR - earnings per share of the Company.

br EXFTHEEFTREN  AARIRENEBAR  Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor its subsidiaries had

RAFEBEEA - BRSKHELRALBE  purchased, redeemed or sold any of listed securities of the Company.
Al ETHEES °
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE PERIOD

Details of significant events affecting the Group subsequent to 31 December
2021 are set out in the paragraph headed “Events Subsequent to the
Reporting Period” in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no relevant provisions for pre-emptive rights in the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of Cayman Islands.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report,
the public float of the Company is not less than 25% as prescribed under
the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has implemented the code provisions set out in the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules. The Company has been in compliance with the CG Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2021.
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AUDITOR

The Company has appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2021. A resolution will be
proposed in the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company for the
re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as the Company’s auditor.

For and on behalf of the Board of
Tian Lun Gas Holdings Limited
Chairman

Zhang Yingcen

31 March 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company recognises the value and importance of achieving high
corporate governance standards to enhance corporate performance,
transparency and accountability, earning the confidence of Shareholders
and the public. The Board strives to adhere to the principles of corporate
governance and adopt sound corporate governance practices to meet the
legal and commercial standards by focusing on areas such as internal
control, fair disclosure and accountability to all Shareholders.

The Company has adopted and complied with all code provisions set out in
the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules during the year
from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Upon specific enquiries
of all Directors of the Company, each of them confirmed that they strictly
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code during the
Reporting Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Members of the Board of Directors

As at the date of this annual report, the Board of the Company comprised
(i) Mr. Zhang Yingcen (Chairman), Mr. Xian Zhenyuan, Ms. Qin Ling,
Mr. Liu Min and Ms. Li Tao as executive Directors; (ii) Ms. Chen Hong as a
non-executive Director; (iii) Mr. Liu Jin, Mr. Li Liuging, Ms. Zhao Jun and
Ms. Ou Yaqun as independent non-executive Directors. The biographies of
all the Directors are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report. All executive Directors of the Company
have sufficient experiences for their positions to effectively carry out their
duties.
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The Company has appointed four independent non-executive Directors and
at least one of them has accounting expertise to assist the management in
formulating development strategies of the Group, and to ensure that the
preparation of the financial reports and other mandatory reports by the
Board are in strict adherence to appropriate systems in order to protect the
interests of the Shareholders and the Company. Each independent Director
has confirmed in accordance with the guidelines specified in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules that they are independent of the Company, and the
Company considers that they were independent in accordance with the
Listing Rules as at the date of this annual report.

There are no relationships (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship) among the members of the Board, and in
particular, between the chairman of the Board and the chief executive of the
Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DUTIES

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties as
set out in the amended code provision D.3.1 (which has been re-numbered
as code A.2.1 since 1 January 2022). During the year ended 31 December
2021, the Board had reviewed and discussed the corporate governance
policy of the Group and was satisfied with the effectiveness of the corporate
governance policy of the Group.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

All appointed Directors received comprehensive, formal training on the
first occasion of their appointments and were ensured to have a proper
understanding of the businesses and development of the Group and that
they were fully aware of their responsibilities under statute and common
law, the Listing Rules, applicable legal requirements and other regulatory
requirements and the business and governance policies of the Company.
To facilitate the Directors to discharge their responsibilities, they are
continuously updated with regulatory developments, business and market
changes and the strategic development of the Group. For the financial
year ended 31 December 2021, all Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Yingcen,
Mr. Xian Zhenyuan, Ms. Qin Ling, Mr. Liu Min, Ms. Li Tao, Ms. Chen Hong,
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Mr. Liu Jin, Ms. Zhao Jun, Mr. Li Liuging, Mr. Yeung Yui Yuen Michael and
Ms. Ou Yaqun, have participated in a training course on the PRC Company
Law organized by the PRC legal adviser to the Company, to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills and provided their training records to the
Company.

SUPPLY OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION

In respect of regular Board meetings, and so far as practicable in all other
cases, an agenda accompanied by the relevant Board papers are sent to all
Directors in a timely manner and at least three days before the specified
date of a Board meeting. All Directors are entitled to have access to Board
papers, Board minutes and related materials.

THE OPERATION OF THE BOARD

The Board supervises the management of the business and affairs of the
Company. The Board’s primary duty is to ensure the viability of the Company
and to ensure that it is managed in the best interests of the Shareholders
as a whole while taking into account the interests of other stakeholders. The
Group has adopted internal guidelines in setting forth matters that require
the Board's approval. Apart from its statutory responsibilities, the Board
is also responsible for making decisions of formulating the development
targets and strategies, material acquisitions and disposals, material capital
investment, dividend policies, the appointment and removal of directors
and senior management, remuneration policies and other major operation
and financial issues of the Company. The powers and duties of the Board
include convening Shareholders’ meetings and reporting the Board’s
work at Shareholders’ meetings, implementing resolutions passed at
Shareholders’ meetings, determining business plans and investment plans,
formulating annual budget and final accounts, formulating proposals for
profit distributions and for the increase or reduction of registered capital as
well as exercising other powers, functions and duties as conferred by the
memorandum and articles of association of the Company. The daily business
operations and administrative functions of the Group are delegated to the
management.

Code provision A.1.1 (which has been re-numbered as code C.5.1 since 1
January 2022) of the Code stipulates that the Board shall convene meetings
regularly with at least four board meetings every year (approximately once a
quarter).
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The Board held 6 meetings during the year ended 31 December 2021.

HE T BITERIE
Attendance/
2= Directors Board Meetings Held
HITES Executive Directors
FREEE (EE) Mr. Zhang Yingcen (Chairman) 6/6
BIRIRE A Mr. Xian Zhenyuan 6/6
FRUT(MWZZE-_—F+—A=+HEZ{) Ms. Qin Ling (appointed on 29 November 2021) -
2 RiE&E Mr. Liu Min 6/6
* BaL Ms. Li Tao 6/6
FHITES Non-executive Director
PR &+ (R=ZZE=—F+tA=1THEZE)  Ms.Chen Hong (appointed on 30 July 2021) 3/3
BIYFHTES Independent non-executive Directors
2 Hr4& Mr. Liu Jin 6/6
O OEat Ms. Zhao Jun 6/6
SRR Mr. Yeung Yui Yuen Michael 4/4
(RZZE=Z—FNA—HFT) (resigned on 1 September 2021)

THRERE Mr. Li Liuging 6/6
BarBat+t (R —F+tA=1+HEZT) Ms. Ou Yaqun (appointed on 30 July 2021) 3/3

AAEFECERBE RNERAHEH
AIAER EESHAXELREFT T
HEZSSRBNELEHEIARAAS

BEETH  FEHEFSERNTEE
zzﬁkﬂvf'aﬁ?%ﬁﬁLﬁ ABREEEBRRIR
MKRZRERERFH - 8548 Sﬂﬁﬁ’“

AEEERXREERALBESTAERL

HEEMARBIREES 9&~$IE$§MTI%
/R IE2REERREEARKERN -
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In general, the notices of meetings of the Board are sent to all Directors
through email and fax before the dates of meetings. In order to enable
the Directors to consider the issues to be approved in the meetings with
adequate time, the notices of regular Board meetings will be sent to all
Directors at least 14 days prior to the convening of the meeting while
prior notification of the convening of ad hoc Board meetings will be made
to Directors in due course. In order to provide all Directors with a full
picture of the latest operating conditions of the Company, the management
representatives of the Company will report the latest operating conditions
of the Company and the implementation of the issues resolved in the last
Board meeting to all the Directors before the convening of the meeting.
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COMMITTEES UNDER THE BOARD

The Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee were established under the Board. These committees perform
supervision and control of the Company based on their written terms of
reference.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to make recommendations
on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditor, to
review financial statements and making recommendations on the financial
reporting, and to review and supervise the financial reporting and internal
control procedures of the Group. The Audit Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Li Liuging, Ms. Zhao Jun
and Ms. Ou Yaqun. Mr. Li Liuging is the chairman of the Audit Committee
and has the appropriate professional qualifications. The Audit Committee
shall meet at least twice a year.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Group’s internal control during the
financial year ended 31 December 2021. The Group’s final results for the
year ended 31 December 2021 had been reviewed by the Audit Committee
before submission to the Board for approval. The Audit Committee had
also reviewed this annual report, and confirmed that this annual report is
complete and accurate, and complies with all relevant rules and regulations,
including but not limited to the Listing Rules. There is no disagreement
between the Directors and the Audit Committee regarding the selection and
appointment of the external auditor. The Audit Committee held 2 meetings
during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The attendance of the members of the Audit Committee at the committee
meetings is as follows:

HEBITEERE
Attendance/
ZE Member Committee Meetings held
TRERE(EHE) Mr. Li Liuging (Chairman) 2/2
SRR Mr. Yeung Yui Yuen Michael 2/2
(RZZF=Z—FNA—H&M) (resigned on 1 September 2021)
M OEat Ms. Zhao Jun 2/2
([ CEE S oqun Ms. Ou Yaqun -
(RZZE=Z—FNA—REZEE (appointed as a member of the
REZZEEZE) Audit Committee on 1 September 2021)
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Nomination Committee

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of Directors and
management of the Board’s succession, to ensure that the candidates to
be nominated as Directors are experienced, high caliber individuals. The
Nomination Committee consists of two independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Ms. Zhao Jun and Mr. Liu Jin, and Mr. Zhang Yingcen, an executive
Director and the chairman of the Board, who is also the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee shall meet at least once every year.

The Nomination Committee held four meetings during the year ended
31 December 2021 for reviewing the structure of the Board, size and
composition of the Board, assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors and other related matters. The attendance of the

BregRHRERNT members of the Nomination Committee at the committee meetings is as
follows:
HEBITEERHE
Attendance/
£8 Member Committee Meetings Held
FREEAE (EF) Mr. Zhang Yingcen (Chairman) 4/4
SRR E Mr. Yeung Yui Yuen Michael 3/3
(RZZE=—FNA—HET) (resigned on 1 September 2021)

H OBt Ms. Zhao Jun 4/4
2 HPEERZZE=Z—FhHA—HA Mr. Liu Jin (appointed as a member of 1/1

BZEIRREEZEE®LEH)
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the Nomination Committee
on 1 September 2021)
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Board Diversity

In order to achieve the diversity of members of the Board, the Board will
take into account a number of factors including gender, age, cultural and
educational background, and professional experience. The terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee had been amended to set out its responsibility
for overseeing the implementation of the Board diversity policy. The Group
has adopted the policy on Board diversity which is summarized as follows:

(1) Election of members of the Board shall be based on a series of
diversified bases, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service; and

(2) The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the
diversity policy in order to ensure that the policy produces desirable
results.

Remuneration Committee

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include (i) reviewing the
remuneration package of each Director and member of senior management,
and making recommendations to the Board regarding any adjustment
thereof; and (ii) reviewing and evaluating the performance of individual
executive Directors for determining the amount of bonus (if any) payable to
them.

The Remuneration Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Zhao Jun and Ms. Ou Yaqun, and one executive
Director, namely Mr. Zhang Yingcen. Ms. Zhao Jun is the Chairlady of the
Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least
once every year for reviewing the remuneration policies.

The Remuneration Committee held four meetings during the year ended 31
December 2021.
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FHZEEREBZEROFERNT

The attendance of the members of the Remuneration Committee at the
committee meetings is as follows:

HEBITERRE

Attendance/

£8 Member Committee Meetings Held
H ErE(FE) Ms. Zhao Jun (Chairlady) 4/4
RS A Mr. Zhang Yingcen 4/4
SRR Mr. Yeung Yui Yuen Michael 3/3

(BR=E=——FNA—HEMT) (resigned on 1 September 2021)

B t(RN_E=-_—FNA—H Ms. Ou Yaqun (appointed as a member of 1/1

BZIRFMEEEXRER)
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the Remuneration Committee
on 1 September 2021)

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

All non-executive Directors entered into service contracts with the Company
for a term of three years and subject to termination by either party upon
giving no less than one month’s prior written notice to the other party.

None of the Directors of the Company who are proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company not terminable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

In accordance with Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, at each
annual general meeting, at least one third of the Directors shall retire from
office by rotation. Each Director shall retire at least once every three years
and such Directors shall include those who have assumed the longest term
of office since their last appointment or re-election.
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GENERAL MEETINGS

For the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021, the Board held
the annual general meeting and the extraordinary general meeting on 26
May 2021 and 13 August 2021 respectively. The attendance record of the
Directors is as follows:

HER T BITRERRNERE
Attendance/
=== Directors General Meetings held
BITES Executive Directors
FRESEE (EE) Mr. Zhang Yingcen (Chairman) -2
SRR ST A& Mr. Xian Zhenyuan 2/2
FRUT(MW_Z=_—F+—A=+HB¥EZ) Ms. Qin Ling (appointed on 29 November 2021) —/-
2 RiE&E Mr. Liu Min 212
* BuE Ms. Li Tao 2/2
FHITES Non-executive Director
BRITZE(RN_E-_—FtA=+THEZT) Ms. Chen Hong (appointed on 30 July 2021) 1/1
BIYFHTES Independent non-executive Directors
2 x4 Mr. Liu Jin 2/2
THENRE Mr. Li Liuging 2/2
SR Mr. Yeung Yui Yuen Michael 2/2
(R=E=—FNA—HET) (resigned on 1 September 2021)

M Bt Ms. Zhao Jun 2/2
BERztT (R=ZZE=—F+tA=+HEZ) Ms. Ou Yaqun (appointed on 30 July 2021) 1/1

RABHINEZBMERE TR T —%F
FAZt A NEERANBRREFREMK
Z-—F\A+T=HERNBREFIAE -

The Company’s external auditor attended the annual general meeting held
on 26 May 2021 and the extraordinary general meeting held on 13 August
2021.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

All Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the accounts and
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.

The auditor to the Company acknowledges its reporting responsibilities
in the auditor’s report on the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021. The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may raise significant doubt upon the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern, therefore the Directors
continue to adopt the going concern approach in preparing financial
statements.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s audit expenses
amounted to RMB3,550,000. There were no significant non-audit service
assignments performed by the auditor of the Group.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining operation of the effective internal
control system of the Group. The Board performs annual review of the
effectiveness of all material controls of the internal control system, including
financial supervision, operating supervision, compliance supervision and
risk management system through the Audit Committee. Internal review
personnel are responsible for assisting the Audit Committee in reviewing
the effectiveness of the internal control system. Internal review personnel
perform internal review and other relevant review regularly. They report
the review results to the Audit Committee and provide the members of the
committee with advice to optimize internal control for the Audit Committee’s
consideration. During the year, internal review personnel mainly reviewed
the major risk management systems based on the internal control advice in
the report formulated by external audit institutions, and reported the review
results to the Board. With the support of the Board, the internal review
personnel carried out improvement for the operation of the Group. The Board
had conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal control system
of the Company and its subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December
2021.



ARRRFRIRER KRR
RERASREBRZE
7

REAAFEBERZMAE6LEK - R
FRIAGBER—R2AZRZRNEZERER
RBETORARRBEENBRAE LRE
ZREREATD 2 —HBRRERK AR -
FZEBRANEANARNESTGHMER
2 UBEREZERZBERMIEEZE
MEBXHARBRRFRIAE - HRER
BEE2R_tT—HR EFEREEMAZK
g AE2ERALTAARABERLT XA
MAE MEEZERATEREEEGREE
BRERFIREMELEZABEIER
X ' EHARRIAEZ ERALERN -

BIEZRMAIE 721&  RBREARIEZ R
EROMAEEHAWT

(i) ZLEMBBRREERBREAE LK
£

(i) EBURITZBRERS EERFEY
PRERRE 2 RERIETS AL
EREEEE1E T

(i) EAIRRRZREREE RS
THRANHERAGYNE LREZK
- EBRBRFAENDRNER TZ
TRIERNZ R RIS R BB+
Z—o

TEERKRE (H)
Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

PROCEDURES FOR CONVENING AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING AND
PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL
MEETINGS BY SHAREHOLDERS

Pursuant to Article 64 of the articles of association of the Company,
extraordinary general meetings shall be convened on the requisition of one
or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, no
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right
of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing
to the Board or the secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Pursuant to Article 72 of the Articles of Association, the number of
Shareholders necessary for putting forward a proposal at a Shareholders’

meetings is as follows:

(i

=

at least 2 Shareholders entitled to vote at any general meeting; or

(ii) any Shareholder or Shareholders representing no less than one-tenth
of the total voting rights of all the Shareholders having the right to
vote at the general meeting; or

(iii)  any Shareholder or Shareholders holding Shares conferring a right to
vote at the general meeting being Shares on which an aggregate sum
has been paid up equal to no less than one-tenth of the total sum
paid up on all the Shares conferring that right.
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Pursuant to Article 113 of the Articles of Association, no person, other than
a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the Board for election, be
eligible for election to the office of Director at any general meeting, unless
notice in writing of the intention to propose that person for election as a
Director and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be elected
shall have been lodged at the head office or at the registration office no
earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting
appointed for such election and end no later than seven days prior to the
date of such general meeting and the minimum length of the period during
which such notices to the Company may be given will be at least seven days.

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director are posted on the website of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group has already set up the Investor Relations Department to be
responsible for investor relations management work and established various
channels for the communication with investor, including direct line and mail
so as to ensure smooth communication between the Company and investors.
In addition, in order to provide a full picture of the business development
and prospects of the Company to the media, securities analysts, fund
managers and investors, the Company held telephone conferences and
luncheons for them, organized visits to the Company from time to time and
answered their inquires in a timely manner.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company endeavors to maintain an on-going dialogue with its
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings or other
general meetings to communicate with the shareholders and encourage their
participation. The Company will ensure that there are separate resolutions
for separate issues proposed at the general meetings. The Company will
continue to maintain an open and effective investor communication policy
and to update investors on relevant information on the Group’s business in a
timely manner, subject to relevant regulatory requirement.
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PROCEDURES FOR DIRECTING
SHAREHOLDERS’ ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may at any time put their enquiries to the Board in writing to
the Company whose contact details are as follows:

Tian Lun Gas Holdings Limited

4th Floor, Tian Lun Group Building

No.6 Huang He East Road

Zheng Dong Xin District

Zhengzhou City, Henan Province

The PRC

Email: hk@tianungas.com

Telephone and Fax No.: 86 371 6370 7151

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is Mr. Tam Tak Kei Raymond,
and his biography is set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.

The company secretary of the Company Mr. Tam Tak Kei Raymond has
been informed of the requirement of the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules,
and he confirmed that he had attained no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year ended 31 December 2021.

MATERIAL CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

There were no material changes in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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To the Shareholders of Tian Lun Gas Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Tian Lun Gas Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages
98 to 287, which comprise:

° the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2021;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then
ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

U R G AR » TRk T A 4
Mk : +852 2289 8888 ¢ 4 : +852 2810 9888 * www.pwchk.com
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

° Revenue recognition
° Goodwill impairment assessment
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Key Audit Matter

B EFH A RIE RIS E T IR
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

WATER

Revenue recognition

FLHE MM BHRERMES (HEMEE
Refer to Note 5 (segment mformation) in the
consolidated financial statements.

EERERAEERNERBRAGTHOR/ARKT6.50BT
TERRPMRIHE RS - TRLELREES -
During the year, the Group recognised revenue of
approximately RMB7,650 million, majority of which
was related to sales of gas and engineering construction
service.

88 RMWARERAERAT 2021 FFEFRE
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We obtained an understanding of the management’s
internal control and assessment process of revenue
recognition and assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors such
as complexity, subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to
management bias or fraud.
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Key Audit Matter
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Revenue recognition (continued)

HRMREEET  BREXZERK  WARRI R
AREEFIE - HEBKRI IR EEERBENEZES - 5
EERBMRYRBEBBRET - ZWADHES @ HIR
RERRZHERAF  EMRAF  BEAFRIE
FF -

In relation to sales of gas, significant effort was spent on
auditing the revenue recognised due to the large volume
of transactions. The sales price was controlled by the
PRC regulators, and sales volume was determined by
reading meters at the period end. The revenue was highly
dispersed and derived from a large number of customers
in residential, vehicles, commercial and industrial
sectors.

B ZEENHRE (F)
Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B EFH A RIE RIS E T IR
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

HEBRRIHEWRAMS - HMPIRTORFBIE
Our procedures in relation to the recognition of revenue
derived from sales of gas included:

o A BARRIERIB R RIBIT AL |
° Testing the design and operating effectiveness of
key controls;

o (ERASHMERNMERNTE  AFEAMERBANR S
RERH RN ER - MBE - PRI s MRS YIRE
BASREITIZE - AR

° Testing, on targeting and sampling basis, the
transaction records that revenue was recognised
to the underlying documents, such as invoices
and meter reading records, and evidence of cash
receipts; and

e HINMEHAEREEENRFERSMENHE
AMERBREETLY  FEELFETSEN
ZEo

° Assessing if any unreasonable difference by
comparing the total gas sales volume per
management with the total gas purchase volume
per suppliers during the reporting period.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
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Revenue recognition (continued)

HRIRLREMREEYR  BARBHABESRAHAELR
ZETRBHNEEZEEHER - WARNGERREH
CSEEMARKRANMGES RBKRARIETE @ ILBRE

TETEE S -

In relation to revenue derived from engineering
construction service, it was recognised according to
the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation of the related contracts. Revenue
was measured with reference to estimates of the contract
costs incurred to date and the total estimated contract
costs, which involved management judgement.

90 XWAREBRERAT 2021 FEFERE

%ﬁﬁIF*#&%Wm%Aﬁm BMBMITHRFE
Our procedures in relation to the recognition of revenue
derived from engineering construction service included:

o RIS BRI REFBMITARIL |
° Testing the design and operating effectiveness of
key controls;

o FAMHEUANMENAE  BRRESHER ZHEN
ERINAKRES - AIEHERBKA

° Testing, on targeting and sampling basis, the total
contract revenue by examining the contracts with
customers and invoices;

o [FAMBUNMERNAE  ARESEENERK
$ﬂﬁ”AH@&$m%ﬁﬂﬁm§ﬂ PUFE=2id
BWIEESRKA - RMAERERS BEHARE
ZMEEE  THHEEKNBELE T EEMNER
M REEHFEBHEERBIMER Uk

° Testing, on targeting and sampling basis, the
amount of contract cost incurred to date and
total estimated contract cost to the underlying
documents, such as the approved budgeted contract
cost, delivery notes of raw materials and invoices
and billings from sub-contractors, and assessing
the accuracy of the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation and if
any over-run of the related contracts; and

o  HUEERANBEUUDETKERELEMKTIELELE -
AHEMEE LRRERLIREERBNEMNKFEEER
BEMNERME -

° Assessing whether the gross profit margins of
the related engineering design and construction
and gas pipelines connections contracts fell into
a reasonable range by benchmarking against the
historical results of similar contracts completed by
the Group.

BMRE - EBERARBISHFIPTIEIRE RN X FF o
We found the revenue recorded were supported by the
evidence we obtained.



pwc

PRt FIA

Key Audit Matter

B ZEENHRE (F)
Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BT AR R E F1R
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
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Goodwill impairment assessment

F2H A T BMmKN T 4() (AR A RAE) &
ek 17 (B EE) -

Refer to Note 4 (a)(Critical accounting estimates and
judgements) and Note 17 (Intangible assets) of the
consolidated financial statements.

RZZE_—F+_A=+—R0 E5ECHEREEBNA
ARB2737BT BHRESEEREETREETHEE
RARTFERES M@ AE - BB IR ZEE -
As at 31 December 2021, the Group had recorded
goodwill of approximately RMB2,737 million. We
focused on it because the amount is significant and
critical judgement was used by management to assess
whether goodwill was impaired or not.

HERBHEMEBREN NS - RARWTHREFEE
Our procedures in relation to management’s goodwill
impairment assessment included:

o BT EIREHEREREEBN AT ER
2 WEBEERMGF T EEENREMEMES R
BREEMKE - B - B SEAEER
BiRmsSERNGRMNL - SFETERERNEFR
%

° Understanding of the management’s internal control
and assessment process of goodwill impairment and
assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors such as
complexity, subjectivity, changes and susceptibility
to management bias or fraud;

s BERMUESEXBHNBEBLBIREREZE
ERR AHMEEREHREELBTNEN TN

o Assessing management’s identification of CGUs
based on how independent cash flows are generated
and our understanding of the Group’s business;

o HHEERBRANERBENERE
° Assessing the value-in-use calculations methodology
adopted by management;

e BAFMERREMEALFENRSRETENE
TR - FHE BRI 2 SRR E S BN ;

° Comparing the current year actual cash flows with
the prior year cash flow projections to consider if
the projections included assumptions that were
overly optimistic;
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

&
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PRt FIA

Key Audit Matter

BT AR R E F1R
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BB REE (F)

Goodwill impairment assessment (continued)

BMERSEEEEERBEMERZEIR  UTHE REE
HET] MEERCELETHAKROSEEHERE
BREReREVAABEEREEET - HETRERE
- AT O B EFFERSEENMGS THEEL -
HREAIMEREY  FTREARRKRNEE M AN EEH
B(BRELLEENE WARBRERFER)KFRNE
AFE - EEBRRENEEENEERRKA/ETERXR
B ERESENAREEELERNE -

Goodwill was allocated to each respective legal entity
of the Group, which was referred as cash generating
unit (“CGU"), and the recoverable amount of each
CGU was determined by management based on value-
in-use calculations using cash flow projections.
In carrying out the impairment assessments, the
estimation of recoverable amount is subject to high
degree of estimation uncertainty. The inherent risk in
relation to the impairment assessment of goodwill is
considered significant due to the complexity of the
models, subjectivity of significant assumptions used,
and significant judgements involved in selecting data,
including operating margins, revenue growth rates
and discount rates, being applied in the value-in-use
calculations. Management has concluded that there is
no impairment in respect of the goodwill.
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e RERMUSSEEEBNEMBRLHRETER
B A ERER(BRELEENE  RARRER
FIRE)NEEM

° Assessing the reasonableness of key assumptions
(including operating margins, revenue growth rates
and discount rates) based on our understanding of
the Group’s business and benchmarking against the
available industry data;

o  BEBABBEXFEIGHIRE  WEHEERER
MRSETILE  WERZEREMER A
SEMARAHAGEN LR - Wi H AR RE
ERENGUREDITEITE - URERNES g
BEEERENEE  UR

° Reconciling input data to supporting evidence,
such as approved budgets and capital expenditure
(“Capex”), considering the reasonableness of these
budgets and Capex, and testing mathematical
accuracy of the computation and assessing
management’s sensitivity analysis around the key
assumptions, to ascertain the extent to which
adverse changes, would result in the goodwill being
impaired; and

o FHMATEBEANMBREEGIER TEBREMERH
BWRENTDIE -

° Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures related to
goodwill impairment in the context of the applicable
financial reporting framework.

BMRR  BEBHEERETLOER - BRI
BEERNXR -

We considered that the conclusion on management’s
goodwill impairment assessment was supported by the
evidence we obtained.
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B ZEENHRE (F)
Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

i ok K 1

P

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a

material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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ZREQRAREEESENMHRE
o

R AKE

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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B ZEENHRE (F)
Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

R AKE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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R AKE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

W AR BB ST AR M R BDIE ] - DARRE
BENENEF BENLIFHESR
NEBEHINERERRER -

AHEESRASTBERNREMER
R EsHERT AR EN S R -

HEERAKBECESHERNGE
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Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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B ZEENHRE (F)
Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

R AKE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with the audit committee all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Lee Chung Bor.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 31 March 2022
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BOtERERER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(EFENBARETT (B EHA))

(All amounts in Renminbi (“RMB”) thousands unless otherwise stated)

BE+-A=T—-HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—E-—F —E-FTF
2021 2020
B 5T AR®ET T AREFIT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

WA Revenue 5 7,650,345 6,439,777
SHER A Cost of sales 8 (5,871,226) (4,653,652)
EZ Gross profit 1,779,119 1,786,125
oA Distribution expenses 8 (75,304) (59,483)
1T E M Administrative expenses 8 (217,599) (193,281)
Hles Other income 6 15,485 9,828
HEiFE — F5E Other gains — net 7 99,409 160,189
KR Operating profit 1,601,110 1,703,378
B e Finance income 7,729 11,228
755 A Finance expenses (235,782) (250,351)
B R — FHE Finance expenses — net 10 (228,053) (239,123)
FE(EHE R a G Share of results of associates

and a joint venture 11(b) (10,253) (45,880)
FRETB AT RS Profit before income tax 1,362,804 1,418,375
et & R Income tax expense 12 (334,690) (354,702)
FERHE Profit for the year 1,028,114 1,063,673
FEEERN Profit attributable to:
— KRARIFIBHE — Owners of the Company 1,000,672 1,043,512
— FEIE R R — Non-controlling interests 27,442 20,161

1,028,114 1,063,673
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EftRElER ()
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Continued)
(RFEMBARETT (BIESEHE))

(All amounts in Renminbi (“RMB”) thousands unless otherwise stated)

BE+-A=T—-HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—E-—F —E-FTF
2021 2020
{iFsa ARET T ARBTT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HithimE W Other comprehensive income:
P8/ EN-¥-- o5 ) Item that will not be reclassified
B iy H H to profit or loss
NARBETZEHED) Changes in the fair value of equity
FFAEMARE WE 2 investments at fair value through
HFIRE AN BEES other comprehensive income 27 8,325 (13,684)
REFEHMZEEWE Other comprehensive income
HRFIE for the year, net of tax 8,325 (13,684)
REFHEEZEWRE Total comprehensive income
for the year 1,036,439 1,049,989
BER Attributable to:
— RRBIFIEE — Owners of the Company 1,008,997 1,029,828
— FEfE 1 s — Non-controlling interests 27,442 20,161
1,036,439 1,049,989
BRUEFEBNRALQT Earnings per share for profit
EE (BERARYT) attributable to owners of
the Company for the year
(expressed in RMB per share)
— EXERKE — Basic earnings per share 13(a) 1.00 1.04
— HEERKE — Diluted earnings per share 13(b) 1.00 1.04

=l
g

o

AR A RS R IEEFMIMFE— 03 The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read
g © in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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SHEERER

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
(RFELLENRETFTT (B HZEH))

(All amounts in Renminbi (“RMB”) thousands unless otherwise stated)

R+=—B=+—8H
As at 31 December
—EZ-F —E-THF
2021 2020
B EE ARET T ARET T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BE ASSETS
FRBEE Non-current assets
FREEE Right-of-use assets 14 272,206 267,789
TBYE - B Ml Property, plant and equipment 15 3,518,709 3,034,918
LE M EHE Investment properties 16 45,008 47,022
M AE Intangible assets 17 5,097,000 4,087,446
TR EARNIEE Investments accounted for using
the equity method 11(b) 773,671 783,924
SR EE Deferred income tax assets 30 27,040 27,462
NAREBEFTER Financial assets at fair value
HEBit AEMERE through other comprehensive
WENEREE income 19 72,600 61,500
P ST R 3 % LA P Ui R Trade and other receivables 20 24,996 27,174
EMIERBEEMBRIENF  Prepayments related to
other non-current assets 21 58,389 218,386
9,889,619 8,555,621
REBEE Current assets
PENSS Inventories 22 154,642 115,876
ERIEE Contract assets 5 2,414,722 1,161,728
VHQEETA&EMFEH&TA Trade and other receivables 20 1,407,831 1,393,096
IWAREBEN=BEES)ET A Financial assets at fair value
HAbAR & W) through other comprehensive
Eﬂé% income 19 6,747 27,083
Mﬁfﬁ?iﬂﬁ“%ﬁ?)\ Financial assets at fair value
TE TS REE through profit or loss 23(a) 39,018 S
HeRBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents 24 1,014,978 1,640,081
XRHIIRE Restricted cash 24 177,279 24,653
5,215,217 4,362,517
HEE Total assets 15,104,836 12,918,138
EEREE EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
& Share capital 25 8,466 8,466
EE1FR% Treasury shares 25 (200,697) —
f& A5 7 Share premium 25 528,133 817,455
(e Reserves 27 736,819 556,177
Bl Retained earnings 27 4,145,458 3,317,103
BERAARMEE 2 #R Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 5,218,179 4,699,201
FEFE SRR Non-controlling interests 310,195 281,086
AR Total equity 5,528,374 4,980,287
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EHEEREBER (A)

Consolidated Balance Sheet (Continued)
(LB BARKT T (BIESEHH))

(All amounts in Renminbi (“RMB”) thousands unless otherwise stated)

R+=—A=+-—H
As at 31 December
—E-—F —E-FTF
2021 2020
B AR®F T AREFT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
&f& LIABILITIES
ERBERE Non-current liabilities
g Borrowings 29 4,247,647 2,770,055
HERE Lease liabilities 14 7,060 4,226
BEAMSTHAE Deferred income tax liabilities 30 753,669 593,221
EEW Deferred income 12,627 13,899
5,021,003 3,381,401
REBEE Current liabilities
FES BRI B FE A 3R Trade and other payables 28 1,418,781 1,363,567
ERAa%E Contract liabilities 5 592,003 458,067
FERTRRF Dividend payables 6,533 7,574
BHIMSHAE Current income tax liabilities 437,566 398,237
(R Borrowings 29 2,058,375 2,294,584
HEBE Lease liabilities 14 2,914 3,976
NAREBEFTEEHESE Financial liabilities at fair value
STAEZRNESREE through profit or loss 23(b) 39,287 30,445
4,555,459 4,556,450
FER=NE Total liabilities 9,576,462 7,937,851
HEZNEE Total equity and liabilities 15,104,836 12,918,138

Ll aHEEBBEREEMNMTE—0FB  The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with
& o the accompanying notes.

$98%E 287 EMEHUMBEMKACTHESE  The consolidated financial statements on pages 98 to 287 were approved by
RZZTZZF=A=+—HH#t&Z  WHLL  the Board of Directors on 31 March 2022 and were signed on its behalf.
TEEREXESFSEE -

[ R HARR
Mr. Zhang Yingcen Mr. Xian Zhenyuan
EF EE
Director Director
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B EREE R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(EFENBARETT (B EHA))

(All amounts in Renminbi (“RMB”) thousands unless otherwise stated)

BRRALANEE
Attributable to owners of the Company
R& RAER i BrhE &5t FEAMER fRs
Non-
Share Share Retained controlling
capital premium Reserves eamings Total interests Total equity
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(3£ 25) (Wzt25) (Bizt27) (Kizt2r)
(Note 25) (Note 25) (Note 27) (Note 27)
R-B-2EF-F-REH Balance at 1 January 2020 8430 1,029,366 454530 2,398,458 3,890,784 296,53 4187320
GakE Comprehensive income
HEHE Profit for the year - - - 1,043512 1,043512 20,161 1,063,673
Aferels Other comprehensive income
WAREREAEED Financial assets at fair
FALGA KA Value through other
SHEE comprehensive income - - (13,684) — (13,684) - (13,684)
agaks Total comprehensive income — — (13,684) 1,043,512 1,029,828 20,161 1,049,989
RREFEENAREE Transactions with owners
MahETHRA in their capacity as owners
#E Appropriation = = 124,867 (124,867) - - -
WETLAEMER Acquisition of additional
interests of a subsidiary - - (5,276) = (5,276) (20,724) (26,000)
SRR (B 31) Dividends paid (Nate 31) - (235,003) - - (235,003) - (235,003)
WA R RH Dividends paid to
non-controlling interests - — — - - (15,776) (15,776)
FEHERTE Capital contribution from
non-controlling interests - - - - - 889 889
BB Employee share option
scheme:
—BIRBER — Value of employee senvices = = 950 = 950 = 950
— REE R — Issue of shares pursuant
e to share option scheme 36 23,092 (5,210) - 17918 - 17918
HERFEEEGH Total transactions with owners
758 3% (211,911) 115,331 (124.867) (221,411) (35,611) (257,022)
H-B-%F Balance at
tZR=t-REs 31 December 2020 8,466 817,45 hh6,177 3317103 4,699,201 281,086 4,980,287
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SO ERSER (A)

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
(RFEMBARETT (BIESEHE))

(All amounts in Renminbi (“RMB”) thousands unless otherwise stated)

FRARARER
Attributable to owners of the Company
B EFR BAEH e Bhha & FEUMER L
Non-
Share Treasury Share Retained controlling
capital shares premium Reserves eamings Total interests Total equity
ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT NRETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(st 25) (st 2s) (5t 25) (Hs27) (Hst27)
(Note 25) (Note 25) (Note 25) (Note 27) (Note 27)
W-8Z-F-A-AEH Balance at 1 January 2021 8,466 - 817,455 556,177 3,317,103 4,699,201 281,086 4,980,287
e Comprehensive income
KENE Profit for the year - - - - 1,000,672 1,000,672 27,442 1,028,114
Efsaks Other comprehensive income
WArEEEEAES Financia assefs at far value
FA e NED through other
SHER comprehensive income - - - 8,325 = 8325 = 8325
Rl Total comprehensive income - - - 8,325 1,000,672 1,008,997 27,442 1,036,439
EREFEEULEEN Transactions with owners in
SRETHRS their capacity as owners
&k Appropriation = = = 172,317 (172,317) - - -
W27 (H335) Aequisition of subsidiaries
(Note 35) - - - - - - 15,340 15,340
AR (HE31) Dividends paid (Note 31) - - (289,322) - - (289,322) - (289,322)
et as il Dividends paid to
non-controlling interests - - - - - - (13,673) (13,673)
TR (3£ 25 (b)) Repurchase of shares
(Note 25 (b)) = (200,697) = = = (200,697) = (200,697)
= (200,697) (289,322) 172317 (172317) (490,019) 1,667 (488,352)
RB=-% Balance at
tZR=t-BER 31 December 2021 8,466 (200,697) 528,133 736,819 4,145,458 5218179 310,195 5,528,374

A G 4 R 58 B 5K B BB P R — 6 B

e
=E o

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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SO RERER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(REELLENRETFTT (B HZEH))

(All amounts in Renminbi (“RMB”) thousands unless otherwise stated)

BE+-A=T—-HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—E-F —E-THF
2021 2020
LS ARET T AREETT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
RETEHNRERE Cash flows from operating activities
REEENRSE Cash generated from operations 32(a) 671,403 1,651,055
BATFTISH Income tax paid (265,633) (261,349)
LEEBEENFRE Net cash generated from
operating activities 405,770 1,389,706
RETHNRESRE Cash flows from investing activities
BETEE - WE &&H Purchases of property, plant
and equipment (415,650) (281,448)
THETE FRIEL N Increase in lease prepayments (3,625) (13,174)
BETEE  WER Proceeds from disposal of property,

RABFTSRIA plant and equipment 32(b) 3,529 12,330
BEELEE Purchases of intangible assets (3,502) (5,795)
BEUANEEFEBEEE Purchases of financial assets

FTABENEREE at fair value through profit or loss (30,010) (3,570,000)
IAREBEFEBHED Investment income on financial

FFABENEREEESE assets at fair value through

RIRE W profit or loss = 5,680
BEUAAEBET=EEES Proceeds from disposal of

FFABEMSREEMSH  financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss 10 3,570,000
WEEFARIRFR SR Net cash outflow for the acquisition

of subsidiaries 35 (918,297) (401,449)
PR HI3R & 8 Changes in restricted cash (44,825) —
BEUFLE Interest received 8,158 6,601
TR AR U R Prepayments related to share

purchase agreements — (166,552)
BRI RMNGEE Settlement of cross currency swap (16,989) —
REERNAINIRE Capital injection to associates — (20,800)
WERDAFRS Net cash used in investing activities (1,421,201) (864,607)
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SHRERER (B)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

(EFEUBARETT (KIS EHS))

(All amounts in Renminbi (“RMB”) thousands unless otherwise stated)

BE+-A=T—-HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—E-F —E-THF
2021 2020
LS AR¥T T AREETT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
RETENRERE Cash flows from financing activities
(EhNFIECE Proceeds from borrowings 32(c) 4,896,706 1,605,068
BEER Repayments of borrowings 32(c) (3,687,593) (1,539,621)
BHE Interest paid (214,798) (235,496)
BfREER Financing expenses paid (46,187) (9,609)
EAGESENl Dividends paid to Company’s
shareholders 31 (289,322) (235,003)
ZREIR Changes in restricted cash (42,462) 211,165
W BE 72 B RESME Acquisition of additional interests
in a subsidiary (1,760) (26,000)
[F) FE 4% bl 4 AR 2 A~ SR Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests (14,714) (13,970)
{1 188 Repurchase of shares (200,697) S
HEBEINR Payments related to lease liabilities (4,673) (4,316)
RIR B AR R T B3 1T Proceeds from issue of shares
B& 15 FTiS 3K pursuant to share option scheme — 17,918
mMEERSEER, Net cash generated from/(used in)
(FTA)FRE financing activities 394,500 (229,864)
HeRRSEEYFE Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
GRA) /1 hn cash equivalents (620,931) 295,235
FURSMREEED Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of the year 24 1,640,081 1,349,836
HE MM EEWMEL % Exchange losses on cash and
cash equivalents 4,172) (4,990)
FRAESRBESEEY Cash and cash equivalents at end
of the year 24 1,014,978 1,640,081

A BRI B 2R e LA BT B i — B B

==
=N

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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BE-F-—4#+-A=1—HAUFE (SFELEARETIT(SIESHHS)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)
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1.

GENERAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

Tian Lun Gas Holdings Limited (formerly known as: China Tian Lun
Gas Holdings Limited) (the “Company”) was incorporated on 20
May 2010 in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law (2010
Revision) of the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with
limited liability. The Company is an investment holding company and
was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 10 November 2010.

The Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred
to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the engineering
construction service by providing residential, commercial and
industrial users with gas pipeline and infrastructure laying and
installation and transportation, distribution and sales of gases
including natural gas and compressed natural gas (“CNG”) and
production and sales of liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) in bulk and
in cylinders in certain cities of the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC™).

The address of the Company’s registered office is Windward 3,
Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman, KY1-1108,
Cayman Islands.

These consolidated financial statements have been approved for
issue by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2022.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB,
unless otherwise stated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

HE_FE_—F | _HA="1—HIFE (LHELBARETT(GIFEHSH))
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

2.1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all the
years presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial statements
are for the Group consisting of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
historical cost basis, as modified by the revaluation of financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and
financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(including derivative instruments), which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements,
are disclosed in Note 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BPCEC—F L A= —HIUFRE (RHEELBARETT(BIHESFHH))
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)
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2.

2.1
2.1.1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amended standards and revised
conceptual framework for the first time for their annual reporting
period commencing 1 January 2021:

° Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 — amendments
to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

The Group also elected to adopt the following amendments early:
o Annual Improvements to HKFRS Standards 2018-2020

Cycle,

o Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction — amendments to HKAS 12, and

° Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

These amendments listed above did not have any impact on the
amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.

2.1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.2 New standards and amendments not yet adopted by the Group

2.2
2.2.1

Certain new accounting standards, amendments to accounting
standards and interpretations have been published that are not
mandatory for 31 December 2021 reporting periods and have not
been early adopted by the Group. These standards, amendments or
interpretations are not expected to have a material impact on the
Group in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable
future transactions.

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which
the Group has control. The Group controls an entity where the Group
is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entities and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power to direct the activities of the entities. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business
combinations by the Group (refer to Note 2.3).

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are
shown separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated balance sheet respectively.

Tian Lun Gas Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021

109



B OB M SRR Y RE ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(continued)

2.2.2 Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control or joint control. This is generally the case
where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method
of accounting (see Note 2.2.4 below), after initially being recognised
at cost.

2.2.3 Joint arrangements

Under HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements investments in joint
arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint
ventures. The classification depends on the contractual rights and
obligations of each investor, rather than the legal structure of the
joint arrangement. The Group has joint ventures.

Joint ventures

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method
(see Note 2.2.4 below), after initially being recognised at cost in the
consolidated balance sheet.

2.2.4 Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially
recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit
or loss, and the Group’s share of movements in other comprehensive
income of the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends
received or receivable from associates and joint ventures are
recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment
equals or exceeds its interest in the entity, including any other
unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments
on behalf of the other entity.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(continued)

2.2.4 Equity method (continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
associates and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity-accounted
investees have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for
impairment in accordance with the policy described in Note 2.10.

2.2.5 Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do
not result in loss of control as transactions with equity owners of
the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment
between the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling
interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling
interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised in a
separate reserve within equity attributable to owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an
investment because of a loss of control, joint control or significant
influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair
value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss.
This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit
or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRS.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T -G H=+—HIIFE (2FELBARETIT(HIESEZHH))
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2.

2.2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)

2.2.5 Changes in ownership interests (continued)

2.3

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate is
reduced but joint control or significant influence is retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where
appropriate.

Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all
business combinations, regardless of whether equity instruments
or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

° fair values of the assets transferred,

° liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired
business,

° equity interests issued by the Group,

o fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, and

° fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are, with limited exceptions,
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity
on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s
net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

EESTTBEREE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

2.3

(#& POLICIES (continued)

¥BRast(E) Business combinations (continued)
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the acquired entity.

Over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded
as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the
net identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference is
recognised directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the
amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present value
as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing
could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable
terms and conditions. Contingent consideration is classified either
as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial
liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition
date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are recognised in
profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)
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2.

2.4

2.5

2.6
2.6.1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving dividends from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.
The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the executive directors of the Company that makes
strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB, which
is the Company'’s functional and presentation currency.

2.6.2 Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange
rates are generally recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. EESHERE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
(4&) POLICIES (continued)
2.6 HSNEFE(E) 2.6 Foreign currency translation (continued)
2.6.2 XEREEF(E) 2.6.2 Transactions and balances (continued)
fERiBmmiEaTt [HufE — % Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in profit or loss on a
B IR o net basis within “other gains — net”.
BARBEFENINEIEEE IR Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign
B HAAABEREHNEXK currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when
B BARBEIENEERAE the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and
B EBIERRABEFIEH liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value
BRO—EHHEw - fla0 - IEEEE gain or loss. For example, translation differences on non-monetary
MEEIEE(BIWAAREBER assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through
EHEBEHABEOEZR) (T profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value
EERIRARASBEFBMEBLX gain or loss and translation differences on non-monetary assets
B—E - IEEBHEE(HlaH such as equities classified as financial assets at fair value through
HANAABEFZEEEEHTA other comprehensive income are recognised in other comprehensive
HEMiFeanemEENER) income.
MITEZBRETEMES R
o
2.6.3 EF L F 2.6.3 Group companies
HEIse BB EAREE /S ®RE T The results and financial position of Group entities (none of which
B EEERMEE(EPRLE has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a
BUBRERRCENEE) MES functional currency different from the presentation currency are
M FEARRIZ AT 7R E B translated into the presentation currency as follows:
B
] EH3mMEERERAN . assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are
BENBEZRZEEARER translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance
AEMTIE R E sheet;
o BhEmRMEENERR . income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and
B U R AN B AR T e R statement of comprehensive income are translated at average
H(BRIFWMERIARER exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation
S A BEERNRFTHENS of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
B FUBERT WX transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are
HEERRSHEMNEXRH translated at the dates of the transactions); and
g &
. FrB It EERE R Z5EE . all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
AR E Was P iERR o comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T -G H=+—HIIFE (2FELBARETIT(HIESEZHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)
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2.

2.6

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

2.6.3 Group companies (continued)

2.7

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a
foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity
and translated at the closing rate. Currency translation differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of
the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as a
separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the reporting period
in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost, net of their residual values at a range of 0% - 5% of the
cost, over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

— Buildings 20-30 years
— Equipment and machinery 5-10 years
— Gas pipelines 16-30 years
— Office equipment and motor vehicles 3-8 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.10).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE—F_—F 1 _A=1—HIFE (LEELSARETIT(FHFSEHYA))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

2.7

2.8

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds
with carrying amount. These are included in profit or loss.

Construction-in-progress (“CIP"”) represents buildings, gas
pipelines and equipment and machinery under construction or
pending installation and is stated at cost. Cost includes the costs
of construction of buildings and costs of plant and machinery. No
provision for depreciation is made on CIP until such time as the
relevant assets are completed and ready for intended use. When the
assets concerned are brought into use, the costs are transferred to
property, plant and equipment and depreciated in accordance with
the policy as stated above.

Investment properties

Investment properties, principally freehold office buildings, are held
for rental yields and are not occupied by the Group. Investment
properties are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to write-
off the cost of the assets to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives of 25 years.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and
adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds
with carrying amounts. These are recorded within “other gains —
net” in profit or loss.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified
as property, plant and equipment, and its carrying amount at the
date of reclassification becomes its cost for accounting purposes.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)
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2.

2.8

2.9
(a)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties (continued)

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an investment
property because its use has changed, the transfer does not change
the carrying amount of the property transferred, nor does it change
the cost of that property for measurement or disclosure purposes.

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents the
excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquirees and the acquisition date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the acquirees over the fair
value of the identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is allocated to each of the cash-generating
units (“CGUs"), or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units to
which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the
entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential
impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill
is compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value
in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any impairment
is recognised immediately as an expense and is not subsequently
reversed.



2.9
(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

EZESTHEREBE
(&

m=

BILEE(E)

W BB AT R IR
0.7 B A B IS AR A
REENE FRD IR RAS
541 + I R AR 2 3 8 KR
ERTR () FIE - WORE SR
HE MR AN B S M A A T T £
IR (10-50 %) PO LA EARUAE AT
B -

BB
B AR B4 4F  RMA T
S AT M ML R
AR AA(LRTE - b SRAER
fisH AT G4 RPY (3.6 %) B3 -

EXBAHTBANEBRRD #H
BERABERNRAABEIIR -8
ARIR B AR R AT 38 KOR B 18
K(WEM) T E - BHREMAEH
ERFH25-30 FIABREAHE
PR X8 o

EF & RBEF
EXBattTBANEFARMBRER
BEBERANAAEBEIR BEFE
RIBEAREN A ERFES - Wi
FRAR R AT B SR IRR - BRI E
BREANBEREFBEEAAERSF
H(23 - 25F)stE - KFPARE
R AR FESHBEART L
ENEEREESEEBHENR
BEMERIRHE HORTE

B O R AR M ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

2.9
(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (continued)

Operating rights for city pipeline network and gas station

Operating rights for city pipeline network and gas station represent
the rights for distribution of gas in certain cities or districts in the
PRC, and are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses, if any. The cost incurred for the acquisition of
operating rights is capitalised and amortised on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives (10 - 50 years).

Computer software

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of
the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.
These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives (3 - 5
years).

Network

Network acquired in a business combination is the distribution
network of pipelined gas and is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. The network is carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses, if any. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate the cost over the estimated
lives of 25-30 years.

Contractual customer relationships

Contractual customer relationships acquired in a business
combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. The
contractual customer relations have a finite useful life and are carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives (23 -
25 years) which are determined by the length of the adjusted lengths
based on the existing sales contracts with its customers while taking
into account the possibility of renewals by the management.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

EZESTHEREBE
(&

m=

2.10 }EMEERE

2.11
2.11.1

ERASHTRENBENELEE
BEHEH  BEFETRENR -
HERAEMHHRABERE SR
BEHBURER - 1T E SRR ER
Ao Rt EENBEMHHERAER
SEFRRREEE A R OB
EITRERR - LEEREEER
HERWE SR & RERRER
Ko AJNEESBUNEENRAAREE
R HERAREREEMREZH
RnERE - NFERER  BE
12 P B AL Rl B IR & R AR SR
BR0#M ZHRERAREMBEE
SEEMAE (REELET) MRS
MARAKIZE BBILFA K o HERA
B FEREE (BERIN ERNE
118 o5 B3R 0 38 (L (B 0 P BE 1A
1TiRAT

RERHMEBMEE
b2E ]

AEBZATFEENESSREE
EITHRE

. BENAREBEFE(EH
FEAH MRS KRERIE
W NEREE - &

. NEBRKATEN T RE
= o

ZOBERNIREESHMEEN
EHEAURZEENARBEDR

B -

120 XARKEBRERAT 2021 EFEHS

2.

2.10

2.11
2.11.1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are
not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment,
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows
which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets (CGUs). Non-financial assets other than goodwill
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at the end of each reporting period.

Investments and other financial assets

Classification

the Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement
categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income or through profit or
loss), and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.
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2.

2.11
2111

2.11.2

2.11.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Classification (continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive income. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this
will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election
at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment
at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its
business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in
profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely
payment of principal and interest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

2.11.3 Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

Fair value through other comprehensive income: Assets that
are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income. Movements in
the carrying amount are taken through other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition of impairment gains or
losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses
which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial
asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss and recognised in “other gains —
net”. Interest income from these financial assets is included
in finance income using the effective interest rate method.
Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in “other
gains — net” and impairment expenses are presented as
administrative expenses in profit or loss.

Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not meet
the criteria for amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income are measured at fair value through
profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and presented net within “finance
expenses — net” in the period in which it arises.
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2.

2.11
2.11.3

2.11.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Measurement (continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair
value. Where the Group’s management has elected to present fair
value gains and losses on equity investments in other comprehensive
income, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value
gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of
the investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as other income when the Group’s right to
receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised in “other gains — net” in profit or
loss as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment
losses) on equity investments measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not reported separately from other
changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit
losses associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised
cost and fair value through other comprehensive income. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade and other receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime
losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables,
see Note 20 for further details.



2.

2.12

2.13

EZESTHEREBE

(&

KiEemIA

EARKE R ABEEAHITEN
ARHEEERASR YA BERF
RMEESESRARSREENGE
BER eREEHEAENEHE
o YEEHEEABRKRRSEF
B o AEBEERIN T AT A HEIHER
FEDAFERERER T (HI5H
ERA R L) BEHEFFENL
BEe

MBEREREN
BBRERS OREHRERSERA
&

HMAE -  AERVREQAE

e WEERRITRSEE

. BEAVBREERE IR
[EBMITAIBETHRIESR
BEEEENEE &

. ML RN ERE (E
R ImBERM B RELERE
1558 [RF & HWA L RAI
FERE RETUA o

MBERODAABERERERT
ATERNERXNERAETR
BN SR EH - SEE L
EEBRNE=TNETTRZME
MRS REZREMRERE °

BB E N R REE LR ERK
Hip YR B R EREARETS
ARH - AABEARASLELHE
R ERKAE D -

B Ot B R R ()
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

2.12

2.13

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the consolidated balance sheet where the Group currently
has a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously. The Group has also entered into
arrangements that do not meet the criteria for offsetting but still
allow for the related amounts to be set off in certain circumstances,
such as bankruptcy or the termination of a contract.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial liability
at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability is initially measured
at fair value and subsequently at the higher of:

° the amount determined in accordance with the expected
credit loss model under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments; and

° the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance with
the principles of HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based on the
present value of the difference in cash flows between the contractual
payments required under the debt instrument and the payments that
would be required without the guarantee, or the estimated amount
that would be payable to a third party for assuming the obligations.

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables of associates
or joint ventures are provided for no compensation, the fair values
are accounted for as contributions and recognised as part of the cost
of the investment.
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2.

2.14

2.15

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured
to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the
fair value of any derivative instrument are recognised immediately in
profit or loss, including in “other gains — net ”.

Inventories

Inventories, including materials for gas pipelines and consumables
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of
inventories are determined using the weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make
the sell.

2.16 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or
services performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection of
trade and other receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified
as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at the amount of
consideration that is unconditional unless they contain significant
financing components, when they are recognised at fair value. The
Group holds the trade and other receivables with the objective to
collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
See Note 2.11 for further information about the Group’s accounting
for trade receivables and Note 3.1(b) for a description of the Group’s
impairment policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

HE_FE_—F | _HA="1—HIFE (LHELBARETT(GIFEHSH))
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

2.17

2.18

2.19

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less, that are convertible
to known amounts of cash and while are subject to an insignificant
risk.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity
as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s equity
instruments, for example as the result of a share buy-back or a share-
based payment plan, the consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from
equity attributable to the owners of the Company as treasury shares
until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such ordinary
shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net
of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the
related income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the
owners of the Company.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have
been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers.
Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is
due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of
the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
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2.

2.20

2.21

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised
cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it
relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Borrowings costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Borrowing costs include interest expense and finance charges to the
extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

2.22

2.22.1

2.22.2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on
the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable income
tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax
assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to
unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax
laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period in the countries where the Group’s entities operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if
they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income
tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax
rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by
the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income
tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary
differences and losses.
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2.

2.22
2.22.2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Current and deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable temporary
differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, except for deferred income tax liability where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled
by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally the Group is unable
to control the reversal of the temporary difference for associates
and joint ventures. Only when there is an agreement in place that
gives the Group the ability to control the reversal of the temporary
difference in the foreseeable future, deferred tax liability in relation
to taxable temporary differences arising from the associates’ and
joint ventures’ undistributed profits is not recognised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when
the deferred taxes balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a
legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to
the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

HE_FE_—F | _HA="1—HIFE (LHELBARETT(GIFEHSH))
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.23
(a)

(b)

2.24
(a)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits

Pension obligations

The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC contribute on a monthly basis
to various defined contribution retirement schemes managed by the
PRC Government. The contributions to the schemes are charged
to profit or loss as and when incurred. The Group’s obligations are
determined at a certain percentage of the salaries of the employees.

Housing fund and other benefits

All full-time employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
entitled to participate in various government-sponsored housing
and other benefits funds. The Group contributes on a monthly basis
to these funds based on certain percentages of the salaries of the
employees. The Group’s liability in respect of these funds is limited
to the contributions payable in each period.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation
plan, under which the entity receives services from employees as
consideration for equity instruments (options) of the Group. The fair
value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant
of the options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be
expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the options
granted:

° including any market performance conditions (for example, an
entity’s share price);
o excluding the impact of any service and non-market

performance vesting conditions (for example, profitability,
sales growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity
over a specified time period); and

o including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for

example, the requirement for employees to save or holding
shares for a specified period of time).
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2.

2.24
(a)

(b)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the
service conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original
estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment
to equity.

In addition, in some circumstances employees may provide services
in advance of the grant date and therefore the grant date fair value
is estimated for the purposes of recognising the expense during the
period between service commencement period and grant date.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The
proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs
are credited to share capital (and share premium).

Share-based payment transactions among Group entities

The grant by the Company of options over its equity instruments to
the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the Group is treated as
a capital contribution. The fair value of employee services received,
measured by reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised
over the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity in the parent
entity accounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

2.25

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

The Group derives its revenue primarily from sales of gas and
engineering construction service. Revenue is recognised when or as
the control of the goods or services is transferred to the customer.
Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws applicable,
control of the goods and services may be transferred over time or at a
point in time. Control of the goods or services is transferred over time
if the Group’s performance:

° provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer; or

o creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the Group performs; or

° do not create an asset with an alternative use of the Group

and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If control of the goods and services transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract by reference to
the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the goods and services.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation is measured based on the Group’s efforts or inputs to
the satisfaction of the performance obligation, by reference to
the contract costs incurred up to the end of reporting period as a
percentage of total estimated costs for each contract.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received

or receivable, and represents amount receivable for the goods and
services transferred to the customers stated net of value added taxes.
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2.

2.25

(a)

(b)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue is recognised when specific criteria have been met for the
Group’s activity described below:

Engineering construction service

Revenue in respect of the engineering construction service, including
gas pipeline connection and engineering construction, is recognised
over time, by reference to completion of the specific transaction
using input method which recognises revenue using costs incurred
relative to total estimated costs to determine the extent of progress
toward completion. The Group recognises revenue over time only if it
can reasonably measure its progress toward complete satisfaction of
the performance obligation. However, if the Group cannot reasonably
measure the outcome but expects to recover the costs incurred in
satisfying the performance obligation, then it recognises revenue to
the extent of the costs incurred.

Estimates of revenues, costs or extent of progress toward completion
are revised if circumstances change. Any resulting increases or
decreases in estimated revenue or costs are reflected in profit or loss
in the period which the circumstances that give rise to the revision
become known by management.

The customers are required to pay in advance for certain contract
amount based on a payment schedule. If the services rendered by
the Group exceed the payment, a contract asset is recognised. If
the payment exceeds the services rendered, a contract liability is
recognised.

Sale of gases

Revenue from the sale of gases, including pipelined gases, CNG and
LNG, are recognised at the point of time when control is transferred
to the customer, which generally coincides with the time when the
gas is delivered to customers and title has passed, and is based
on the gas consumption derived from metre readings. Payment of
the transaction price is due immediately at the point the customer
consumes the gas. Payments received in advance that are related
to sales of natural gas not yet delivered are recognised as contract
liabilities and deferred in the consolidated balance sheet.
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2.26.1

2.26.2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Rental income

Rental income from investment properties is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the leases.

Service income

Service income represents income from engineering and consulting
services provided to customers and is recognised when services are
rendered.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

° the profit attributable to owners of the Company, excluding
any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares;

° by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus
elements in ordinary shares issued during the year and
excluding treasury shares.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the
determination of basic earnings per share to take into account:

° the after income tax effect of interest and other financing
costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares, and

° the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares

that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of
all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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2.

2.27

2.28

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Dividend income

Dividends are received from financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends are recognised as
other income in profit or loss when the right to receive payment is
established. This applies even if they are paid out of pre-acquisition
profits, unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of
the cost of an investment. In this case, the dividend is recognised in
other comprehensive income if it relates to an investment measured
at fair value through other comprehensive income. However, the
investment may need to be tested for impairment as a consequence.

Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by
the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and
non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices.
However, for leases of real estate for which the Group is a lessee,
it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease components and
instead accounts for these as a single lease component.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased
assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

HE_FE_—F | _HA="1—HIFE (LHELBARETT(GIFEHSH))
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

2.28

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a
present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of
the following lease payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less
any lease incentives receivable;
° variable lease payment that are based on an index or a

rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is
generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.
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2.

2.28

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

° where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third party financing
was received;

° uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest
rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the Group,
which does not have recent third-party financing; and

° makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country,
currency and security.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease
payments based on an index or rate, which are not included in the
lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease
payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is
reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost.
The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so
as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:
o the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;
° any lease payments made at or before the commencement

date less any lease incentives received;

o any initial direct costs; and
° restoration costs.
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2.29

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group leases lands. All land in the PRC is state-owned or
collectively-owned and no individual land ownership exists. The
Group acquires the right to use certain land. The premiums paid for
such right are treated as prepayment for the lease and recognised as
right-of-use assets.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the
asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-
of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and
vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases
are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets
comprise small items of office furniture.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is
recognised in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term (Note
16). Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset and recognised
as expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease income.
The respective leased assets are included in the balance sheet based
on their nature.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and
the Group will comply with all attached conditions.
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2.

2.29

2.30

2.31

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Government grants (continued)

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in
profit or loss over the period necessary to match them with the costs
that they are intended to compensate. Government grants relating to
property, plant and equipment are included in non-current liabilities
as deferred government grants and are credited to profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related assets.

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, financial assets at amortised cost and financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income calculated using the
effective interest method is recognised in profit or loss as part of
“finance expenses — net ".

Interest income is presented as finance income where it is earned
from financial assets that are held for cash management purposes,
see Note 10 below.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset except for financial
assets that subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-
impaired financial assets the effective interest rate is applied to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss
allowance).

Provisions

Provisions for legal claims and make good obligations are recognised
when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.
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2.32

2.33

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Provisions (continued)

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used
to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised
as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s
shareholders or directors, where appropriate.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the
amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes
to the consolidated financial statements. When a change in the
probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will
then be recognised as a provision.
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2.

2.33

3.1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets (continued)

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events
and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within
the control of the Group.

A contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements when an inflow of economic
benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset is
recognised.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market
risk (including foreign exchange risk, fair value interest rate risk and
cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by Group finance department under
the policies approved by the Board of Directors. Group finance
department identifies and evaluates financial risks in close co-
operation with the Group’s operating units. The board provides
written principles for overall risk management, as well as written
policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk,
interest rate risk, credit risk, and use of non-derivative and derivative
financial instruments, and investment of excess liquidity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3.

3.1

(a)
(i)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Market risk
Foreign exchange risk

The Group exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollar (“USD”)
and HK dollar (“HKD"). Foreign exchange risk arises when future
commercial transactions or recognised assets or liabilities are
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.
Management has set up a policy to require the Group companies to
manage their foreign exchange risk against their functional currency.
The Group companies may mitigate the foreign exchange risk through
entering into foreign exchange forward or cross-currency swap
contracts. See Note 23 for detail information.

As at 31 December 2021, if RMB had weakened/strengthened
by 1% (2020: 1%) against the USD with all other variables held
constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year then ended would
have been approximately RMB15,037,000 (2020: RMB4,376,000)
lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange losses/gains on
translation of USD-denominated bank borrowings, restricted cash,
cash and cash equivalents.

As at 31 December 2021, if RMB had weakened/strengthened
by 1% (2020: 1%) against the HKD with all other variables held
constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year then ended would
have been approximately RMB5,555,000 (2020: RMB17,963,000)
lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange losses/gains on
translation of HKD-denominated bank borrowings, restricted cash,
cash and cash equivalents.

Tian Lun Gas Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021

143



B OB M SRR Y RE ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T -G H=+—HIIFE (2FELBARETIT(HIESEZHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3.1

(a)
(i)

MEERRERE (&

BmBREE(E)

SR (E)

BB R AL BEFFRERE

A& E B F R BRI B 85K R RTT
T o OB RESEHERD
EEAZRESTRENERER - 215
ZERBRAIHIRZBFERFEHIR
TTEFRFTIEH LA EFIRESH
BREAEEEAZAAEBENER
o M _T-_—F+=ZA=+—
H AEEMNIBARERSE
B AR¥5,125,400,0000( =&
—Z % : AR %4,507,142,000
) BEMEEReEAARE
1,180,622,0000( =T = T &F :
AR 557,497,0007T) °

R-ZE-_—F+-A=+—H " ¥
FEFRMEROFIE LT TR
03%MATBEEMESRIFTE
Al ERETERATFDE A D 51
L/ n# AR % 15,376,000 70
(ZE=FHF : AR® 13,521,000
) BEEARFEFIRE RN
FlEBAEM AT o

NZEZ—F+ZA=+—H "
ReRBSFEYWHAB BRI
FRFELA THBRO03%MAMAE
Hi S ERFTE - FERHME
RATF D BIE M, SR HIAR
#3,045,000 (=2 ZFF : A
R#4,920,0007T) » HEEA R
FIT Bk B &0 1) 2 U0 A 3800 A BT
g( o

144 FGRIEBRERAT 2021 EFEHE

3.

3.1

(a)
(ii)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Market risk (continued)
Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from borrowings and bank
deposits. Borrowings obtained at variable rates expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk which is partially offset by cash held at
variable rates. Borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose the Group
to fair value interest rate risk. As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s
borrowings of RMB5,125,400,000 (2020: RMB4,507,142,000)
bore interest at variable rates and borrowings of RMB1,180,622,000
(2020: RMB557,497,000) at fixed rates.

As at 31 December 2021, if interest rates on borrowings at variable
rates had been 0.3% higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, profit before income tax for the year would have been
approximately RMB15,376,000 (2020: RMB13,521,000) lower/
higher, respectively, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest
expense on floating rate borrowings.

As at 31 December 2021, if interest rates on all interest-
bearing bank deposits within cash and cash equivalents had been
0.3% higher/lower with all other variables held constant, profit
before income tax for the year would have been approximately
RMB3,045,000 (2020: RMB4,920,000) higher/lower, respectively,
mainly as a result of higher/lower interest income earned.
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3.

3.1
(b)

(i)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk of the Group arise from cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash, trade and other receivables, contract assets, financial
guarantee contracts, financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income and at fair value through profit or loss. The
carrying amounts of these balances and financial guarantee contracts
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
these financial assets.

Risk management

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Management has a credit
policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored
on an on-going basis.

The Group generally requests advances from customers in relation
to the engineering construction service, and grants credit periods up
to two months to the customers in relation to the transportation and
sales of gases business. In circumstances of credit sales, to manage
the credit risk in respect of trade and other receivables, the Group
has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to customers with
appropriate credit history and the Group performs periodic credit
evaluations of its customers, and generally does not require collateral
from the customers on the outstanding balances.

Significant concentration of credit risk primarily arises when the
Group has significant exposure to individual customers. As at 31
December 2021, 44% (2020: 53%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group’s largest customer which is a joint venture of
the Group. The Group monitors the exposure to credit risk in respect
of the trade receivable due from its joint venture through exercising
influence over its financial and operating policy decisions and
reviewing its financial positions on a regular basis.
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3.

3.1

(b)
(ii)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group has the following types of financial assets that are subject
to the expected credit loss model:

° cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash;

° trade receivables;

° contract assets;

° other financial assets at amortised cost; and

° notes receivable at fair value through other comprehensive

income and amortised cost.

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, all of the
Group’s bank deposits are deposited in the major reputable financial
institutions in the PRC which management believes are of high credit
quality and do not expect any losses from non-performance by the
counterparties.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables and contract assets.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract
assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due. The contract assets relate to unbilled work
in progress and have substantially the same risk characteristics as
the trade receivables for the same types of contracts. The Group has
therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for trade receivables
are a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the contract
assets.
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(b)
(i)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales
and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within
this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current
and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting
the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. The Group has
identified the GDP and the national completion of investment in
fixed assets in which it sells its goods and services to be the most
relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates
based on expected changes in these factors.

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2021 and 31
December 2020 was determined as follows for both trade receivables
and contract assets:

In 2021, having considering the financial background and good
creditability of Henan Yutian New Energy Limited, the subsidiary
of joint venture of the Group, management assessed the credit risk
of trade receivables amounting to RMB310,451,000 and contract
assets amounting to RMB2,398,771,000 together and provided
for accumulated impairment losses amounting to RMB12,191,000
(2020:trade receivables amounting to RMB318,387,000 and
contract assets amounting to RMB1,120,224,000, accumulated
impairment losses RMB6,474,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BPCEC—F L A= —HIUFRE (RHEELBARETT(BIHESFHH))
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. MBEREE(E 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)
3.1 HBEBEEE) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) EHEREE) (b)  Credit risk (continued)
(i) EHEEHEEE) (i) Impairment of financial assets (continued)
JEWERF A A EE () Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)
TRETRTEBEAETEERY The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has
EUESRIEREEMNTERERE been recognized for trade receivables and contract asset under the
KEHER simplified approach:
-EUT  -FEMF WEEZF ZFEQRF MmENE @t
Less than
ZZ--%+ZA=1-H 31 December 2021 lyear 1lto2years 2to3years 3todyears Over4 years Total
EEERELE Expected loss rate 1.58% 15.07% 25.06% 86.09% 100.00%
RESE — RS Gross carrying amount —
(AREFT) trade receivables (RMB'000) 327,552 32,682 12,842 3,752 13,651 390,479
REEE — SREE Gross carrying amount —
(AREFT) contract assets (RMB'000) 26,366 = = = = 26,366
BXEEARETT) Loss allowance (RMB’000) 5,583 4,925 3,218 3,230 13,651 30,607
—EHUT —FEME WEERZF ZFRNE DOENE @5t
Less than
ZZZZFTZA=1—H 31 December 2020 lyear 1to2years 2to3years 3todyears Over4 years Total
EHERELE Expected loss rate 0.46% 11.07% 20.64% 56.50% 100.00%
FRAE — EKRN Gross carrying amount —
(AREFT) trade receivables (RMB'000) 232,931 16,216 24,404 6,682 7,319 287,552
FRAE —AREE Gross carrying amount —
(AR%TT) contract assets (RMB'000) 46,756 = = = = 46,756
BABEARSTR)  Loss allowance (RMB'000) 1,283 1,795 5,038 3,775 7,319 19,210
B NFAER R E & IR TE R - B Trade receivables and contract assets are written off when there is
WIERMEREERKSWIZHE - T no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no
GEARYEEBEANEZEEE reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the
WA EERNEEEKERETE failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and
RARZBE RAEHEITRE o a failure to make contractual payments.
FEW BRSNS R & ERREBRE Impairment losses on trade receivables and contract assets are
KEFEPIRAITRER - B8 presented as administrative expenses within operating profit.
B 2 Bz s 2 58T 0 AAB R Y Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited
BH - against the same line item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

MERREE (&) 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

BEEEE(E) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

=EHER () (b)  Credit risk (continued)

2REERE (&) (i) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

UK AT EM R 2@ EE Other financial assets at amortised cost

NS ENEMESREEE Other financial assets at amortised cost mainly include other

D OEEMERGIE o EA4 UG receivables. Other receivables is measured as either 12-month

HA+ @A EHERELAHEM expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit losses, depending

FEBNAEMEMEKRTE - AR
HURMR B MR R ERARES
eI

on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition.

R_ZE-—F+-_A=+—HEKZ= As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, other receivables
TFF+A=+—8 HME including security deposit, which were performing. The Group
WHIBFRBIERORES - A&EE believes the loss allowance for other receivable as a result of applying
RARAERERARRRAGTER the expected credit risk model was immaterial.

Hi TR BB TERX -

A BRI ARG B FIA NS (BB E
A BB AR MR A Wk HIEWK
ES
RZFB_—F+-A=+—Hk=
T_TFE+T_A=t—H TEE
WERBRRITALER(2RKE
19MKEE20) » T2HABEAFIR
THEBREERITANL - AEER
RTERARTROMELEKREE
Bk o

Notes receivable at fair value through other comprehensive income
and amortised cost

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, majority of
the notes receivable were bank acceptance bills (see Note 19 and
Note 20), which were accepted mainly by large state-owned banks
or national commercial banks. The Group believes that there is no
significant credit losses due to the default of these banks.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B E =AU EE (2BEAARKETFT(BRIESEHSE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. M¥EEREE(Z 3.

3.1 MBEBRRE) 3.1
(b) ERmEE(E) (b)
(i)~ EMEERME (F) (ii)

KK AT EFIA LB EE

AHZE)FI AR AR A Wk HIEK

Z5 (&)

AEERN  AREKESEEER
BRI A TR ABREF ¢

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Notes receivable at fair value through other comprehensive income
and amortised cost (continued)

During the year, the following losses were recognised in profit or loss
in relation to impaired financial assets:

=F=—F —F_FF
2021 2020
ARET T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
VERERI=ES Impairment losses
— EREREFRER — movement in loss allowance for
BERBKEBEEE trade receivables and contract assets 18,019 9,762
EmemEEMERL Impairment losses on other financial assets 11 9
SREEMAEREE  Net impairment losses on financial and
BEEBKFEE contract assets 18,030 9,771

T —FE AABHRE
moARE s AEBZETARE
905,000 T (—E-T4F : &) HE
Yazkog -

AEBER—RGEEFREHMGE
R BREARBRNSABRORER
HRREEE - FERMIEE36(e)

AEEBEHMBRERAOKIEE
EERAE-
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For the year ended in 31 December 2021, the Group written
off trade receivables of RMB905,000 as there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery (2020: Nil).

The Group granted financial guarantees to a joint venture with
maximum exposure to credit risk as the carrying amount of the loans,
see Note 36(e) for details.

The Group expects that no material liabilities will arise from the
financial guarantee contracts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3.

3.1
(c)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Liquidity risk

To manage the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a
level of undrawn borrowing facilities and cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations, mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows, and
meet its financial obligations when they fall due. The Group expects
to fund its future cash flow needs through internally generated cash
flows from operations, borrowings from financial institutions, as well
as equity financing through shareholders when necessary. The Group
also reviews the utilisation of borrowings and ensures the compliance
of loan covenants.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date.
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted
cash flows.

—EBR -FEME WEERE RENE
piy-] Group Less than Between Between
1 year 1 and 2 years 2 and 5 years Over 5 years
ARETT ARETT ARETT AR¥ETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
R=Z=-£+-B=+-H At 31 December 2021
RITEER Bank borrowings 2,269,837 2,063,053 2,380,556 90,726
HinfEsn Other borrowings 494 489 1,442 4,309
HEAE Lease liabilities 3,195 2,510 3,624 2,638
EREZREMEFZ  Trade and other payables? 1,146,521 = = =
URREBETEEESES  Financial liabilities at fair value
SAEHEZZEBEE  through profit or loss 24,598 12,072 2,617 =
PRERER Financial guarantee contracts 241,700 = = =
FOTETEEE Total financial liabilities 3,686,345 2,078,124 2,388,239 97,673
MZZZZF+-F=1—H At 31 December 2020
SRITIE Bank borrowings 2,312,912 1,902,997 905,635 91,736
Etbfas Other borrowings 137,931 469 1,365 2,743
HEARE Lease liabilities 4,276 2,087 2,49 428
EREZTREMEFSZ  Trade and other payables” 1,135,546 = = =
IAREBEFEAEES  Financial liabilities at fair value
STAREBEZEBAE  through profit or loss 8,070 15,241 7,134 =
SRIERER Financial guarantee contracts 246,000 = = -
FTETARE Total financial liabilities 3,844,735 1,920,794 916,630 94,907

& FEAS AR R B At FE A SR B FE7E
BiFE 28 R EA RN IR - &
RHERSR - FEATERESE )T 3R - B
N EHE  BAFEREAM
FERIER

e Trade and other payables include notes payables, trade payables,
amounts due to related parties, contingent considerations, interest
payables and other payables as stated in Note 28.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BZ_FE_—F 1 _H=1—HIFE (LHELBARETIT(BRISFHH))
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. UHRREMER(E) 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.2 EXRER 3.2 Capital management
AEBHEAEREE  2RES The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
BB LE - LARRIRERE R Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
MAEMF=ERERENZE - @A returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
RS RENEREBUREER maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
PR o
BTHRRSNABRERER  A5E In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
e AR N TRENRAEK adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital
B MREREERN - BITHARK to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

HEEENRIEET -

BN E AR — i - AEEFIR Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital
EXRBEEERAGARER - I risk on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as
bb R RBAE B IF RERR LA & NG net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total
B EBRFBRBEN(BEAM borrowings (including “current and non-current borrowings” as shown
BEERBXRMAIN [RBKLIERD in the consolidated balance sheet) add lease liabilities less cash and
BRI EEEEEREREMIER cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown
SEEY BEXRER =] (WE in the consolidated balance sheet plus net debt. The Group aims to
HEEBBRMY)) MEBKFE - maintain the gearing ratio at a reasonable level.

AEEFNBERABLRERE
BEAKE -

RZEZ—F+ZHA=+—Bk= The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020
E-TFF+_A=+—H ' EX&E were as follows:
BELEQNT
R+=-—A=+—H~
As at 31 December
—EC—F —E-FF
2021 2020
AR¥ET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000

BER(ME29) Borrowings (Note 29) 6,306,022 5,064,639
fﬁf%ﬁ(ﬂﬁ? 14) Lease Liabilities (Note 14) 9,974 8,202
S IREMIBESZEEY  Less:cash and cash equivalents (Note 24)

(M7 24) (1,014,978) (1,640,081)
(B Net debt 5,301,018 3,432,760
PrER Total equity 5,528,374 4,980,287
48E A Total capital 10,829,392 8,413,047
BEREELE Gearing ratio 49% 41%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3.

3.3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instruments carried at
fair value as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 by level
of the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value.
Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair value
hierarchy as follows:

o Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (level 1).
° Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that

are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is,
as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B E A= —HIFE (2EELBARETFT(BIESEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. BiRRERE (& 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)
3.3 DAREEMRF(E) 3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

TRETAEBRE_T - —F+=
A=+T—BRAARBEAENEE

The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities that
are measured at fair value at 31 December 2021.

METE -
F1E E2E BIE @5t
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
AR¥TR AR¥TR AR¥TR AR¥ETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BE Assets

NanfEEstERE
BETARMERS

Financial assets at fair value
through other

WaEr S REE comprehensive income
— MEITEIELT  — Unlisted equity securities
B E S in gas industry = 72,600 72,600

— RUEE — Notes receivable = 6,747 6,747
a&t Subtotal — 79,347 79,347
AREEFEBE  Financial assets at fair value

et NE A through profit or loss

BEMeREE

— IMNETH — Forward exchange = 9,018 9,018

instrument

— RITEMER — Bank financial products — 30,000 30,000
= Subtotal — 39,018 39,018
HEE Total assets — 118,365 118,365
=L Liabilities
HAb R Other payables

— B EE — Contingent consideration = 180,700 180,700

— SNETH — Forward exchange instrument — 39,287 39,287
“weE Total liabilities — 219,987 219,987
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. BBRKREE(E) 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.3 QAREEMREE) 3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
TRERMEEE_ZTF+= The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities that
A=+ HERAABEFENEE are measured at fair value at 31 December 2020.

MEE -
F1 £2 £3 HBET
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
AREFT AREFT AREFTT AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
BE Assets
’&fﬂﬁfﬁﬁriﬂﬁ Financial assets at fair value
STAEMERS through other
H&?ﬁﬁ’\]ﬁﬁﬁﬁ% comprehensive income
— MEITEIELT  — Unlisted equity securities
EREH in gas industry = == 61,500 61,500
— EUWER — Notes receivable = = 27,083 27,083
MmEE Total assets = = 88,583 88,583
afE Liabilities
HALRER5R Other payables
—HEYHE — Contingent consideration — = 111,708 111,708
—NETE — Forward exchange instrument — — 30,445 30,445
HmaE Total liabilities — — 142,153 142,153
FHNEL 2 - 3E2HAWBmE(TE There were no transfers among levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year.
1 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T -G H=+—HIIFE (2FELBARETIT(HIESEZHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3.3
(a)

(b)

(c)

MEERRERE (&

DRBEME ()

*EE1EALH TR
HEEREMSEENESRTANQR
BERBEEABEXRANTSRE
5B o & WRE AT BNE FITE AR5 5
R X558 8L EAA
T EERBEXREEREES
MZEFRERREDFRZELER
TMERNERTISXHE - &M
BHRAAER -  AERERAN TR
BENMSHREREHETRE -
HETAINAELE -

EE2EANZHMITA
REEEBRTHSEENERTA
(FIanssoMTETR) AR BER
REERNEE - HERTEREN
RABETSRE(WE)  BED
R LR EME - WETE—2
MTENAARBEMBOMEEXN
BARABREE  AZEmMTA
FINE2E -

HEEIEBALHTA
W—IAZIAE KR AL IFRIEA]
BREmSEE - ZeRTAIA
FIE - AUBESBRTANET
HERMARERITRDMN

156 XGRFEBRERAT 2021EFEHS

3.

3.3
(a)

(b)

(c)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

Fair value estimation (continued)

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is
based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. A market
is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing
service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and
regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The
quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is
the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by
using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise
the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as
little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs
required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is
included in level 2.

Financial instruments in level 3

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable
market data, the instrument is included in level 3. The valuation
technique used to value the financial instrument is discounted cash
flow analysis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. MBEBRER(E 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.3 QAREEMFE) 3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(c) HEFIEAWEMIA(E) (c)  Financial instruments in level 3 (continued)
TRBEREBEE_ZTE=_—F+=A The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments for
—t+t—HILEFEFEIEERMIAN the year ended 31 December 2021.

RATER Ftm
B EREF REHE EHEE HNEIR by
Bank Unlisted Forward
financial equity  Contingent Notes exchange
products”  securities  consideration receivable  instrument Total

AR®FRT  ARMTR AREMTR ARETR ARBTR AR%Tx
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ida = Balance at 1 January - 61,500 (111,708) 27,083 (30,445) (53,570)
WEEF AR (M7E35) Acquisition of subsidiaries

(Note 35) — — (143,660) = = (143,660)
g Additions 30,010 - - 182,592 — 212,602
STABROAAEEES  Changes in fair value

recognised in profit or loss — — 54,303 (1,993) (16,813) 35,497
EREWRAWEENERNE  Net gains transfer to other

comprehensive income — 11,100 — — — 11,100
RE Disposals (10) - - (200,935) - (200,945)
REXH Cash paid - - 20,365 - 16,989 37,354
W+=A=1+—-H Balance at 31 December 30,000 72,600 (180,700) 6,747 (30,269) (101,622)
g ERRESBEBIHN —HH - 0 As part of cash management activity, the Group purchases short-term

REBEEE3I0RAE RS bank financial product with maturity date within 30 days.

EHEmM °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B E A= —HIFE (2EELBARETFT(BIESEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. MBEBRER(E 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.3 QAREEMFE) 3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(c) HEFIEAWEMIA(E) (c)  Financial instruments in level 3 (continued)
TRBEREBEEZE-_Z-_ZF+=A The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments for
—t+t—HILEFEFEIEERMIAN the year ended 31 December 2020.

RITEY FLm
Em  REEF HEHE YRR SMETE &t
Bank Unlisted Forward

financial equity  Contingent Notes exchange

products”  securities  consideration receivable  instrument Total

ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARMT:R
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ida = Balance at 1 January — 79,746 (138,128) 50,602 — (7,780)
WEFAR Acquisition of subsidiaries = = (14,756) = = (14,756)
bip Additions 3,670,000 — — 246,262 — 3,816,262
SABRNAAEEEE  Changes in fair value

recognised in profit or loss 5,680 = 8,480 (2,691) (30,445) (18,976)
BREMGAINGENFER  Net losses transfer to other

comprehensive income — (18,246) — — — (18,246)
RE Disposals (3,575,680) — — (267,090) —  (3,842,770)
ReXf Cash paid — — 32,696 — — 32,696
W=A=+—8H Balance at 31 December — 61,500 (111,708) 27,083 (30,445) (53,570)
® ERRSER TN —BH 0 As part of cash management activity, the Group purchases short-term

AEBEEEIHAKIEIOKR bank financial product with maturity date vary from 3 to 30 days.

EVERRIR A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE—F_—F 1 _A=1—HIFE (LEELSARETIT(FHFSEHYA))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)
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4.

(a)

(b)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and judgements concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note
2.10. The recoverable amounts of CGUs have been determined based
on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of
estimates (Note 17).

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, the recoverable amounts
of the CGUs is not lower than the carrying amount even if taking into
account a reasonably possible change in key assumptions on the
calculations of recoverable amounts of CGUs.

Income taxes

The Group’s subsidiaries that operate in the PRC are subject
to corporate income tax in the PRC. Significant judgement is
required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based
on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.
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BE-T -G H=+—HIIFE (2FELBARETIT(HIESEZHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

(b)

(c)
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4.

(b)

(c)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Income taxes (continued)

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary differences
and tax losses are recognised as management considers it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such differences
will impact the recognition of deferred income tax assets and income
tax expense in the period in which such estimate is changed.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except that the temporary differences
arise from the initial recognition of goodwill, or arise from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

Purchase price allocation for business combinations
other than common control combinations

Accounting for business combinations requires the Group to allocate
the cost of the acquisition to the specific assets acquired and
liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the date
of acquisition. The Group undertakes a process to identify all assets
and liabilities acquired, including any identified intangible assets
where appropriate. The judgements made in identifying all acquired
assets, determining the estimated fair value assigned to each class
of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, as well as assets useful
lives, may materially impact the Group’s financial position and
results of operation. In determining the fair values of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed, valuations were conducted
by an independent valuer and estimated fair values are based on
information available near the acquisition date and on expectations
and assumptions that have been deemed reasonable by management.
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4.

(d)

(e)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Useful life and residual value of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are depreciated
or amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives, after taking into account the estimated residual value. The
Group assesses annually the residual value and the useful life of
the property, plant and equipment and intangible assets and if the
expectation differs from the original estimates, such differences from
the original estimates will impact the depreciation or amortisation
charges in the year in which the estimates change.

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on assumptions
about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses
judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs
to the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past history,
existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at
the end of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and
inputs used are disclosed in the tables in Note 3.1(b).
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BZ_FE_—F 1 _H=1—HIFE (LHELBARETIT(BRISFHH))
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based on
the reports reviewed by the senior executive management team on
monthly basis that are used to make strategic decisions.

The senior executive management team considers the business from
a “product” perspective only, as geographically all the products are
provided within the PRC, which is considered as one geographic
location with similar risks and returns.

The reportable segments derive their revenue and profit primarily
from sales of natural gas in cylinders, sales of natural gas in bulk
and engineering construction services.

The senior executive management reviews business performance
according to the types of end-users who use its products. For sales
made to residential customers, industrial and commercial customers,
and transportation customers is classified as sales of natural gas in
cylinders; whereas for sales made to city gas enterprise customers
for direct supply and wholesale purpose, and gas source trading
customers is classified as sales of natural gas in bulk. The revenue
from rental income of investment properties, value-added business
and other miscellaneous income, has been reviewed by the senior
executive management team, and its results are included in the “all
other segments”.

The senior executive management team assesses performance of
the operating segments based on segment results which represent
the profit before taxation earned by each segment without allocation
of other income, other gains — net, finance expense — net, share
of results of associates and a joint venture, unallocated corporate
expenses such as central administration costs and directors’ salaries.

The Group does not allocate assets and liabilities to its segments, as
the senior executive management team do not use these information
to allocate resources to or evaluate the performance of operating
segment. Therefore, the Group does not report a measure of segment
assets and liabilities for each reportable segment.
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BE—F_—F 1 _A=1—HIFE (LEELSARETIT(FHFSEHYA))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

DEER(E

BE_T_—Ft+-A=t—HL
FE  AREDHRASRITHRE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The segment information provided to the senior executive
management team for the reportable segments for the year ended 31

BERHNSEERDT December 2021 is as follows:
AR XRE  IRRE FiE
BEEH  BEER kg% HeaE  SBEHS FSA a5t
Sales of Sales of  Engineering
natural gas  natural gas  construction All other Inter-segment
in cylinders in bulk services  segments  elimination  Unallocated Total
ARETR ARETR ARETn ARETR AR%Tn ARETR AR%Tx
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
BPA Total revenue 4,089,670 1,027,268 2,221,512 580,330  (268,435) — 7,650,345
DHEMA Inter-segment revenue = = — 268435  (268,435) - -
RERIMEFEMA External revenue 4,089,670 1,027,268 2,221,512 311,895 — — 7,650,345
MRS Timing of revenue recognition
EE-BE At a point in time 4,089,670 1,027,268 - 309,212 - —  5426,150
BN QOver time — — 2,221,512 2,683 - — 2,224,195
eyl Segment profit 415,607 81,085 881,344 131,402 - — 1,509,438
KOHER Unallocated expenses (23,222)  (23,222)
e Other income 15,485 15,485
EtFE — 58 Other gains — net 99,409 99,409
FE il Operating profit 1,601,110
YHER — 38 Finance expenses — net (228,053)  (228,053)
EiEBERTR Share of results of
REGERE associates and

a joint venture

BEERARE Profit before income tax
FIEHER Income tax expense
REFE Profit for the year

(10,253)  (10,253)

1,362,804

(334,690)  (334,690)

1,028,114
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BE-T -G H=+—HIIFE (2FELBARETIT(HIESEZHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

5. DEEE(E 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
HEZ-_FTF+-_A=+—AH1t The segment information provided to the senior executive
FE - A REIBRAESRITERE management team for the reportable segments for the year ended 31
BEERENDHBERT December 2020, is as follows:

pN AR TERE it
TEEH  HEER Bk EMOE  HHEYH A

Sales of Salesof  Engineering

p

e &t

h=)

natural gas  natural gas  construction All'other Inter-segment

in cylinders in bulk services  segments  elimination  Unallocated Total

ARETT ARBTR ARBTT ARETT AR%TR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000

B A Total revenue 3,060,829 673,844 2,549,683 229,541 (74,120) — 6,439,777
AHEBA Inter-segment revenue = = = 74120 (74,120) - -
RARMZPEMA External revenue 3,060,829 673,844 2,549,683 155,421 — — 6,439,777
ERMARER Timing of revenue recognition
EE-BE At a point in time 3,060,829 673,844 — 152,218 — — 3,886,891
E-BHER QOver time — — 2,549,683 3,203 — — 2,552,886
AERA Segment profit 385,136 49,994 1,028,549 82,547 — — 1,546,226
FORER Unallocated expenses (12,865  (12,865)
Eflhs Other income 9,828 9,828
HihFIE — 38 QOther gains — net 160,189 160,189
RERE Operating profit 1,703,378
YHER — 38 Finance expenses — net (239,123)  (239,123)
i3l Share of results of
ABDEEE associates and
a joint venture (45,880) (45,880)
BREEH AT Profit before income tax 1,418,375
FERER Income tax expense (354,702)  (354,702)
REFE Profit for the year 1,063,673
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BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The principal subsidiaries of the Company are domiciled in the PRC.
All the revenue from external customers are derived from the PRC,
and all the non-current assets are located in the PRC.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, revenue of
approximately RMB1,440,960,000, which is about 19% of the
Group’s total revenue, is derived from a single customer (2020:
RMB1,795,890,000, about 28%) (Note 36(b)). The revenue is
attributable to the engineering construction service and sales of
natural gas in bulk (2020: engineering construction service and sales
of natural gas in bulk).

The Group has recognised the following assets and liabilities related
to contracts with customers:

—B--F el 3

+=A=t-B +=A=+-H

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

AR¥ET T ARETIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

MEEREE Current contract assets 2,425,637 1,166,980

B BREE Less: Loss allowance (10,915) (5,252)

EREERSE Total contract assets 2,414,722 1,161,728
aRaE Contract liabilities

TRZENER% Engineering construction service 421,586 346,172

AARTEEH Sales of natural gas in cylinders 167,280 107,508

RARIEBER Sales of natural gas in bulk 3,137 4,387

ARaERR Total contract liabilities 592,003 458,067
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B E A= —HIFE (2EELBARETFT(BIESEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

5. DBMER(E 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(i) COEIAHESRAEEBRHUY () Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities
A
FUMERBEEEFELKEER The following table shows the revenue recognised in the current
IWARERET ¢ reporting period related to carried-forward contract liability as of
January 1:
BE+-A=+—HILEE
Year ended 31 December
—EC—F —E-FF
2021 2020
ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
TRELZENRE Engineering construction service 290,431 305,355
AARETEE Sales of natural gas in cylinders 105,850 88,274
KIR AR EE 575 Sales of natural gas in bulk 4,387 21,577
400,668 415,206
6. Hfttlhz= 6. OTHER INCOME
BE+-A=1+—HLEFE
Year ended 31 December
—E_— —EFF
2021 2020
AR¥T T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
TRT 48 B Government grants in relation to
— MIEIRIE — Tax refund 2,914 3,114
— EMIREEENEE)  — Subsidies for local investment rewards
K E bt ED and other incentives 12,571 6,714
15,485 9,828
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BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

HiRE — HEE 7. OTHER GAINS — NET

BE+t-A=T—-HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—EC_—F —E-FF
2021 2020
ARET AREBT T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
BRETEE - WFEX  Gains on disposal of property,

RAEFIE (5E32(b))  plant and equipment (Note 32(b)) 425 3,281
e MEnE Penalty and overdue fines (3,419) (2,023)
SEHBARBMEESE) Changes in fair value of contingent consideration 54,303 8,480
HIE H W E Net foreign exchange gains 71,115 188,536
SNE T B8k Losses on forward exchange instrument (Note 23)

(FfizE23) (16,813) (30,445)
NARBEFZEER Disposal losses of notes receivable

BT AHMSRE measured at fair value through other

W B R R IR comprehensive income

MEEEX (1,993) (2,691)
Ei Others (4,209) (4,949)

99,409 160,189
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BE-T -G H=+—HIIFE (2FELBARETIT(HIESEZHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

8.

BUuEsBNEH 8.

EXPENSES BY NATURE

BE+t-A=T—-HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—EB=-—-F —TTF

2021 2020

ARET AREFTT

RMB’000 RMB’'000

FANRME &EES  Raw materials and consumables used 4,668,463 3,507,196
TEE - BEK Depreciation on property, plant and

BAEITE (HE15) equipment (Note 15) 190,704 163,350
R EETE Depreciation on investment properties (Note 16)

(fizx16) 2,670 3,025
I EES (BH5E17) Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 17) 123,706 97,502
BITwEMER(MTE9) Employee benefit expenses (Note 9) 281,923 204,825
FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 14)

(KtEx14) 10,893 11,789
WmEERELEE  Licensing fee for the exclusive operating rights

FHRE for city pipeline network 1,100 1,100
HE #2EMEFTEA Engagement of construction and design services 720,643 782,106
RiBE Transportation costs 6,019 6,833
ZIRE Travelling expenses 7,016 5,105
HIEE Maintenance costs 25,917 20,559
2 Gl Auditors’ remuneration

— ZEPRTE — Audit services 3,550 3,450
EEEH Professional expenses 10,081 5,455
EEER Advertising expenses 2,821 3,415
EBREE Entertainment expenses 12,471 11,840
PN =g Office expenses 15,369 16,756
He Taxes 25,393 21,743
BERERE Energy consumption 31,969 26,461
BB RS Net impairment loss 18,030 9,771
HE Miscellaneous 5,391 4,135
PHERA « D8N Total cost of sales, distribution expenses

1THEE BT and administrative expenses 6,164,129 4,906,416
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

B O R AR M ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE—F_—F+_A=+—HUFE (LHEELBARETIT(HFIZEHST))

BIEANEA 9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
BZE+-A=+—RHILLEE
Year ended 31 December
—B-—fF —ETF
2021 2020
ARET AREBT T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
T& KM Wages and salaries 215,449 172,858
BIREAAR — Pension costs — defined contribution plans (a)

HERITEE () 22,645 2,159
HERBEST Social security benefits costs 22,743 17,952
HYESH R Share options granted to directors — 950
Efb Others 21,086 10,906

281,923 204,825
HE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—H1 (a) Duringthe year ended 31 December 2021, no forfeited contributions

FE - AREILES R FR
MHIRAEEER( T _FFE
&)

R-ZE-—F+-_A=+—HIE
Al B AR A B S UL A HURI R 2K
HE(ZEZTEF+_A=+—:
) o

FRERAERRESHBNSREFTR
AR®E1,415000 (=% F
X AR¥527,0007T) °

were utilised by the Group to reduce its contributions for the current
year (2020: Nil).

No forfeited contribution was available to reduce future contributions
as at 31 December 2021( 31 December 2020: nil).

Contributions totalling RMB1,415,000 (2020: RMB527,000) were
payable to the fund at the year-end.
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P_E_—FF A= —HIEFE (2FRBURBARET T (HRIESFHA))
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(continued)

9. MIRAMER(#E 9.

(b) HNUBRSEFMAL (b)
BE—_E-—F+-_A=+—8H1

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were highest in the Group

FE AEBAMNERSFATERE
WEER(ZZ-TFFE : OF) o
ZEEENEE REMNHIFE39
FeoRZE—F+=ZA=+—H
HFE IR FHT—R(ZZE=
TEE  —F) ALHBESIT ¢

for the year ended 31 December 2021 included four (2020: four)
directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown in
Note 39. The emoluments payable to the remaining one individual
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: one) are as follows:

BE+-A=1+—HLFE

Year ended 31 December

—E-—F —ETF

2021 2020

ARBET T ARBET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

A 2L Basic salaries, and allowances 481 670
BRIREFIER Contribution to pension scheme — 7
481 677

ARAR EBALTHMEBRIATE

The emoluments of the above individuals fell within the following
bands:

BE+=-RA=1+—HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—EB—F —ETF
2021 2020
T Z®E 1,000,000t Nil to HKD1,000,000
(96 AR (approximate to RMB817,600)
817,6007T) 1 1

AEBTEODERSHA LN
EAIME - ERIMAREEHINA

5 Y B2 S BB A 18
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No emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid
individuals as inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

10. FINANCE EXPENSES — NET

BE+t-A=T—-HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—EB=-—-F —TTF
2021 2020
ARET AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
B s e Finance income
— RITEFRAERIT — Interest income from bank deposits
B EmAY and bank products
B U A (7,729) (11,228)
(7,729) (11,228)
BI7%5 & A Finance expenses
— BN EER — Interest expense on borrowings 242,916 260,550
— HEBEW — Interest expense on leasing liabilities
MEER 677 102
— HAty — Others 7,335 5,676
W BEREE Less: amounts capitalised on qualifying assets
B gER (15,146) (15,977)
235,782 250,351
228,053 239,123
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P_E_—FF A= —HIEFE (2FRBURBARET T (HRIESFHA))
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(a). FARKRE

RZFZ—FF+ZA=+t—H &

11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December

RAWFETF AR TREZS 2021:
AMAINER/ B8/ HEEN
£ BERAH EEERER AR Bi TERBAGEnY
Issued/
Country/Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
NS
(RMB'000)
URBRARAR ([UABR) iBERREE/ BRELAT 7 100%*  REBERESMH)
“TE-ELANR BRAR
Upsky Holdings Limited (“Upsky Holdings") BVl Limited liability company T 100%**  Intermediary holding
8 July 2003 company in BVI
KeFsRaRAF (KRR ) hEAE/ BRELAT = 100%  REERNBRAE
“T-ZERATH
Tian Lun New Energy Limited Hong Kong/ Limited liability company —* 100% Intermediary holding
(“Tian Lun New Energy") 10 May 2010 company in HK
BETARTERARAR (BRNER) @8/ BREMAR 15,000 100% RAERREBANRHE
“2-TERATER REREERRETRRR
Hebi Tian Lun New Energy Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 15,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Hebi New Energy”) 13 May 2010 gas, construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
AEARAREERRAT hE/ ERELAT 1,851,750 100%  RPERREERARHE
N ZERCET-A-A RS EERRAIRE
Henan Tian Lun Gas Group Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 1,851,750 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Henan Tian Lun Gas") 1 November 2002 gas, construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
BETAREARAERAT HE/ ERELAA 10,000 100%  RREEERERRR
([EExRER]) ZERETACTAR
Hebi Tian Lun Vehicle-use Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of CNG in the PRC

(“Hebi Tian Lun Vehicle”)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

—FA=1—HUFE (£FELBARETT(BIFSEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
HRELNER/ BB/ RERN
£ BHRAH EETREH AR B TEERNGERY
Issued/
Country/Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARBTT
(RMB'000)
FETARRRARAR ([FFEXR)) e/ BREEAT 135,000 100%  RREREREERASHE
ZEESENACTAR RREERRETERE
Xuchang Tian Lun Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 135,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Xuchang Tian Lun") 29 September 2003 gas, construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
FETARERRRARAR e/ BRELAR 10,000 100%  RREEERERAR
([FEXRER)) ZEZN\ENATIR
Xuchang Tian Lun Vehicle-use Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of CNG in the PRC
(“Kuchang Tian Lun Vehicle") 12 September 2008
BT LR RRAERAR nE/ EREEAR 15,000 90%  MERREERASHE
([ Heiktal) “ERHECATIR REREERRETRZE
Zhengzhou Shangjie Tian Lun Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 15,000 90% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Shangjie Tian Lun") 18 July 2007 gas, construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
AETARRARAR ([ HEAR)) e/ BRELAT 30,361 BI7%  MMERREERRIHE
ZREESATAR RASEERRATREE
Baiyin Natural Gas Limited (“Gansu Baiyin") ~ PRC/ Limited liability company 30,361 98.97% Sales of pipelined natural
16 June 2003 gas, construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
AEMERREARAR nE/ EREFAR 8,500 100%  RPEHERERAR
((a5ER) ZEENETATER
Baiyin Wantong Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 8,500 100% Sales of CNG in the PRC
(“Baiyin Wantong") 15 October 2009
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B E A= —HIFE (2EELBARETFT(BIESEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(a). FATKRE (&) 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
HRELNER/ BB/ RERN
£ BHRAH EETREH AR B TEERNGERY
Issued/
Country/Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARBTT
(RMB'000)
AR AREERERAT e/ BREEAT 140,000 100%  RREREREERASHE
(FE#E)) ZFERE-AC 1A RS EERRATRZ R
REERARHE
Jilin Zhongji Dadi Gas Group Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 140,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Jilin Zhongji") 25 March 2005 gas, construction and
connection of gas
pipelines and sales of
CNG in the PRC
amARRARAR ((hax)) e/ BREFAT 24,000 100%  REEEEEEAAR
“FTN\ELANR
Jiutai Dadi Gas Limited (“Jiutai Dadi") PRC/ Limited liability company 24,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
8 July 2008 gas in the PRC
ERmASMRARAR ([ER 1)) hE/ BREMAE 10,000 100% REHERERRAR
ZERETACTA BERAR
Panshi Dadi Gas Limited (“Panshi Dadi") PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
26 Qctober 2006 gas and CNG in the PRC
AEHASIRARAR ([RZA)) e/ ERELAA 12,000 100%  RPEHERERARR
ZZE\f-AZTAA EERAR
Da'an Dadi Gas Limited (“Da'an Dadi") PRC/ Limited liability company 12,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
25 January 2008 gas and CNG in the PRC
AHm AR ARERAA hE/ ERELAT 6,000 100%  ROEEEEERAR
(TamAs]) S e =
Baicheng Dadi Natural Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 6,000 100% Sales of CNG in the PRC

(“Baicheng Dadi")
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

HE_FE_—F | _HA="1—HIFE (LHELBARETT(GIFEHSH))
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

1. FRARIRE (&) 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
HRELNER/ BB/ RERN
£ BHRAH EETREH AR B TEERNGERY
Issued/
Country/Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARBTT
(RMB'000)
BEEMEERAA e/ BREEAT 16,000 100%  RPEEEEERAR
(TEEHLH) “EENENAZTR
Zhenlai County Dadi Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 16,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Zhenlai County Dadi") 30 September 2009 gas in the PRC
BREALRAERAR nE/ EREEAR 10,000 100%  RREHEEERAR
([EmEAD]) “ERRET-A=TH
Tongyu County Dadi Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Tongyu County Dadi") 30 November 2005 gas in the PRC
BEETRRIRAERAR P/ BREEAR 20,000 00%  RPERREERARHE
(15X ZERNET-ANA RAREERRETRZS
Puyang Tian Lun Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 20,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Puyang Tianlun") 9 November 2009 gas, construction and
connection of gas

pipelines in the PRC

TR ARARAR ([ HEA]) hE/ BREMAR 13,000 100% R HEEEARA
“ERCE-AtAA
Dunhua Dadi Gas Limited (“Dunhua Dadi") PRC/ Limited liability company 13,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
15 January 2007 gas in the PRC
LGS G UE R hE/ EREMAT 5,000 100%  RRERRIRRHR
([E#ASL]) “EE_E-ftH EiEl
Jilin Dadi Technology Consultancy Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 5,000 100% Engineering design and
(“Jilin Dadi") 7 March 2002 consulting services in
the PRC
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B E A= —HIFE (2EELBARETFT(BIESEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

1. FRARIRE (&) 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
HRELNER/ BB/ RERN
£ BHRAH EETREH AR B TEERNGERY
Issued/
Country/Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARBTT
(RMB'000)
SRS RIEERAA e/ BREMAR 10,000 100%  RPEREREERARHE
([#% xR ZE—£1-AZR RREERRETRRE
Xinye County Tian Lun Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Xinye Tian Lun") 2 November 2011 gas, construction and
connection of gas

pipelines in the PRC

MAGRRRERAA ((EER]) P/ BREMAA 33,330 100%  RERREBRARHE
“TEnE-AAR REREERRETIRZE
REBERARHE
Henan Luyuan Gas Limited (“Henan Luyuan") ~ PRC/ Limited liability company 33,330 100% Sales of pipelined natural
6 January 2005 gas, construction and
connection of gas

pipelines and sales
of CNG in the PRC

ERRNEEERALLT hE/ BREAAT - 100% BB RR IR
(T ) =+ Z2-\EBAZTI\R EERFARHE

Henan Boju New Energy Limited PRC/ Limited liability company — 100% Promotion and consulting
(“Henan Boju")*** 28 April 2018 services of new energy

technology in the PRC

BERRRRERAA ((HEHE]) hE/ EREFAT 41,000 100%  RPERREERARHEE
“E——FRAZTEA REREERRETRZR
Song County Tian Lun Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 41,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Henan Songgian”) 24 June 2011 gas, construction and
connection of gas

pipelines in the PRC

BEMGRERRARART hE/ EREMAT 1,060 100%  RREEERERAR
([ErgRER]) ZZERENAZTZER

Shanggiu Luyuan Vehicle Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 1,060 100% Sales of CNG in the PRC
(“Shanggiu Luyuan Vehicle") 22 August 2006
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE—F—

—FA=1—HUFE (£FELBARETT(BIFSEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
HRELNER/ BB/ KEEN
£ BHRAH EETREH AR B ITERACERY
Issued/
Country/Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARBTT
(RMB'000)
AOREREERAA (DRORE]) e/ BREMAR 13,500 100% M ERREEANRHE
“T—4-f5R RREERRETRRE
Dongkou Senbo Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 13,500 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Dongkou Senbo”) 6 January 2011 gas, construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
FHRARARARLA e/ BREMAR 30,000 100%  WPEREE Li?ﬁiﬁ%
([ ]) “ERMETAZTI\R REREERRETRZE
Kaifeng Xi'Na Natural Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 30,000 100% Sales of pipelmed natural
(“Kaifeng Xi'Na") 28 October 2004 gas, construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
BERRRAERAA e/ EREFAT 10,000 80% RPERREBRARHE
([E&HX]) “Z-ZERANR RAREERRETRES
Cao County Zhongtian Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 80% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Caoxian Zhongtian”) 9 May 2012 gas, construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
BERRMRERAR PE/ BREAAT 12,000 80%  iHE ﬂ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ’i
([EGR]) ZEEREMAZTLA RAREERRETRER
Shan County Zhongtian Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 12,000 80% Sales of p|pe|med natural
(“Shanxian Zhongtian") 27 April 2006 gas, construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
ERERARIRARAA P/ BREEAR 30,000 100%  RPEREBEERAREE
([BRXfR)) “E-Z£-A7A REREERRETRZR
Guangxi Luzhai Tianlun Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 30,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Luzhai Tianlun") 6 January 2012 gas, construction and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T -G H=+—HIIFE (2FELBARETIT(HIESEZHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

1@ FARIKRE (E) 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
HRELNER/ BB/ RERN
£ BHRAH EETREH AR B TEERNGERY
Issued/
Country/Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARBTT
(RMB'000)
HExhERERRAERAT £F/ BREAAT 10,500 0% REEHERERAR
(TFEXR)) ZE-CENA=T-H
Xingtai Tianlun Yunyu Vehicle Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 10,500 70% Sales of CNG in the PRC
(“Yingtai Tianlun") 31 May 2012
DRRRIRRERAT e/ BREFAT 30,000 100%  RREREEERARHE
(MERAR)) “T-CE+-R=1H RAREERRETRRE
Gulang Tianlun Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 30,000 100% Sales of pipelined natura\
(“Gulang Tianlun") 30 November 2012 gas, construction and
connection of gas

pipelines in the PRC

EMREEABIREARAT e/ BRELAT 10,000 0% REERERERRE
([EH&E]) ZE-CETCANRA RS
Jilin Changling County Tianlun Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 70% New energy technology
(“Changling Tianlun") 4 December 2013 development services in
the PRC
RREERAREZARAT P/ BREEAR 10,000 80%  PMERREERAAHE
(RAEL)) “EERERAZR RAREERRETRZS
Dongming Wanji Natural Gas Industrial Limited  PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 80% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Dongming Wanji") 3 June 2005 gas, construction and
connection of gas

pipelines in the PRC

HETERARAARAA nE/ EREEAR 30,000 100% W%EEL%%%*
(2R ]) ZRR_E-ACT0A RAREERRETRZE
Heze Guanghe Natural Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 30,000 100% Sales of p|pe|med natural
(“Heze Guanghe”) 24 January 2002 gas, construction and
connection of gas

pipelines in the PRC
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HEr—ZT—

—FA=1—HUFE (£FELBARETT(BIFSEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
HRELNER/ BB/ RERN
£ BHRAH EETREH AR B TEERNGERY
Issued/
Country/Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARBTT
(RMB'000)
EEERARRAARAR e/ BREEAT 10,000 100%  RPEREREERARHE
([EEER]) ZRCEt-ACT4A RREERRETRRE
Guangxi Guanyang Tianlun Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Guanyang Tianlun") 27 November 2013 gas, construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
P R X RERRRARAA e/ BRETAT 10,000 100%  RREEERERAR
([ HEER]) ZE-ZERATIA
Zhengzhou Shangjie Tianlun Vehicle Gas PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of CNG in the PRC
Limited (“Shangjie Tianlun Vehicle”) 18 April 2013
EHABRARARAR (28AR)) E/A BREAAT 159,380 100%  APERBIEHHR
“E-ZEZACIR ERl
Yunnan Datong Natural Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 159,380 100% Engineering design and
(“Yunnan Datong) 24 March 2013 consulting services in
the PRC
SEEARRRTARAA P/ BREEAR 37,380 00%  RPERREERARHE
([&2XR]) ZERtEFZACT-R RAREERRETRZS
Huize Datong Natural Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 37,380 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Huize Datong") 21 December 2007 gas; construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
EEABRARARAT e/ EREEAR 29,000 100%  RAERREERAAHE
([faEX#l) “ERNE-ATER REREERRETRRR
Gejiu Datong Natural Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 29,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural

(“Gejiu Datong")

15 January 2009

gas; construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
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E_F_—Ff A= AUFE (ERELBARETT(BISEHSA))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

1. F A BRE (&

11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
HRELNER/ BB/ RERN
£ BHRAH EETREH AR B TEERNGERY
Issued/
Country/Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARBTT
(RMB'000)
BREABANAARAR e/ BREEAT 33,000 100%  RPEREREERARHE
(IEmAE)) “E-ZENACH RREERRETRRE
Guangnan Datong Natural Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 33,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Guangnan Datong") 2 September 2010 gas; construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
ANERBRARERAT nE/ BREAAA 26,000 00%  RPERREERARHE
(rAnxal) ZE-ZEAAZTHA RREERRAIRY R
Hekou Datong Natural Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 26,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Hekou Datong") 24 September 2013 gas; construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
RUEABRATARAR P/ BREEAR 26,000 00%  RPERREERARHE
([RILARD) “2——%RA+A RAREERRETRZS
Yanshan Datong Natural Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 26,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Yanshan Datong”) 10 May 2011 gas; construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
HAABRARERAR e/ EREEAR 10,000 100%  RPERREERAAHE
(Xl “ZENENAZTAA REREERRETRZR
Honghe Datong Natural Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Honghe Datong") 25 August 2009 gas; construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
HRERRIRARAR ([FHEXR)]) hE/ ERELAT 10,000 100%  REEEEEEANR
ZE-CEEA=TR
Weishi Tianlun Gas Limited (“Weishi Tianlun") ~ PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
30 July 2013 gas in the PRC
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11a). FRARKRE (©2) 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
HRELNER/ BB/ RERN
£ BHRAH EETREH AR B TEERNGERY
Issued/
Country/Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARBTT
(RMB'000)
ENFRABIRERAA RE/ BREAAT 16,000 100%  KPERBIERHR
(X)) ZE-ZE/\AZ 17 e
Jilin Yitong Tianlun Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 16,000 100% Engineering design and
(“Yitong Tianlun”) 26 August 2013 consulting services in
the PRC
ERERARAR (EAER) hEEE/ BEREfFAT 610 100%  REBRERARRERZ
“F-ZFrAt=A
Hong Kong Xin Rong Limited (“HK Xin Rong”) ~ Hong Kong/ Limited liability company 610* 100% Trading of natural gas
13 June 2013 equipment in HK
IETHRERZEENTAR g/ EREFAR 30,000 90%  RIERREERAAHE
(s8] ZEE\ETATER RREERRAIRT R
Shantou Chaoyang District Minan PRC/ Limited liability company 30,000 90% Sales of pipelined natural
Pipelined Gas Limited (“Shantou Chaoyang”) 15 October 2008 gas; construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
NETHERRRRERAA P/ BREEAR 17,250 0%  MERREERARHE
(MlsEEs]) —hARERAZTHA RAREERRETRZS
Shantou Chenghai Gas Construction Limited ~ PRC/ Limited liability company 17250 90% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Shantou Chenghai") 24 June 1994 gas; construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
AMTERRRRARAT hE/ BREMAR 133,224 60% e %Eﬁﬁﬁiﬁ&
(R “T-TENARR REREERRETRZE
Chaozhou Huamao Energy Distribution Limited ~ PRC/ Limited liability company 133,224 60% Sales of p|pe|med natural

(“Chaozhou Huamao")

6 September 2010

gas; construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

P_E_—FF A= —HIEFE (2FRBURBARET T (HRIESFHA))
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11@. FARRE(E) 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
ERRINER/ 2%/ FERM
£ WERAY EEEERER 2 (e B ITEBNLEHY
Issued/
Country/Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARETT
(RMB'000)
ARREMRARAA([FRREE) w8/ BREEAT 10,000 100% RREREI R BB RS
“F-=F1A=1H
Tangyin Yuneng Gas Limited (“Tangyin Yuneng") PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Provision of designing service
30 May 2013 of gas pipelines in the PRC
ERtEERAT hEEE/ BRELAA 79¢ 100%  AESEARENEERE
([aits ) “E-REN\ARTR
Wah Shing Century Limited Hong Kong/ Limited liability company 79* 100% Investment in equity and
(“Wah Shing Century") 5 August 2014 assets in HK
FEREREERAA hE/ BREAAT 70,000 100% REERRRN R
([trAERE]) “E5NFRAZTZR
Beijing Tian Lun Investment Company Limited ~ PRC/ 23 May 2006 Limited liability company 70,000 100% Intermediary holding in
(“Beijing Tian Lun Investment”) the PRC
TERGRRERERAT hE/ BEREAE 265,411 90% RPEREMRREERER
([REHRER)) “EZ\EZAthA
Henan Tianlun Pipeline Company Limited PRC/ 19 February 2008 Limited liability company 265,411 90% Sales and transportation of
(“Tianlun Pipeling") gas in the PRC
HIEXRAERAR hE/ ERERAR — 100%  APERBRAREENR
(izllENaA) “E-N\EtA=R hagEHE
Xichuan Tianlun Gas Co., Ltd. PRC/ Limited liability company — 100% Sales of natural gas and
(“Xichuan Tianlun") 3July 2019 trading of natural gas

equipment in the PRC
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

1. FRARIRE (&) 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
HRELNER/ BB/ RERN
£ BHRAH EETREH AR B TEERNGERY
Issued/
Country/Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARBTT
(RMB'000)
SREERRERAA RE/ BREAAT 24,000 100%  RPERRMEHER
(=29 “T-Z§-ANA BEMREEREE
MREEIRER
Sanming Hui Ji Energy Company Limited PRC/ 9 January 2012 Limited liability company 24,000 100% Sales and transportation of
(“Sanming Huiji") gas,gas pipelines

connections in the PRC

SHXRRREBRRAR (SMAR]) e/ BREEAT 50,000 85%  AMPERERANERER
ZEE)EZ AR
Suzhou Tianlun Natural Gas Pipeline Network ~ PRC/ Limited liability company 50,000 85% Sales and transportation of
Company Limited 17 March 2008 gas in the PRC

(“Suzhou Tianlun")

BRETRRRRARAA e/ BREFAR 3,000 100%  RPERREERRRHE
([ExtE]) ZERRET-ATZH RMREERRATERR
Li Quan County Hong Yuan Natural Gas PRC/ 12 December 2005 Limited liability company 3,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
Company Limited (“Liquan Hongyuan") gas; construction and
connection of gas

pipelines in the PRC

GERRANRARAT e/ BREFAT 3,000 100%  RPEREEERARHE
:2-v5:4) ZEERENATIR REEERRETERE
Qian County Hong Yuan Natural Gas PRC/ 18 September 2006 Limited liability company 3,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
Company Limited (“Qianxian Hongyuan”) gas; construction and
connection of gas

pipelines in the PRC

EMEEARMRARAT hE/ BREMAR 19,000 100%  RPERREERARHE
([EH%EZ) Z5-ZFRAZT-A RREERRETERE
Jilin Qian'an Tianlun Gas Company Limited PRC/ 21 May 2010 Limited liability company 19,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Jilin Qian'an") gas; construction and
connection of gas

pipelines in the PRC
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T -G H=+—HIIFE (2FELBARETIT(HIESEZHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11a). FRARKRE (©2) 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
HRELNER/ BB/ RERN
£ BHRAH EETREH AR B TEERNGERY
Issued/
Country/Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARBTT
(RMB'000)
BEE AR RRRERAA e/ BREMAR 10,000 100%  RPEREREERARHE
(1) B RREERRETRRE
Fenghuang County Zhongyou Zhiyuan Gas PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
Company Limited (“Fenghuang Zhongyou") 31 March 2011 gas; construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
)| $RERARARELAA e/ BREMAR 30,000 100%  WPEREE Li?ﬁiﬁ%
([m)epE]) e REREERRETRZE
Sichuan Mingsheng Natural Gas PRC/ Limited liability company 30,000 100% Sales of pipelmed natural
Company Limited (“Sichuan Mingsheng") 20 December 2000 gas; construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
MNEERRARAREEAR) e/ EREFAT 39,800 100%  RPEREEERARHE
(T4 15ee% 1) “E-1ENA-R RAREERRETRY
Xichuan Longcheng Natural Gas PRC/ Limited liability company 39,800 100% Sales of pipelined natural
Company Limited (“Xichuan Longcheng") 1 September 2015 gas; construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
SETRIBEEERARARAT hE/ BRERAT 20,000 8%  iHE ﬁ%ﬁk%ﬁ%ﬁ’i
([#E%IEE) ZERHECATRA RAREERRETRER
Lechang Anshunda Pipeline Nature Gas PRC/ Limited liability company 20,000 85% Sales of p|pe|med natural
Company Limited (“Lechang Anshunda”) 15 February 2007 gas; construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
miE S EERBIRARAT hE/ BREEAR 51,145 00%  RPERREERAREE
([e2Mal) “MN=FLATZA REREERRETRYR
Sichuan Jintang County Tian Lun Gas PRC/ Limited liability company 51,145 100% Sales of pipelined natural
Company Limited (“Jintang Gas") 12 May 1993 gas; construction and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

1. FRARIRE (&) 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
HRELNER/ BB/ RERN
£ BHRAH EETREH AR B TEERNGERY
Issued/
Country/Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARBTT
(RMB'000)
BEREREERAA ([HEAR]) e/ BREEAT 1,081 100%  RPEREREERASHE
“E-+F-AZTZH RREERRETRRE
Nantong Tian Lun Gas Company Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 1,081 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Nantong Gas") 22 January 2017 gas; construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
SUmRRIRARAR ([&IXfR)) e/ BRETAT = 100%  RhERRMREEERE
ZE-tE-ATtA BEXH
Anshan City Tian Lun Gas Company Limited ~ PRC/ Limited liability company — 100% Construction and
(“Anshan Gas") 17 March 2017 maintenance of
gas pipelines in the PRC
REERERARARALAR PE/ EREEAR 10,000 100% Wﬂ%%*ﬁ‘d%ﬁiﬁﬁ
([RERE]) “T-ZEMAT/\A RMAEERRATERR
Wubu Changxing Natural Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of p|pe|med natural
(“Wubu Changxing”) 18 April 2012 gas; construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
MEERRRARAREEAR hE/ ERELAT 12,000 100%  HFE ﬂ%ﬁk%ﬁ%ﬁ
([RERE]) ZEEREMATIA RS EERRAIRE
Mizhi Changxing Natural Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 12,000 100% Sales of p|pe|med natural
(“Mizhi Changxing") 14 April 2006 gas; construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
LERGRASARAR e/ EREFAR 5,000 0%  RERRRREHENR
([ HERAE) “2-N\fFmAT-A MRRHBHE
Shanghai Tian Lun Natural Gas Limited PRC/ 11 April 2018 Limited liability company 5,000 70% Sales of natural gas and

(“Shanghai Natural Gas")

trading of natural gas
equipment in the PRC
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE_F_—Ff_H=+—HILFE (LEENBARETIT(FHEEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

1. FARRE (&)

11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
HRELNER/ BB/ RERN
£ BHRAH EETREH AR B TEERNGERY
Issued/
Country/Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARBTT
(RMB'000)
RFAEAREERAA e/ BREEAT 10,000 100%  RPEREREERARHE
([BFiEeRA)) ZE-ZE\AZ1R RAREERRETRER
Shijiazhaung Jinming Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural

(“Shijiazhuang Jinming") 20 August 2013 gas, construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC

MK REEZERARAR e/ BRETAT 10,000 5%  RERERREHEHE

(TmEs) Z5-\§Zh1-H

Sichuan Tian Lun Shuxin Clean Energy Limited  PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 51% Wholesales of natural gas
(“Sichuan Shuxin”) 11 February 2018 inthe PRC
SETRREZHRARAA (¥HRR)  HE8/ BRELAT 10,000 100%  RPERRENEE
ZE-\EAAZTR iR e R
Xingyang City Tian Lun Intelligent Energy PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Electricity generation,supply
Limited (“Xingyang TianLun") 20 September 2018 and sales services in the
PRC
RERRERRARLA (RPAR) e/ EREfFAT 2,884 5820%  RREREAARHE IR
2 \EtAT-A HARMREE TR
Dongming Tian Lun Yunzhen Energy PRC/ Limited liability company 2,884 58.20% Sales of natural gas,

Limited (“Dongming TianLun") 11 July 2018 construction consulting and
connection of gas pipelines
inthe PRC

BT EREARAR (ETHE]) e/ ARERAT 20,000 100%  KRPERBRAREE IR
“EREMATRA HARMREE IR
Xiping Kaida Gas Company Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 20,000 100% Sales of natural gas,
(“Xiping Kaida") 15 April 2003 construction consulting and
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B O R AR M ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

1. FRARIRE (&) 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
HRELNER/ BB/ RERN
£ BHRAH EETREH AR B TEERNGERY
Issued/
Country/Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARBTT
(RMB'000)
BAREMERARAR (EAR)) e/ BREEAT 10,000 5%  REEREAREHEHES
“F-NERAZ1+-R
Guangyuan Tian Lun Shuxin Energy PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 51% Wholesales of natural gas
Limited (“Guangyuan Tian Lun") 21 May 2019 in the PRC
TESTRREANEARAR (SRMRE]) +E/ BREFAT 400 100%  RPERERARALER
ZRC-ELATRR HERR
Henan Jin"an Gas Appliance Technolog PRC/ Limited liability company 400 100% Production and sales
Co., Ltd.("Jin" an Gas Appliance”) 16 July 2021 of gas appliances
in the PRC
TRERRETRARAA ([ERRE]) e/ BREAAA 500 00%  RPERRRE
ZE-NELATER BETRER
Henan Shoukai Construction Engineering PRC/ Limited liability company 500 100% Building construction
Co., Ltd.( “Shoukai Building”) 15 July 2019 business in the PRC
BUREREERAA (TBLKR]) e/ ERELAT = 0%  REEREMEEER
ZT-\fRA=T-R B MEANERE
Lushan Tianlun Gas Co., Ltd. PRC/ Limited liability company — 90% Sales and transportation
(“Lushan Tianlun") 31 May 2018 of gas and sales of gas

appliance in the PRC

BERRMAERLA(EEXR]) e/ EREMFAT = 0%  RERERFEER
“E-\$5At-A Wik MEAHEEH

Baofeng Tianlun Gas Co., Ltd. PRC/ Limited liability company — 90% Sales and transportation
(“Baofeng Tianlun”) 11 May 2018 of gas and sales of gas

appliance in the PRC

EEXREANAARAT(EERRER]) 98/ ERELAT = 0%  MERERRAE
“E-EENATA Tk

Yexian Tianlun Vehicle Gas Co., Ltd. PRC/ Limited liability company — 90% Gas vehicle refueling

(“Yexian Tianlun Vehicle") 10 September 2020 senvice in the PRC

Tian Lun Gas Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021 187



B OB M SRR Y RE ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B E A= —HIFE (2EELBARETFT(BIESEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11). FARIRE (&) 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
HRELNER/ BT/ KEEN
£ WHRAH EEERER B e B ITERACERY
Issued/
Country/Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARBTR
(RMB'000)
BEXEREERAA (HEAR]) hE/ BREMAR = 90% ReERRRRRHENR
ZE-NERARR WRREREEHS
Jiaxian Tianlun Co., Ltd. PRC/ Limited liability company — 90% Sales of natural gas and
(" Jiaxian Tianlun") 6 June 2019 trading of natural gas

equipment in the PRC

EERRRRARLA (REXR]) hE/ BREfFAT 70 0%  RERERRHER
ZE-\FRATIA W MRRHEEH

Yexian Tianlun Gas Co., Ltd. PRC/ Limited liability company 70 90% Sales and transportation
(“Yexian Tianlun") 18 May 2018 of gas and sales of gas

appliance in the PRC

EARRIRERLA ((BHXR]) e/ BRELAT - 0%  REEREMEEER
Z2-\ERARR Wik MAAHERK

Wugang Tianlun Gas Co., Ltd. PRC/ Limited liability company — 90% Sales and transportation
(“Wugang Tianlun") 6 June 2018 of gas and sales of gas

appliance in the PRC

TEEESRARARAR (IEER)) hE/ BREMFAE 60,000 100% RAERRRARHER
I TEFaRnAES
TERE
Shengiu County Huixin Natural Gas Company ~ PRC/ Limited liability company 60,000 100% Sales of natural gas,

Limited (“Shengiu Huixin") 25 December 2003 construction consulting and
connection of gas pipelines
inthe PRC

THEREXARAREAAA ([ FMIER]) =&/ BRELAA 46,000 100%  RERRARAEER
“ERHE-ANA TREARRREE
IR%TE
Zizhou County Shunxiang Natural Gas PRC/ Limited liability company 46,000 100% Sales of natural gas,

Company Limited (“Zizhou Shunxiang") 9 January 2007 construction consulting and
connection of gas pipelines
inthe PRC
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1. FARRE (&)

B O R AR M ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE—F—

—FA=1—HUFE (£FELBARETT(BIFSEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
HRELNER/ BB/ RERN
£ BHRAH EETREH AR B TEERNGERY
Issued/
Country/Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARBTT
(RMB'000)
ABRARAEREARAA (ARER) 8/ BREMAR 10,000 100% ReERRRARHER
ZZ-TENAZR TEEARRAEE
TERE
Baiyin Longtian Natural Gas Co.,Ltd. PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of natural gas,

(“Baiyin Longtian”) 3 August 2020 construction consulting and
connection of gas pipelines
in the PRC

EREARRMGRARAR ((ERRR])  HE/ BREMAR 10,000 100% ReERRARRHER
ZE-EELA=T-H TEFARMAEE
IERE
Gulang Longtian Natural Gas Co.,Ltd. PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of natural gas,

(“Gulang Longtian”) 31 July 2020 construction consulting and
connection of gas pipelines
in the PRC

BRGRARARLOR((RRERG]) 8/ BREAAT 300 00%  APERBRARHER
ZEITET-ATR THAARMAES
IRZ%
Xinganmeng Tianlun Natural Gas Co., Ltd PRC/ Limited liability company 300 100% Sales of natural gas,

(“Xinganmeng Tianlun") 10 November 2020 construction consulting and
connection of gas pipelines
in the PRC

TE K ERRHEARAA (TR EF/ ERELAT 20,000 100%  RbEEREDNER
e S S
Jiangsu Yongyang Hefeng Energy Technology ~ PRC/ Limited liability company 20,000 100% Intermediary holding in the
Co., Ltd (“Yongyang Energy”) 24 March 2021 PRC
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

P_E_—FF A= —HIEFE (2FRBURBARET T (HRIESFHA))
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

1. FRARIRE (&) 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
HRELNER/ BB/ RERN
£ BHRAH EETREH AR B TEERNGERY
Issued/
Country/Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARBTT
(RMB'000)
EREmERMRARELAR (EHEE])  $8/ BREMAR 25,000 90% M ERREEARRHER
“ZEMENA=T-A MREERREIRER
Deyang City Huaneng Gas Co.,Ltd PRC/ Limited liability company 25,000 90% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Deyang Huaneng”) 21 April 2004 gas, construction and
connection of gas pipelines
inthe PRC
RS ARAR (%) e/ BRELAT 10,000 0%  MMERREEARE
ZEE\F-A=T-H HEER
Deyang City Lvneng Gas Co.,Ltd PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 90% Sales of CNG in the PRC
(“Deyang Lvneng") 31 January 2008
MAZRERRERAR e/ BREEAT = 100%  ReERRREREANEE
(MTazH)) ZRCTET-ATA 2%
Henan Anlun Intelligent Technology PRC/ Limited liability company — 100% Technology development and
Co., Ltd. (“Henan Anlun”) 10 November 2020 consulting services in the
PRC
TERRIEARLR (TEXR]) P/ BREEAR 5,592 00%  RPERREEXAR
“Z--F=BZ1=H HEER
Wangqing Tianlun Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 5,592 100% Sales of CNG in the PRC
(“Wangging Tianlun”) 23 March 2021
S REEHENRERAR e/ ERELAA 400 100%  RPEFRREEFEARE
([r£%]) B -EtATIR )
Henan Jin'an Intelligent Life Technology PRC/ Limited liability company 400 100% Technology development and
Co., Ltd. ("Hennan Jin'an”) 15 July 2021 consulting services in the
PRC
ERENRBERARARAR e/ BREEAR 3,000 100%  RPERREERAR
([EBHR]) “2—4RATNA HERK
Huzhu County Limin Compressed Natural PRC/ Limited liability company 3,000 100% Sales of CNG in the PRC
Gas Co., Ltd. (“Huzhu Limin") 19 May 2011
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1. FARRE (&)

B O R AR M ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

HEr—ZT—

—FA=1—HUFE (£FELBARETT(BIFSEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
HRELNER/ BB/ RERN
£ BHRAH EETREH AR B TEERNGERY
Issued/
Country/Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARBTT
(RMB'000)
ABESHRRARAR (REEH)) e/ BREEAT 30,000 100%  RPEREREERARHE
ZEEN\ERATER RAREERRETRER
Datong County Jindi Gas Co., Ltd. PRC/ Limited liability company 30,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Datong Jindi") 13 June 2008 gas, construction and
connection of gas pipelines
inthe PRC
ABESHEBERARARAR (AREE]) +8/ BRETAT 10,000 100%  REERREEXAR
Z5-ZE/\AZ17H HEER
Datong County Jindi Compressed Natural PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of CNG in the PRC
Gas Co., Ltd. (“Datong Yasuo”) 26 August 2010
EpEeHRRERAR(ER2L)) e/ BREMAR 30,000 100% MERREEARRHER
“TE/\ELARA MREERREIRRR
Huzhu County Jindi Gas Co., Ltd. PRC/ Limited liability company 30,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Huzhu Jindi") 4 July 2008 gas, construction and
connection of gas pipelines
in the PRC
HESHMERARAR ([ 23pATaR ) hE/ ERELAA 88,500 100%  RRERRANER
ZZCRETCANA
Gansu Jindi New Energy Co., Ltd. PRC/ Limited liability company 88,500 100% Intermediary holding in the
(“Jindi New Energy”) 9 December 2020 PRC
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T -G H=+—HIIFE (2FELBARETIT(HIESEZHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

1. FRARIRE (&) 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
HRELNER/ BB/ RERN
£ BHRAH EETREH AR B TEERNGERY
Issued/
Country/Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARBTT
(RMB'000)
BRESHMRRARAA ([BEEH)) e/ BREEAT 30,000 100%  RPEREEERARHER
Z5——FRAZ10A MREERRATIRRE
Jingyuan County Jindi Gas Co., Ltd. PRC/ Limited liability company 30,000 100% Sales of p|pe|med natural
(“Jingyuan Jindi") 24 May 2011 gas, construction and
connection of gas pipelines
inthe PRC
BiXRRRERERAR ([ BHAR)) EP/ BRETAT 320 100% Eﬁ*ﬁﬂ%a}j%ﬁﬁ’é&
ZECEETCAtR MREERRATRLE
Jincheng Tianlun Gas Development PRC/ Limited liability company 320 100% Sales of p|pe|med natural
Co., Ltd. (“Jincheng Tianlun") 7 December 2020 gas, construction and
connection of gas pipelines
inthe PRC
AREEMERRIERARN(XREE])  +8/ EREfFAT = 100%  RERRES HEAHE
S i g 5%
Tianlun Smart New Energy Technology PRC/ Limited liability company — 100% Electricity generation,
Co., Ltd. (“Tianlun Zhihui") 28 December 2021 supply and sales services in
the PRC
BRERRIMEERAA hE/ ERELAT - 100%  REEFEEEERAARE
([BBRR]) “E-N§-A-R TEEARRAES
TR%k
Nanzhao Tian Lun Gas Company Limited PRC/ Limited liability company — 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Nanzhao Tian Lun")**** 1 January 2019 gas, construction consulting
and connection of gas

pipelines in the PRC
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
— L= A=+ —HILEE (BB BARKETFIT(BIESEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

HEr—ZT—

B O R AR M ()

11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
HRELNER/ BB/ RERN
£ BHRAH EETREH AR B TEERNGERY
Issued/
Country/Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARBTT
(RMB'000)
FETEARRMIARAA(EARY) 48/ ARRAAA . 0% RERRHEREIEA
ZE-F4-ATtA 5%
Xuchang Hongfan Intelligent Technology PRC/ Limited liability company — 100% Technology development and
Co., Ltd. (*Hongfan Zhineng") 17 November 2021 consulting services in the

**

*kkk

STRPERCRY B BT 1,000
E

RmF R E BITRARE
#27T -
EEERNEZETRA
100,000 %7T ©
ERUTLENCETRARBE
100,0007T °

ERRARERERNF AT -

AEEEFERERETAR
BER=ZZ=—F/NA/\BH -

MABRRRRRERARER
CECFRASTHBARH -

*k

KKK K

The issued capital

The issued capital

The issued capital

The issued capital

Shares hold direct

Henan Boju New Energy Limited was deregistered with effect on 8

June 2021.

Nanzhao Tian Lun Gas Company Limited was deregistered with effect

on 24 June 2021.

PRC

of Upsky Holdings is USD1,000.

of Tian Lun New Energy is HKD2.

of HK Xin Rong is USD100,000.

of Wah Shing Century is HKD100,000.

ly by the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE=F=-

Cea S

—FtA=1—HUFE (£FEELBARETT(BI=EHSA))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

1. FARRE (&)

(@)

ERMVFEESIER

RZEZ—F+ZA=1+—H0HK
FEFIUERBAENRARE
310,195,000 (=T =ZF : A
R #281,086,0007T) © EFR A A
R#109,155,0007C(—Z —Z4 :
A R #106,526,0007T ) B 7 ¥
ML - #9 AR ¥ 37,057,000
T ZFTF: AR 37,367,000
TL)REBRBRREN  HARK
37,738,000 L(ZZE=FF : AR
# 37,218,000 70) R B &M KR ©

R BT AR NA B SR
BTEA -

BEEAHZHMERYF R
A B E

VAT BT e & 5 2 (8] 28 K 9 JE 428 1) 14
BaNERTARNBENKE
e
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11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(a)

(continued)

Material non-controlling interests

The total non-controlling interests as at 31 December 2021 are
approximately RMB310,195,000 (2020: RMB281,086,000), of
which approximately RMB109,155,000 (2020: RMB106,526,000)
is attributed to Chaozhou Huamao, approximately RMB37,057,000
(2020: RMB37,367,000) is attributed to Tianlun Pipeline, and
approximately RMB37,738,000 (2020: RMB37,218,000) is
attributed to Suzhou Tianlun.

The non-controlling interests in respect of other subsidiaries are not
material.

Summarised financial information on subsidiaries with
material non-controlling interests

Set out below are the summarised financial information for each
subsidiary that has non-controlling interests that are material to the
Group.



1. FARRE (&)

(@) EARHFEZFIEER(E)

HEr—ZT—

B O R AR M ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
— L= A=+ —HILEE (BB BARKETFIT(BIESEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

(@) Material non-controlling interests (continued)

BEEEBXEE Summarised balance sheets
BENER KRR ER Y PN
Chaozhou Huamao Tianlun Pipeline Suzhou Tianlun
W+=A=1+-H K+=A=1+-H R+=B=+-B
As at 31 December As at 31 December As at 31 December
“B--f C-R-TE 8- —B-RF CRC-F —T-FF
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
AR®TR AR%®Tr AR%Tx ARETE AR¥Tx ARET:R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
& Current
B Assets 42,914 26,354 100,435 25,001 65,489 63,778
BfE Liabilities (30,673) (32,098) (123,455) (79,004) (78,443) (95,349)
SETEAE,/  Total net current
(8B BE assets/(liabilities) 12,241 (5,744) (23,020) (54,003) (12,954) (31,571)
*Ra Non-current
BE Assets 152,514 158,614 398,900 411,471 148,415 156,190
aE Liabilities — — (109,066) (93,042) (158) (197)
JETREEEE  Total net non-current
e assets 152,514 158,614 289,834 318,429 148,257 155,993
FEE Net assets 164,755 152,870 266,814 264,426 135,303 124,422
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BZ_FE_—F 1 _H=1—HIFE (LHELBARETIT(BRISFHH))
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11@). FARRE (&) 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
(@) EBEARHFEEFIMERE) (a) Material non-controlling interests (continued)
HEWmREE Summarised statements of comprehensive income
BMER AaBRER - YIPN
Chaozhou Huamao Tianlun Pipeline Suzhou Tianlun
BEt-A=1t-HL&EE HZt-A=t-ALEE HEt-A=t-ALEE
Year ended 31 December Year ended 31 December Year ended 31 December
“E--% BB CZB--§ CZB-TF ZB--§ C-ZC-%F
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

ARBTR ARMTT ARBTR ARWTT ARBTR ARETE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

WA Revenue 230,943 138,526 433,643 417,990 511,040 514,138
BRETERIAIMES  Profit before income tax 15,896 10,799 8,799 2,769 54,865 44,662
FriEiEm Income tax expense (4,011) (2,735) (871) (614) (13,691) (11,144)
W Profit for the year 11,885 8,064 7,928 2,155 41,174 33,518

Hfkratizz  Other comprehensive income — = — — — _

e les Total comprehensive income 11,885 8,064 7,928 2,155 41,174 33,518

WA DE Total comprehensive

I income allocated to
Bz non-controlling interests 4,754 3,226 793 2,155 6,176 5,028

[FFEEH S Dividends paid to
S BA non-controlling interests — — 554 1,088 4,544 6,313
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
EE-— A=+ —AUFE (SEEBARETFT(BIESEHDB))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(a). FRAERE (2) 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
(@) EBEARHFEEFIMERE) (a) Material non-controlling interests (continued)
BenExmE Summarised statements of cash flows
BMNEX KRR ER Y PN
Chaozhou Huamao Tianlun Pipeline Suzhou Tianlun
BZ+t=-A=1t-HLEE BEt-A=1t-HALEE HET-A=T-HLEE
Year ended 31 December Year ended 31 December Year ended 31 December
“Z--% CZZ-TF CZE--§ CZZ-TF CB--§ CZZ-EZF
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

ARBTT ARBTT AR®TR ARETT ARETR ARET:
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ReEBN Cash flows from operating

ReRE activities
BEEL/ Cash generated from/

(fEM)83E4  (used in) operations 33,233 8,337 (14,845) 64,006 78,812 35,856
BAFTER Income tax paid (3,466) — (1,983) (3,086) (13,720) (10,967)
MEEEEL/ Net cash generated from/

(A& (used in) operating

FHe activities 29,767 8,337 (16,828) 60,920 65,092 24,889
REES Net cash (used in)/

(f£/8)/E%  generated from

MFRe investing activities (8,927) (8,166) (8,916) 12,490 (88,387) 46,085
BMETH Net cash (used in)/

(#R)/E%  generated from

FERE financing activities (2,411) (2,671) 381 (61,602) 51,215 (91,616)
RekBe Net increase/(decrease)

ZENF in cash and cash

M,/ (fP)  equivalents 18,429 (2,500) (25,363) 11,808 27,920 (20,642)
FMRER Cash and cash

ReZED equivalents at

beginning of year 13,794 16,294 30,628 18,820 11,430 32,072

FERBASR Cash and cash
ReZEY equivalents at

end of year 32203 13794 5265 30628 39350 11,430
A BB R R A RIRE IHAT R 205 - The information above is the amount before inter-company
eliminations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B E A= —HIFE (2EELBARETFT(BIESEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(b). B EARNIRE 11(b). INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING
THE EQUITY METHOD

FEHEEABREROEEN The amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet are as
™ follows:
R+=A=+—H
As at 31 December
- —TTF
2021 2020
AR®T T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HEE R R 2 E Investments in associates 706,581 643,360
HEELEZRE Investments in a joint venture 67,090 140,564
773,671 783,924
EEEREROBEELOT The amounts recognised in profit and loss are as follows:

BE+=-RA=1+—HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—E-F —E-THF

2021 2020

AR¥ET T ARBT T

RMB’000 RMB’000

NG Share of results of associates 63,221 57,309
EIREEDEEE Share of results of a joint venture (73,474) (103,189)
(10,253) (45,880)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(b). R EZEARNIRE 11(b). INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING

(& THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)
NTAEREERR=_ZE=_—F+=A Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31 December
=+ HEEFAZBERT - 2021, which are held directly by the Group.
% s EMRIER FE g % BENEE HERE
Place of business/ % of Nature of Measurement
Name of entity country of incorporation ownership interest the relationship method
AREARRERDERAR B/ WES 33.33 (FEE 1) B
((AREER])
Inner Mongolia Petroleum and Inner Mongolia, 33.33 (Note 1) Equity
Gas Investment Corporation the PRC

Limited (“Inner Mongolia
Petroleum and Gas")

FMTHETIERARERAA] HE/ T 20.00 GEY) B
(TERMNEH])

Suzhou Ping Zhuang Industrial Jiangsu, the PRC 20.00 (Note 2) Equity
Gas Co., Ltd

(“Suzhou Ping Zhuang”)

AENReRBERNERAR e/ 20.00 GEX) EmE
(TAmnRl)
Henan Jiuding Financial Leasing Henan, the PRC 20.00 (Note 3) Equity

Company Limited (“Henan Jiuding”)

REREMHIR R AR EERR e,/ 11.00 GET) E®E
(DEMIRS)
Chengdu Huaizhou Xincheng Gas Sichuan, the PRC 11.00 (Note 4) Equity

Company Limited (“Huaizhou Gas”)

FIRLEERRRERAA] hEl/ A 16.00 GED) EwE
U200
Pingdingshan Nylon City Gas Company Henan, the PRC 16.00 (Note 5) Equity

Limited (“Nylon City Gas”)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B E =AU EE (2BEAARKETFT(BRIESEHSE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(b). R EZEARNIRE 11(b). INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING

(2 THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)
£ 8%/ EMRALER FEREER % BENMEE FARAE
Place of business/ % of Nature of Measurement

Name of entity country of incorporation ownership interest the relationship method

HERXIARRBR AR B/ HE 20.00 GELY) EmE
(THEREX])

Gansu Longtian Urban and Gansu, the PRC 20.00 (Note 6) Equity
Rural Gas Company Limited
(“Gansu Longtian")

LEFRRAARAEMR B/ 40.00 GE)) B
BRAR(NLERRD)

Shengiu County Jieyuan Natural Henan, the PRC 40.00 (Note 7) Equity

Gas Vehicle Refueling Co., Ltd.
(“Shenqiu Jieyuan”)

MEEl - ARERMRAKIN —E—MF
TZA+—B  XEZ2EER
AHERARERER WK
EROBMERAREE - RN
S h R S B SR R
B BENES AR LT EE E T
BEEMMSTRERANT AR
BIE B RIAAFE

BFE2 - #R M P E B2 R R

R BN P HIBEIGEHES
AT o
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Note 1:

Note 2:

Inner Mongolia Petroleum and Gas was incorporated on 11
December 2014 and mainly engages in the construction of long-
distance petroleum and gas pipelines, and investment in the
petroleum and gas industry. Inner Mongolia Petroleum and Gas
is a strategic partner for the Group, providing access to new
customers and markets of the upstream gas industry and creating
synergies with the subsidiaries of the Group.

Suzhou Ping Zhuang mainly engages in the sales of bottled gas.
Suzhou Ping Zhuang provides access to new customers and
markets.



11(b). REHEZARNIRE

(&

m=

BFE3

Bt 4

FiES -

GELE

B=E7

AREHR - &M T

AENLER-_FT—XRF=A
Zt+=HBFEMmR E2H%
EREHE REHEEER
Z BEEWEEHFRE R
FEREREMESRES 0
MNRATNEBNEKSIER
o AABEITERPEAER
BHEAXEEREEHES
BEERATIEERE  URE
BAFREAIERRIE -

EMNRBEERERAZE
E RAREBERXRIRE
ZE A ERRMEESE -
MR EIH BB B R B A
5 TAEBRTARAEER
[FIAKFE o

BEBMREIZEFIRLERE
PiHERERAREE KA
REBRBIRIBRE - B8
W R B EAS # B P A T
% YREBRNTARRIER
RIZKFE

HEBRAXEIEXERARY
B RAREERREIR
ZH - IR RAEE S -
HERERBISHEL MM
% REBRNTARRIERR
RPE - R ETREIR R IR K2
RAREBER -

TERREEREHEBRER
AR - LEZBRBHIEHE
FMmE o

ZNEzpt

BOOENR - EREME - BE
BeR Mt DRRH R LT AT
HER#RBMIGHRE - AEBEER
ERR RN EEANERE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(b). INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING
THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)

Note 3:

Note 4:

Note 5:

Note 6:

Note 7:

Henan Jiuding was incorporated on 23 March 2016 and mainly
engages in financial leasing, financial leasing assets trading, fixed
income securities investment, inter-bank borrowing investment
and other financial business. Henan Jiuding is a strategic partner
for the Group, and can finance potential industrial customers
substituting its energy supply from coal and electricity to
pipelined natural gas and create synergies with the subsidiaries
of the Group.

Huaizhou Gas mainly engages in the sales of natural gas,
construction and connection of gas pipelines, and construction
and operation of gas stations etc. Huaizhou Gas provides access
to new customers and markets, and create synergies with the
subsidiaries of the Group.

Nylon City Gas mainly engages in the sales of natural gas,
construction and connection of gas pipelines in Pingdingshan
Nylon City Area. Nylon City Gas provides access to new customers
and markets, and create synergies with the subsidiaries of the
Group.

Gansu Longtian mainly engages in the sales of natural gas,
construction and connection of gas pipelines, and construction
and operation of gas stations etc. Gansu Longtian provides
access to new customers and markets, create synergies with the
subsidiaries of the Group, and development of energy saving and
environmental protection technology, natural gas pipeline network
and construction.

Shengiu Jieyuan mainly engages in the sales of compressed
natural gas. Shenqiu Jieyuan provides access to new customers
and markets.

Inner Mongolia Petroleum and Gas, Suzhou Ping Zhuang, Henan
Jiuding, Huaizhou Gas, Nylon City Gas, Gansu Longtian and Shengiu
Jieyuan are unlisted companies and there are no quoted market

prices available for the equities. There are no contingent liabilities
relating to the Group’s interests in the associates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B E =AU EE (2BEAARKETFT(BRIESEHSE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(b). REHEZARNIRE

11(b). INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING

(&

m=

BEQATNHEMHER

THIRTEERAR/YNAKEE
REABNFORBEERE - T
BENE R RRARE 2 R RME
HRPEINNEE - MIFRAEE
FEAE L F AN - AL RIRE
BECRAEDESMIENRE 8
EHRIABENHBANRL G
REREITHREIEN -

THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)

Summarised financial information for the associates

The tables below provide summarised financial information for
Henan Jiuding, which in the opinion of the director, is material to
the Group. The information disclosed reflects the amounts presented
in the financial statements of the relevant associate not the Group’s
share of those amounts. It has been amended to reflect adjustments
made by the entity when using the equity method, including fair
value adjustments and modifications for differences in accounting

policy.

BEESEABE Summarised balance sheet
SAEAE
Henan Jiuding
R+=A=+—8
As at 31 December
—EC—F —EFF
2021 2020
AR®ET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RED Current
He kRS EY Cash and cash equivalents 805,278 1,179,864
HEtmEEE Other current assets 618,215 511,049
MEVEEMREE Total current assets 1,423,493 1,690,913
Hibmea & Other current liabilities (including trade payables)

(BIERERERER) (24,934,626) (19,342,926)
mE B EER Total current liabilities (24,934,626) (19,342,926)
FERE Non-current
HibIEmeh&EE Other non-current assets 28,623,592 22,752,742
IEMBEELTE Total non-current assets 28,623,592 22,752,742
HEMIERBAE Other non-current liabilities (2,017,207) (2,316,123)
iR Total equity 3,095,252 2,784,606
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(b). B EARNIRE 11(b). INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING

(42 THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)

BENTNRENKER Summarised financial information for the associates

(&) (continued)

GEUBZE Summarised statement of comprehensive income
SRR

Henan Jiuding
BE+-A=+—-HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—E-—F —E-THF

2021 2020

AR¥ET T AREFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

WA Revenue 878,466 752,622
BrETS A ATFE Profit before income tax 414,358 371,053
ARFFIH Profit for the year 310,646 279,128
RA IR Total comprehensive income 310,646 279,128
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B E A= —HIFE (2EELBARETFT(BIESEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(b). B EARNIRE 11(b). INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING

(4& THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)
BENANREENKE R Summarised financial information for the associates
() (continued)
HEHBE R R Reconciliation of summarised financial information
FT 2 51| 0 75 22 B 75 18 KL B 8 8 7 Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to
= AREER T o the carrying amount of its interests in the associate.
HEBEERBE Summarised financial information
AEALR
Henan Jiuding
. —ToEF
2021 2020
AR¥TR AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
HREE Opening net assets 2,784,606 2,505,478
REF) Profit for the year 310,646 279,128
HRFEE Closing net assets 3,095,252 2,784,606
B8 N A28 (20.00%) Interest in an associate (20.00%) 619,050 556,921
REEE Carrying value 619,050 556,921
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(b). R EZEARNIRE 11(b). INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING

(#& THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)
BENANREENKE R Summarised financial information for the associates

(& (continued)

BB EAX B E Individually immaterial associates

Br E XTI BB SN - N E In addition to the interests in associates disclosed above, the Group
MEEBREREZEN A KIEE also has interests in six of individually immaterial associates that are
REFE N B R o accounted for using the equity method.

BE+t-A=1T—-HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—E-—F S 3
2021 2020
ARET ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
&R FEEE KB & A ) Aggregate carrying amount of

FEREARE individually immaterial associates 87,531 86,439

AEEBFT{E{D5E4R%E ©  Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of:
RBEFE Profit from continuing operations 1,092 1,483
wiRe W Total comprehensive income 1,092 1,483
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BZ_FE_—F 1 _H=1—HIFE (LHELBARETIT(BRISFHH))
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(b). REHEZARNIRE

11(b). INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING

(& THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)

NTAEREERR=_ZE=_—F+=A Set out below is the joint venture of the Group as at 31 December

=+ HEEFAZAERE - 2021, which is held directly by the Group.

RZEZ—4F+ZA=+—HYHAE Nature of investment in joint ventures as at 31 December 2021:

EREZREHENT

8 ¥80% BEMALER FERERER % BENEE FERE

Place of business/ % of Nature of Measurement

Name of entity country of incorporation ownership interest the relationship method

AERAXGHERRAESTL  FE/TE 40.00 (FHiizs) st
(BRAB)(TEREXRES])

Henan Yuzi Tianlun New Energy Henan, the PRC 40.00 (Note 8) Equity

Investment Fund Centre
(Limited Partnership)
(“Henan Yuzi Tianlun Fund”)

fEE8 BB ERMESN TN
FRAZTEBERIL TEH
A MEKRRIER M ET
MRARERWETRE A
MEFBERAREZRERR
RS RHORBEEEE
g A mE BERART
HEOBEREN

Note 8:

ARABRERRESRIELTR
A EREREMIS®RE - K
SERTEBRERBESHN T
NEREER  FHEFRME
36(e) - REBEEREDE 212
SIS EAE -
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Henan Yuzi Tianlun Fund was incorporated on 27 June 2018 mainly
engaged in investment in coal-to-gas conversion projects in the
townships in Henan Province and the upstream and downstream
natural gas industrial chain, to capture the opportunities brought by
the rapid development of the natural gas industry in the PRC and
explore the huge potential of the natural gas market in the townships
in Henan Province through making full use of the strengths of the
Group.

Henan Yuzi Tianlun Fund is an unlisted company and there are no
quoted market prices available for the equities. The Group provided
guarantee to the subsidiary of Henan Yuzi Tianlun Fund, see details
in Note 36(e). There are no other contingent liabilities relating to the
Group’s interests in the joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(h). IRFEZSEABRMNIRE  11(b). INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING
(& THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)

BECENHEMBKESR

THIRTHAREEANEGEE
EUEBRERRESHUBKEER
2 - fIRBENEERBRARAZD
EPBHERT IO - MIFR
AEBRIGLEHENNEE - X5
f2 Bk 3 B 1E (55 PR A 2R B P VR B 5
X BRHAAEENARZEULR
SETBREREITHEENR -

Summarised financial information for the joint venture

The tables below provide summarised financial information for Henan
Yuzi Tianlun Fund, which in the opinion of the director, is material to
the Group. The information disclosed reflects the amounts presented
in the financial statements of the relevant joint venture not the
Group’s share of those amounts. They have been amended to reflect
adjustments made by the entity when using the equity method,
including fair value adjustments and modifications for differences in
accounting policy.

EEEEXBE Summarised balance sheet
EBREXMGES
Henan Yuzi Tianlun Fund
B+=A=+—H
As at 31 December
=F=—F —TEF
2021 2020
ARET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
B Current
HeRBEeEFEY Cash and cash equivalents 284,519 428,051
EfnEEE Other current assets 401,476 249,067
MENEEMRRE Total current assets 685,995 677,118
EmnsasE Other current liabilities (including trade payables)

(BIEREMERF) (2,116,367) (2,613,895)
mB B EERE Total current liabilities (2,116,367) (2,613,895)
IERE Non-current
EMIERBEE Other non-current assets 4,749,468 4,373,088
IERENE EMAEE Total non-current assets 4,749,468 4,373,088
HisEmEaE Other non-current liabilities (2,179,649) (1,408,291)
W AEER Total equity 1,139,447 1,028,020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B E A= —HIFE (2EELBARETFT(BIESEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(b). B EARNIRE 11(b). INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING

(#& THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)

EELENBENBER Summarised financial information for the joint venture

(&) (continued)

GEUBZE Summarised statement of comprehensive income
TEBERmES

Henan Yuzi Tianlun Fund
BE+-A=+—-HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—B--F —ETTF

2021 2020

ARETT AREF T

RMB’000 RMB’'000

WA Revenue 587,344 257,064
KPS Rl E 1 Loss before income tax (41,373) (19,890)
REEE Loss for the year (41,373) (19,890)
mAEEESE Total comprehensive loss (41,373) (19,890)

208 XGWMEERERAT 2021 FFEHRE



B O R AR M ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(b). R EZEARNIRE 11(b). INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING

(#& THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)
BELENRENKEER Summarised financial information for the joint venture
(& (continued)

HEHBE R R Reconciliation of summarised financial information
FIE2FMRBENBERBEGEDE Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to

R AREEAAED

the carrying amount of its interests in a joint venture:

HEBEERBE Summarised financial information
MEBEXMRES
Henan Yuzi Tianlun Fund
—BC--F —ECTF
2021 2020
ARET T AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
HAREE Opening net assets 1,028,020 1,042,092
EN N Capital contribution 152,800 5,818
REEE Loss for the year (41,373) (19,890)
HRBEE Closing net assets 1,139,447 1,028,020
A&z (40.00%) Interest in a joint venture (40.00%) 455,779 411,208
REEE Carrying value 455,779 411,208
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T -G H=+—HIIFE (2FELBARETIT(HIESEZHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

12.

(@)

(b)

(c)

FrEsiEH

AR BRI RZERBERE B
PRSI PR B AR RS T o

BENEH
BE—T-—F+-A=+—-A1t
R-ZE-_TE+-_A=+—HItF
B AREERRLERREER
FERFIE - ELBBRMEEFE
B (X 16.5%) -

REIEERBH

RRARFBERPREEMAZHFA
A BRI RBIDERER - RE
EZE—F+ZA=+—HEKZ=
E_TF+_A=+—HIFE "
ZENTEBIEBRP RS
KRBV FE A FERR R Uk &5 2 SR TE AT
SR RFREE - RPREBHTFA
REERAMNPBECEMEIHRES R
25% (ZZEZF4F : 256%)  HHF
AAERTEZEADBKRABREED
YR BRAEEMEHER L%
ZEZTF 1 15%) o WA H
FRAINPEETZENIEEESE

MR RFHEER - ERAERMERE
B25%10%( =5 =T F : 5%
10%) °
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

(a)

(b)

(c)

The Company and Upsky Holdings are not subject to profits tax in
their respective countries of incorporation.

Hong Kong profits tax

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020,
there are no Hong Kong profits tax applicable (tax rate 16.5%) to any
Group entities.

PRC corporate income tax (the “PRC CIT")

All the Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC are subject
to the PRC CIT, which has been provided based on the statutory
income tax rate of the assessable income of each of such companies
during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020,
as determined in accordance with the relevant PRC income tax rules
and regulations. The CIT rate of the relevant subsidiaries operating
in the PRC is 25% (2020: 25%). Certain subsidiaries are entitled
to the Development of the Western Regions CIT preferential policies
and subject to a preferential CIT rate of 15% (2020: 15%). Besides
that, certain subsidiaries are also entitled to the Inclusive Tax
Deduction and Exemption Policies for Micro and Small Enterprises
CIT preferential policies and subject to a preferential CIT rate vary
from 2.5% to 10% (2020: 5% to 10%).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

12. FREHER (& 12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
(c) HEL¥EMRSESH(E) (c) PRC corporate income tax (the “PRC CIT”) (continued)
BEGNBRHOFAENRERR The amount of income tax expense charged to profit or loss
represents:

BE+-—A=1+—HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—EZ-F —E-THF
2021 2020
ARET T AREF T
RMB’000 RMB'000
EHAFTER Current tax on profits for the year 292,537 334,815
RIS (B3 30)  Deferred income tax (Note 30) 42,153 19,887
334,690 354,702
BN ERRFTSH & R EER The difference between the actual income tax charge in profit or loss
BEHG R E RS A FEAT and the amounts which would result from applying the enacted tax
BFIEMEERHNT - rate to profit before income tax can be reconciled as follows:

BE+=-RA=1+—HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—E—F —E-THF
2021 2020
AR%T ARBTTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
B PSRRI A Profit before income tax 1,362,804 1,418,375
WEBSEAREMA 2 Tax calculated at statutory tax rate
ETEMEAE ZFIE  applicable to each Group entity 315,295 334,738
AR U Income not subject to tax (15,812) (14,327)
AR A & Expenses or losses not deductible
for tax purposes 21,226 25,703
FERBELTRIEEE  Tax losses with no deferred tax assets
FIFRIE (i) recognised (i) 310 117
B R aREREa Withholding tax on profit to be distributed
OB (ii) in future (ii) 13,671 8,471
334,690 354,702
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
— L A=+—HIFFE (2EELBARETIT(BIESEHH))

sy — o —

F_=_

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

12. FiSBiBA (&
REI RSB ()

(c)

(i)

(i)

ERAREREEHRAEERN
B8 - FF2RHMEE30(C) °

A& B A i B B A
R B RS S SR E BB S
ERBHCENMEN - H6E
HBIMER AR E R IERF
REIARERE RBERA - 7
EXAKETBEAM T Q]
B BRI B TRIR ISR &
5% WitH BRI EE
FTRRFAER R 7% 8 %
ERFE - Flt - AREEZ
PEAMF RN RS
MAMBERME BB KGR
AP -

B E AR A U e RO AR BB 10 B R R0

12.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(c) PRC corporate income tax (the “PRC CIT”) (continued)

(i)

(ii)

See Note 30(c) on the tax losses with no deferred tax assets
recognised.

Withholding income tax is provided on the dividends and
intra-group interest charges to be distributed by the Mainland
China subsidiaries of the Group. The relevant overseas holding
companies have successfully obtained endorsement from
Mainland China tax bureaus to enjoy the treaty benefit of 5%
withholding income tax rate on dividends received from the
Mainland China subsidiaries of the Group and 7% withholding
income tax rate on interest charges from the Mainland China
subsidiaries. Accordingly, withholding income tax has been
provided at respective tax rate of the dividends and interest
charges to be distributed by the Mainland China subsidiaries
of the Group.

The tax credit relating to components of other comprehensive income

HIBERWOT : is as follows:
HEt-B=t-HLEE
Year ended 31 December
“E--F 2
2021 2020
BRB1 A0 HEER BB BrEtAl HEER Biiia
Before tax Tax credit After tax Before tax Tax credit After tax
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETTL ARBFT
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
IVAAEEEER  Fairvalue gainsl(losses) on
s RN financial assets at
BANGHEE  fair value through other
BELAEBEY  comprehensive income
g/ (B8 11,100 (2,775) 8,325 (18,246) 4,562 (13,684)
Epiralis Other comprehensive income 11,100 (2,775) 8,325 (18,246) 4,562 (13,684)
EREATEH (3230)  Deferred income tax (Note 30) - 2775 = = (4,562) =
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(@)

(b)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE—F_—F 1 _A=1—HIFE (LEELSARETIT(FHFSEHYA))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

BRI

B-¥N
EARBERWSRERBRARFM
BENME  BAFRAEEHTER
REy OB BT E -

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)

Basic

Basic earnings per share (“EPS") is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

BE+-A=1+—HLFE

Year ended 31 December

—F-—F 3
2021 2020
MEBEBERARAR Profit attributable to owners of
FBEE(ARKETIT) the Company (RMB’000) 1,000,672 1,043,512
BEITEBERAINME  Weighted average number of
SEHE(FE) shares in issue (thousands) 999,645 1,001,292
HEARFRUE Basic earnings per share (RMB per share)
(BElRAR®T) 1.00 1.04
e (b) Diluted

HEERWSRRAA A HENE
EEBBRR LR RESEITE
BEAINEFEREBEE - AT
E-HUHENEEE B B
- HRNREHEmS - TRER
TR BB RERRRITE T K
SMRREZETORNEERE
BREROABEEREFTH
MISERME) BITLESHERK
ERETWAMBRT @ AIEREH
TEERNBEBERER - E—FK
BRI BE SRAINEFS
EREHEN D - BIERFE
WEERRER TR D E

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The Company has one
category of dilutive potential ordinary shares: share options. For the
share options, the number of shares that would have been issued
assuming the exercise of the share options less the number of shares
that could have been issued at fair value (determined as the average
market price per share for the year) for the same total proceeds is the
number of shares issued for no consideration. The resulting number
of shares issued for no consideration is included in the weighted
average number of ordinary shares as the denominator for calculating
diluted earnings per share.
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B OB M SRR Y RE ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B E A= —HIFE (2EELBARETFT(BIESEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

13. BRk=E (2&)
(b) WEE)

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

(b) Diluted (continued)

BE+-A=1+—HLFE

Year ended 31 December

=F=—F —TEF
2021 2020
MEBEBERAAR Profit attributable to owners of
FBEE(ARETIT) the Company (RMB’000) 1,000,672 1,043,512
BEITEBERAINME  Weighted average number of shares
FHE(FEH) in issue (thousands) 999,645 1,001,292
FHEE Adjustments for:
— HiRE (F&D) — Share options (thousands) — 586
FrEmEGRES Weighted average number of
H 3 E AR Y AN ordinary shares for diluted
SEHE(FE) earnings per share (thousands) 999,645 1,001,878
wEg R Diluted earnings per share (RMB per share)
(BElRAR®T) 1.00 1.04
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B O R AR M ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

14 FHE 14 LEASES
(i) EBERBERABERNSHE (i)  Amounts recognised in the balance sheet
BEEABRIAHN NI SHEERE The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to leases:
i
W+=A=+—H
As at 31 December
—EZ-F —E-THF
2021 2020
ARET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB'000
EREEE Right-of-use assets
TP AR Land-use rights 264,570 259,674
BF Buildings 7,636 8,115
272,206 267,789
HEAE Lease liabilities
mEh Current 2,914 3,976
FERE Non-current 7,060 4,226
9,974 8,202
BE_T-_—F+-A=+—HIL Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year ended 31
FEA FRAREELENMARE December 2021 were RMB15,310,000 (2020: RMB34,094,000).

15,310,000 T (ZZ2=ZF : AR
34,094,000 7T) °
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B OB M SRR Y RE ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B E A= —HIFE (2EELBARETFT(BIESEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

14 HEE 14. LEASES (continued)

(i) BRARINEEE (ii)  Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Gt elaERIIRA TS REE The consolidated statement of comprehensive income shows the
HEHFR - following amounts to leases:

BE+-—A=1+—HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—EB—F —ETF
2021 2020
AR%T AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ERAEEENITEERA Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
T R Land-use rights 7,717 7,938
BF Buildings 3,176 3,851
10,893 11,789
B (G AR Interest expense (included in finance cost)
&) (MizE10) (Note 10) 677 102
T -FARAEEELENRER The total cash outflow for leases for the year ended 31 December
HEEAEAREAL673,000T(= 2021 was RMB4,673,000 (2020: RMB4,316,000).

T-TF : AR¥4,316,0007T) °
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B O R AR M ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BEx_—F—

—FT A= —HILFE (FEELSARETIT(KISEFHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

14 #HE(2)

(iii)

(iv)

FEENHE RS RAS
BB

ARE B Y £ 20 i R R FE 0 70 AP B Y
THMENEENR HHR20E
504 -

REETHESEETF - HESR
BEA—HTEHNETEAR - B0
BEE BT EERERE - 1
EHRETTIRESNER FET
Rk WA RER S IR B G FROR i
- HERETEESEHEARS
WHEE ERNERFLE ZINYER
2y o MEBEETGSAEMERE
R

REENRE

SEFHERE S NRIEH -
?ﬂﬁuﬁi%ﬁﬁ Fis B SERE
THEREE - j’[ﬂ%*ﬁﬁ%iﬁ’ﬁzﬁﬁ
HERMEREEEITIER o B5T7H
BT - ZFE@AE%EHHE@E%
BEEMHERE -

14.

(iii)

(iv)

LEASES (continued)

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are
accounted for

The Group’s land-use rights represent prepaid lease payments for
land located in the PRC which are with lease terms from 20 to 50
years.

The Group also leases various buildings. Rental contracts are
typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 10 years, but may have
extension options as described in below. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms
and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants
other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

Variable lease payments

Some building leases contain variable payment terms. It initially
measured using the minimum fixed lease payment at the
commencement date, will be revised based on the valuation result
and actual performance result every year. The Group reassesses the
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities when the lease payment is
revised.
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B OB M SRR Y RE ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T -G H=+—HIIFE (2FELBARETIT(HIESEZHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

14

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

HE(E

BERERNMKLLEERE
;]

AEERTHERSERBEEEMN
RIFHEEEZE  NWEAKERS
PIAMEBEEEE S MRAREMIE
REENEEME

EREHENRE  EEEETR
RIEZER S ZEMERKEE
FENZEMBEN - MRERMEE
HRAFEEN  AIRIEERS
BEHEHEEMRA -

RZEBEZ—F+=ZA=+—H =&
EEBHHARYE2,158,0007(=
TTTF E)MN LM RAERLE
ERIEATEREE - EEREBEE
BB BAEEERKANER TR

B8 -

NR-BE-_—F+-_A=+—H  #
BEARK229000T R AR
3,251,000 st K9 FA#E B EE 9 RlIYE
A AR #4,800,0007T b A R#
5,900,000 7T & $R 1T & 5K 3K 18 (B
5£29(a)) °
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14.

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

LEASES (continued)

Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included in building leases
across the Group. These terms are used to maximise optional
flexibility in terms of managing contracts.

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and
circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an
extension option. Extension options are only included in the lease
term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group was in the process of
obtaining the legal title of land-use rights with carrying amount of

approximately RMB2,158,000 (2020: nil). The Directors believe
that the ownership title certificates will be obtained in due course
without any significant costs.

As at 31 December 2021, land-use rights amounting to
RMB229,000 and RMB3,251,000 respectively were secured for

bank borrowings of RMB4,800,000 and RMB5,900,000 (Note
29(a)).



B Ot B R R ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
EE-— A=+ —AUFE (SEEBARETFT(BIESEHDB))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

15. TBE - BERREE 15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BARE
BF  REREE RREE REH ERIR @t
Office
Equipment equipment
and Gas and motor
Buildings machinery pipelines vehicles CIp Total

ARRTT  ARBTT  ARETR  ARBTT  ARETR  ARETR
RMB'000 _ RMB'O00 _ RMB'000 _ RMB'000 _ RMB'000__ RMB'000

R-Z-2%-A-H At 1 January 2020

AR Cost 430,462 385,469 2,375,274 55,999 232,116 3,529,320

2:iTE Accumulated depreciation (84,687)  (167,866)  (392,783) (33,926) —  (679,262)
EHFE Net book amount 395,775 217,603 1,982,491 22,073 232,116 2,850,058
HE-E-EF Year ended 31 December 2020

TZR=t+-HLEE

FUREEE Opening net book amount 395,775 217603 1,982,491 22,073 232,116 2,850,058

=SNG Acquisition of subsidiaries 3,409 9,206 93,455 568 4,846 111,484

=il Additions 698 5,283 4,288 5,454 230,052 245,775

FETREA Transfer from CIP 5,259 12,601 223,455 16 (241,331) —

HE (W5t 32) Disposals (Note 32) (4,024) (3,194) (830) (222) (779) (9,049

FEER (1 8) Depreciation charge (Note 8) (19,050) (33,904)  (106,074) (4,322) —  (163,350)
FAEMFE Closing net book amount 382,067 207,595 2,196,785 23,567 224904 3,034,918
RZB-Z£+-A=1—H At 31 December 2020

AR Cost 483,211 399,602 2,694,715 58,999 224904 3,861,431

ZETE Accumulated depreciation (101,144)  (192,007)  (497,930) (35,432) —  (826,513)
REFE Net book amount 382,067 207,595 2,196,785 23,567 224,904 3,034,918
HE-2--F Year ended 31 December 2021

TZA=t+-HLEE

ENEREER Opening net book amount 382,067 207,595 2,196,785 23,567 224904 3,034,918

Weks 7 28] (MFE35) Acquisition of subsidiaries

(Note 35) 38,772 5,998 222,194 1,418 26,210 294,592

110 Additions 7,493 3,735 5,271 4,892 362,272 383,663

FEIREA Transfer from CIP 10,606 18,474 277,403 4 (306,487) —

HE (H532) Disposals (Note 32) (338) (1,075) (1,305) (386) = (3,104)

EAREMEME (13 16) Transfer to investment

properties(Note 16) (656) - - - — (656)

TEBR (MiEs) Depreciation charge (Note 8) (22,515) (32,413)  (130,922) (4,854) —  (190,704)
EREEFE Closing net hook amount 415,429 202,314 2,569,426 24,641 306,899 3,518,709
RZE=—-F+-A=1—H At31 December 2021

AR Cost 538,935 424,769 3,197,952 61,028 306,899 4,529,583

ZiE Accumulated depreciation (123,506) (222,455) (628,526) (36,387) —  (1,010,874)
RHSE Net book amount 415,429 202,314 2,569,426 24,641 306,899 3,518,709
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T -G H=+—HIIFE (2FELBARETIT(HIESEZHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

15. FBE - MERRE

(&

m=

(a)

(c)

MEBRERHARE
174,162,000t (— T ==&
F: AR # 150,721,000
TO)TE [SHEMA ] P -
M ANR#E192,000T (= F
—Z=F: AR® 185,000
)P AT D8 ER ]
m % A R 16,350,000
T(ZEZZTF: ARE
12,444,000 7T) BIFF A [47
BER]F -

RZZEZ—4F+=A
=t+—B BEHOAR
2,065,000 7T H) 18 F #
B 4 A K % 5,900,000
JCRYER 1T 8 R WO
F29): BEBH AR
2,968,000 7T H) 18 F K&
A E #103,996,0007C
MMREERERARK
398,000,000 7T ) iR 17 15
FARAR (fEE 29(c) (— &=
T AR# 2,878,000 TH
BFMARE12,763,655
THRIRREERIERARKE
5,000,000 7T # E i & 513K
# (KtEE29())) °

R-oE-—F+=—RA=+—
B - EEABEOHARE
138,760,000 T(—Z T =&
F: AR # 142,440,000
TC)IEFRE R ET I
B ERMEEHRTEKE
BAEESARANBERLT
I{SRERS -
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

(@)

(c)

Depreciation expense of approximately RMB174,162,000
(2020: RMB150,721,000) has been charged in cost of
sales, RMB192,000 (2020: RMB185,000) in distribution
expenses and RMB16,350,000 (2020: RMB12,444,000) in
administrative expenses.

As at 31 December 2021, buildings amounting to
approximately RMB2,065,000 were secured for bank
borrowings of approximately RMB5,900,000 (Note 29(a));
buildings and gas pipelines amounting to RMB2,968,000
and RMB103,996,000 were secured for bank borrowings
of approximately RMB398,000,000 (Note 29(c))(2020:
buildings and gas pipelines amounting to approximately
RMB2,878,000 and RMB12,763,655 respectively were
secured for other borrowings of approximately RMB5,000,000
(Note 29 (e))).

As at 31 December 2021, the Group was in the process of
obtaining the legal title of buildings with carrying amount of
approximately RMB138,760,000 (2020: RMB142,440,000).
The Directors believe that the ownership title certificates will
be obtained in due course without any significant costs.



B O R AR M ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

HEr—ZT—

—FA=1—HUFE (£FELBARETT(BIFSEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

15. FBE - MERRE

(4

(d)

(e)

R-oEBE-——F4+-—fA=+—
AR=ZZE=ZEF+=A
=+t—H EREIEFES
FERPERANEENRRE
W RIERRRRBRGERA
REEBC o

RoBE-—F+=-A=+—
HEFER AEBHE
BERBEDERBEHRK
KB AR 15,146,000
T(ZEZZF: ARE
15,977,0007% ) ° f& 3 &K
RIREAR A B R I F 5
MEB5.00%(ZEZFF :
6.05%) HAEITEARIL °

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

(d)

(e)

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the CIP
mainly comprised the gas pipelines, LNG and CNG stations
being constructed in the PRC.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
capitalised borrowing costs amounting to RMB15,146,000
(2020: RMB15,977,000) on qualifying assets. Borrowing
costs were capitalised at the weighted average rate of its
general borrowings at 5.00% (2020: 6.05%).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B E A= —HIFE (2EELBARETFT(BIESEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

16. REMEHE 16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

B —E-FF
2021 2020
ARET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
£ At beginning of the year
AR Cost 69,698 69,698
RETiTE Accumulated depreciation (22,676) (19,651)
REFE Net book amount 47,022 50,047
FR For the year
BRYIBREEE Opening net book amount 47,022 50,047
BTEE HWER Transfer from property,

BN ER ) plant and equipment (Note 15) 656 —
TEER Depreciation charge (2,670) (3,025)
FIREFE Closing net book amount 45,008 47,022
FH At end of the year
AR Cost 70,491 69,698
RETE Accumulated depreciation (25,483) (22,676)
REFE Net book amount 45,008 47,022
FNIEE (b) Fair value at end of the year (b) 139,473 135,325
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16.

(@)

(b)

REMEE (&)

16.

BE—F—

B O R AR M ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
— L= A=+ —HILEE (BB BARKETFIT(BIESEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Ty &BEENEBEEPHER : (@)  The following amounts have been recognised in profit or loss:
BE+-A=+—-HLEE
Year ended 31 December
—EZ—F —E-THF
2021 2020
ARET T ARETFTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
HEWE Rental income 2,683 3,203
ELASLUWAMIEME  Direct operating expenses from properties
BHEMBEZGEER that generated rental income (2,670) (3,025)
13 178

——F+ZA=+—HEKZ=
TE+_A=+—H K&EE
%I@ REEwEE REBE

o

[1 ]
«1}}{4}@1

E <A 1

AEBENREEFESI T

RZBZ—F+_A=+—HEkZ=
T2FE+ZA=1T—8 KEK
EHEFNAERTISEREANA
AEEE(FE3E) -
REBERBR AN EBEEE L
BARENBE  BRAAEERE
BEFE LA o

B FRZFETFRE
2 3B R A fa e o

(b)

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Group had
no unprovided contractual obligations for future repairment and

maintenance.

The Group’s investment properties are analysed as follows:

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the fair value
of investment property is measured using significant unobservable

inputs (Level 3).

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of
fair value hierarchy levels as at of the date of the event or change in

circumstances that caused the transfer.

There were no transfers among levels 1, 2 and 3 during the years of

2021 and 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T -G H=+—HIIFE (2FELBARETIT(HIESEZHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

16. REMEME (&

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

(b) AEEMNREMEEMESTWT:  (b) The Group’s investment properties are analysed as follows:
(& (continued)
1 1E 5 1 Valuation techniques
KRENEHENGENREELR The valuation of investment properties is determined using the direct
EEE o R BRMENEE comparison approach. Sales prices of comparable properties in close
ERETERYE (Ml ERBERE proximity are adjusted for property’s size and the ageing degree.
FRFR)NEEELRAE -
HEEATAERGARSE The significant unobservable inputs adopted include:
ERMISER — ERYENER Recent market price — Based on the actual market selling price of
TMHERE the properties;
YEEE — ERYENER@E Property’s size — Based on the size of the properties;
BEAFER — EXNWEEREF The ageing degree — Based on the years of the properties used.
R °

DhEE

it — WAKE Fair value
Description ARETF T fRE R FUBEHAE
— Office building RMB’000 Valuation technique Unobservable inputs
R-E-—F+-A=+—H 139,473 ERLECE FFKRAREE2750-17,851 7T
At 31 December 2021 139,473 Direct comparison approach RMB2,750-RMB17,851 per square meter
R-E-EF+-A=+—H 135,325 BEERLEBE FFKRARED 942-15,064 7T
At 31 December 2020 135,325 Direct comparison approach RMB5,942-RMB15,064 per square meter
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16.

(c)

(d)

B O R AR M ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

HEr—ZT—

—FA=1—HUFE (£FELBARETT(BIFSEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

REMEBE (&

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

MEBAHARE2,670,000t(= (c) Depreciation expense of approximately RMB2,670,000 (2020:
T -FF: AR¥3,02500075T) RMB3,025,000) has been charged in cost of sales.
TE[SHEMA] PxzsH o
HEZH (d) Leasing arrangements
REERFARBRAKEHEE Certain investment properties are leased to tenants under long-
HETREEFEHE - HEREN term operating leases with rental payable at regular intervals during
FIER T A - BREKEN the year based on the payment terms. Minimum lease payments
BB EE NPT HUH A S 1 B FE U T R under non-cancellable operating leases of investment properties not
EEHYBERRPERNREEE recognised in the consolidated financial statements are receivable as
WGREELAT - follows:
R+=BA=+—~H
As at 31 December
—EZ—F —E-THF
2021 2020
AR%T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
—FR Within 1 year 1,896 2,631
—F LA B TBB=F Later than 1 year but no later than 3 years 1,605 2,134
=FE More than 3 years 365 2,182
3,866 6,947
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T -G H=+—HIIFE (2FELBARETIT(HIESEZHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

7 >
17. B EE 17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
EF
HE R B e /i FRB& @t
Contractual
Operating Computer customer
Goodwill rights software Network  relationships Total
ARBTT  ARETT ARETT ARBTn ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R-E-Z2%-A-H At 1 January 2020
KA Cost 2,087,132 1,308,273 13,650 481,317 401,910 4,292,282
RETEH Accumulated amortisation —  (265,153) (2,905) (69,281) (79,971)  (417,310)
REYE Net book amount 2,087,132 1,043,120 10,745 412,036 321,939 3874972
HE-S-EF Year ended 31 December 2020
TZR=t+-HLEE
ENEAFE Opening net book amount 2,087,132 1,043,120 10,745 412,036 321,939 3,874,972
WEF AT Acquisition of a subsidiary 160,406 145,449 — — — 305,855
1 Additions — 2,447 1,674 — — 4121
BHER Amortisation charge — (59,645) (3,900 (17,121) (16,336) (97,502)
EREMFE Closing net book amount 2247538 1,131.371 8,519 394,915 305,103 4,087,446
RZBZFF+-A=+—H At31 December 2020
KR Cost 2,247,538 1,456,169 15,324 481,317 401,910 4,602,258
ESE: Accumulated amortisation —  (324,798) (6,805) (86,402) (96,807)  (514,812)
REFE Net book amount 2,247,538 1,131,371 8,519 394,915 305,103 4,087,446
HE-2--% Year ended 31 December 2021
TZRA=t+-HLEFE
FNERFE Opening net book amount 2,247,538 1,131,371 8,519 394,915 305,103 4,087,446
G SENSIRL)) Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Note 35) 489,041 531,184 — 109,533 — 1,129,758
#m Additions — 2,410 1,092 — — 3,502
BHER Amortisation charge — (81,254) (5,574) (20,042) (16,836) (123,706)
EREMFE Closing net book amount 2,736,579 1,583,711 4,037 484,406 288,267 5,097,000
RZE=-%F+-A=1—H At31 December 2021
KA Cost 2,736,579 1,989,763 16,416 590,850 401,910 5,735,518
REtE Accumulated amortisation — (406,052) (12,379)  (106,444)  (113,643)  (638,518)
EREE Net book amount 2,736,579 1,583,711 4,037 484,406 288,267 5,097,000
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17.

(@)

(b)

B Ot B R R ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE—F_—F 1 _A=1—HIFE (LEELSARETIT(FHFSEHYA))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

BIEE(E

BE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—81
FE HARY116,410,0007T
(ZZE =24 : AR¥ 92,100,000
TC) RIBESETE [SBE AN s -
HANREET 296,000 L (ZE-F
F: AR#5,402,0007T) H) 2 54
EITHER] R -

BB RE

EREREFRARMEBRLER
EBRE UREEMFTE - KS

Rfm ~ AIEARR - AmE&% RA
®iB - RAHEMR  BHEBX - BER
hXR-HERAR ERABE - E
B RAES - BIMEX R
B RfRRES &N XfRE -

—HEBE ZERIRE - BEAT
o EMER  BREAE R R
& W)IBAE - IEER - 2 EM
®oKBERE - RERE - ARHE
T ATIE LEESE - FM
B4 ~ IBES M  XFRERME M
MR AHBETFERERENR
BFRE]

FRFATERPBERRERA
TR R E AR S ETRER
£75 - ERBRIEE D BEREE
BB - AT ASERSELETM
RS BHE -

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(a)

(b)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, amortisation of
approximately RMB116,410,000 (2020: RMB92,100,000)

was included in cost of sales, and RMB7,296,000 (2020:
RMB5,402,000) was included in administration expenses.

Impairment for goodwill

Management reviews the business performance based on subsidiaries
and type of business. It has identified Jilin Zhongji, Puyang Tianlun,
Henan Luyuan, Henan Songxian, Dongkou Senbo, Kaifeng Xi'Na,
Caoxian Zhongtian, Shanxian Zhongtian, Gansu Baiyin, Yunnan
Datong, Heze Guanghe, Dongming Wanji, Chaozhou Huamao,
Shantou Chenghai, Tianlun Pipeline, Suzhou Tianlun, Sanming
Huiji, Lechang Anshunda, Fenghuang Zhongyou, Jilin Qian’an,
Liguan Hongyuan, Qianxian Hongyuan, Sichuan Mingsheng, Xichuan
Longcheng, Jintang Gas, Mizhi Changxing, Wubu Changxing,
Shijiazhuang Jinming, Xiping Kaida, Shenqgiu Huixin, Zizhou
Shunxiang, Jingyuan Jindi, Yongyang Energy and Jindi New Energy as
the subsidiaries which are subject to the annual impairment testing
on goodwill.

The above subsidiaries all engaged in distribution and sale of
natural gas, and connection of gas pipelines in the PRC. Goodwill
is monitored by management at the operating segment level. The
following is a summary of goodwill allocation for each CGU:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T -G H=+—HIIFE (2FELBARETIT(HIESEZHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

17. B EE (&
(b) FABRME(E)

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(b) Impairment for goodwill (continued)

B+=—A=+—H
As at 31 December
—E-—F —ZTTF
2021 2020
ARET T AREETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Jilin location
Bl Jilin Zhongji 89,045 89,045
EMEL % Jilin Qian’an 3,089 3,089
HERmEE Gansu location
HERAR Gansu Baiyin 86,715 86,715
IHIREH Jingyuan Jindi 95,053 —
JA] A [ A, Henan location
EE R Puyang Tianlun 6,167 6,167
AR Henan Luyuan 7,663 7,663
AES% Henan Songxian 8,115 8,115
EiEE] Kaifeng Xi'Na 10,079 10,079
I BERK Xichuan Longcheng 33,533 33,533
el Xiping Kaida 87,682 87,682
LS Shengiu Huixin 118,433 118,433
4 [ Hunan location
AAFRE Dongkou Senbo 7,572 7,572
B2 A ek Fenghuang Zhongyou 20,353 20,353
Erglm i Yunnan location
EmAB Yunnan Datong 16,778 16,778
1Ly B9 [ 1 Shandong location
EEh X Caoxian Zhongtian 11,401 11,401
BEHAX Shanxian Zhongtian 14,222 14,222
SEDEBES Heze Guanghe 61,656 61,656
RPET Dongming Wanji 14,967 14,967
[ R [ 15, Guangdong location
RN EE T Chaozhou Huamao 166,070 166,070
MIEENzS:s] Shantou Chenghai 65,937 65,937
IR XEREEE Beijing Tian Lun Investment Group
KRR EH Tianlun Pipeline 265,503 265,503
RN K Suzhou Tianlun 188,697 188,697
—RER Sanming Huiji 22,518 22,518
HEREE Lechang Anshunda 28,063 28,063
PR 7 (6 15 Shaanxi location
BRI Liquan Hongyuan 90,106 90,106
BBRIR Qianxian Hongyuan 57,978 57,978
RAERE Mizhi Changxing 52,215 52,215
RERHE Wubu Changxing 29,497 29,497
FMNERE Zizhou Shunxiang 41,973 41,973
P9Il 1 Sichuan location
Vo)1 B8 Sichuan Mingsheng 249,305 249,305
EERE Jintang Gas 246,422 246,422
KFEBLIR Yongyang Energy 93,061 -
b= Hebei location
AXHESH Shijiazhuang Jinming 145,784 145,784
HE 21 Qinghai location
S HFTREIR Jindi New Energy 300,927 —
2,736,579 2,247,538
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B Ot B R R ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

HE_FE_—F | _HA="1—HIFE (LHELBARETT(GIFEHSH))
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

17.

(b)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment for goodwill (continued)

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-
use calculations. These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-
year period, while in some circumstances, an eight-year period is
taken into consideration. Cash flows beyond the five-year or eight-
year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates stated
below until the expiry of the relevant operation periods or operating
rights. The growth rate does not exceed the long-term average growth
rate for the gas business in which the CGU operates. In the opinion
of the Company'’s directors, the recoverable amounts of the CGUs will
not be lower than the carrying amount even if taking into account a
reasonably possible change in a key assumption on the calculations
of recoverable amounts of the CGUs.

Except for the CGUs belongs to Beijing Tian Lun Investment Group,
the other CGUs belongs to the same geography share approximately
the same compound annual volume growth rate, long term growth
rate and pre-tax discount rate. The CGUs belongs to Beijing Tian Lun
Investment Group share approximately the same compound annual
volume growth rate, long term growth rate and pre-tax discount
rate, as their business models are similar to each other. The CGUs
in Beijing Tian Lun Investment Group and the other CGUs in the
same geography had been grouped together for presentation only,
respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

P_E_—FF A= —HIEFE (2FRBURBARET T (HRIESFHA))
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

17. B EE (& 17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
(b) EEREE) (b) Impairment for goodwill (continued)
R FREERERERAN The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations in 2021 are
RARRERERAT - as follows:
TRXf
ENES  HEEM TEES OBMEM EEEY  WREM EREY RERE KEEY WIEW TiEY ENEH
Beijing
Tian Lun

Jilin Gansu Henan Hunan ~ VYunnan ~ Shandong Guangdong Investment  Shaamxi  Sichuan Hebei ~ Qinghai
Location ~ Location ~ Location  Location  Location  Location Location Group  Location  Location  Location  Location

#e Sales volume
(EREE%) (% annual growth rate) 7% 13% 10% 10% 13% 11% 2% 22% 8% 19% 21% 21%
HER Sales price
(EREE%) (% annual growth rate) 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
AfpRHA Other operating costs
(ARETT) (RMB'000) 35,231 15775 29311 7820 13369 20094 18219 20062 23925 27,081 2887 11495
FERFY Annual capital expenditure
(ARETT) (RMB'000) 8478 6452 25,003 5,566 2,721 2,329 9363 13453 28548 15452 2442 10,642
= Gross margin
(lA%) (% of revenue) 29% 22% 30% 3% 21% 21% 18% 13% 35% 28% 32% 27%
RfERE Long term growth rate 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3%
iEESEES Pre-tax discount rate 19% 14% 18% 17% 17% 17% 15% 15% 16% 14% 18% 15%
—ECTHEFREEFEMRAN The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations in 2020 are
SRR as follows:
N
EhEs HBEH TEEY WEEY Z@BH LFEY REREN REEE RERY MIEH TLEd
Beijing
Tian Lun
Jiin Gamsu  Henan  Hunan  Yunnan Shandong Guangdong Investment  Shaanxi ~ Sichuan  Hebei
Location  Location  Location  Location  Location  Location  Location ~ Group  Location  Location  Location
e Sales volume
(FERE%) (% annual growth rate) 9% 8% 13% 15% 2% 17% 2% 20% 13% 12% 2%
HER Sales price
(FEREY) (% annual growth rate) 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Apfana Other operating costs
(\REFT) (RMB" 000) 30,347 8730 21,192 9117 11,063 13,526 14,846 18114 23538 19710 3,856
EEARY Annual capital expenditure
(\REFT) (RMB" 000) 7,706 3,167 25,935 4710 2,443 560 3807 13,343 21,216 10,340 2,980
ESikS Gross margin
(A%) (% of revenue) 34% 29% 30% 36% 29% 28% 23% 15% 3% 39% 32%
KRR Long term growth rate 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% % % % 3% 3% 3%
LIS Pre-tax discount rate 17% 14% 18% 15% 17% 16% 13% 15% 15% 13% 19%

230 FARREREMAT 2021 FFEHS



(b)

B Ot B R R ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BEx_—F—

—FT A= —HILFE (FEELSARETIT(KISEFHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

7. B EE (&)
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17.

(b)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment for goodwill (continued)

These assumptions have been used for the analysis of each CGU
within the operating segment.

Sales volume is the average compound annual growth rate which
is based on past performance and management’s expectations of
market development over the five-year or eight-year forecast period.

Sales price is the average annual growth rate over the five-year or
eight-year forecast period, it is estimated to be stable during the
forecast period.

Other operating costs are the fixed costs of the CGUs, which do not
vary significantly with sales volumes or prices. Management forecasts
these costs based on the current structure of the business, adjusting
for inflationary increases and these do not reflect any future
restructurings or cost saving measures. The amounts disclosed above
are the average operating costs for the five-year or eight-year forecast
period.

Annual capital expenditure is the expected cash costs in the
subsidiaries of each group. This is based on the historical experience
and the long-term assets investment plan of the management.

Gross margin is the average margin as a percentage of revenue over
the five-year or eight-year forecast period. It is based on the current
sales margin levels.

The long term growth rates are based on management’s best
estimates with consideration of both internal and external factors
relating to the CGUs.

The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating
to the relevant locations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T -G H=+—HIIFE (2FELBARETIT(HIESEZHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

18. EFIEIDWERITE 18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

REBRETIEHIA The Group holds the following financial instruments:
R+=A=+—8H
As at 31 December
—EB-—fF —E-TF
2021 2020
ks ARET T ARBET T
SREE Financial assets Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
SR AT 2/ Financial assets at amortised cost
TRIEE
JE W BR 51 I B fth fE Trade and other receivables (exclude
Wk - Ne1ETE prepayments,value-added-tax to be
38 - 12EFAR offset, prepaid income tax and other
R TENETEH non-financial assets)
MEMIECRIEE 20 814,970 695,582
RERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 24 1,014,978 1,640,081
XERHIIRE Restricted cash 24 177,279 24,653
WARBEFEAEE Financial assets at fair value through

BEETAHMERS other comprehensive income

WaEmEmEE 19 79,347 88,583
WARMEBESERE  Financial assets at fair value

BEETABER through profit or loss

MERIEE 23 39,018 —

2,125,592 2,448,899

THas Financial liabilities
AR ANFHER A& Liabilities at amortised cost

FERTBR X R ELfth i Trade and other payables (exclude

5 T BRIEER accrued payroll and welfare

Fre MAaFIA payables and other taxes payables)

E b TR 28 1,146,521 1,135,546
fEm Borrowings 29 6,306,022 5,064,639
HEaE Lease liabilities 14(i) 9,974 8,202
AAREEFEBEE  Financial liabilities at fair value

Rt A= through profit or loss

Hemas 23 39,287 30,445

7,501,804 6,238,832
AEE SR T ERARNSER R The Group’s exposure to various risks associated with the financial
AFRWE3 - AEEEHESR instruments is discussed in Note 3. The maximum exposure to credit
T B &R E e S R risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each
AREHREREO A FR&ES class of financial assets mentioned above.
BEMKRAEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

19 UAREEFEAH 19 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

SETTARMEES R THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
a2 =t
mHERMEE INCOME
NAREEGTEBEEB T AEM Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
FEWRNERMEERE include the following:
R+=A=+—H
As at 31 December
- —TTF
2021 2020
ARMT T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERBNEE Non-current assets
BmTH—3FEm Equity instrument — unlisted securities
— BRSBTS (1) — Gas industry equity interest (i) 72,600 61,500
R+=HA=+—8H
As at 31 December
—B-—F —ERTF
2021 2020
ARET T AREETTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
MENEEE Current assets
EETA Debt instrument

— UWERE (i)

— Notes receivable (ii) 6,747 27,083
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T -G H=+—HIIFE (2FELBARETIT(HIESEZHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

19

(i)

UanEEFERAR
BETTAHMERS W
HNETHMEE (&)

UARBEFEEESE
AHRMGEE RSN ERT A

RZZE-—F+-A=+—HBEK=
TE-_TE+_A=+—0 K&£E
IR E R LB A 19% o

B AN R [ 3 AR R B T B
MERFE  WEREDB/UR
REEFELEZEHHAELMEE
WanH) S BB E - MIFHHE QA
HIRE - AXEBEDZIR—BR
RIERBIRENTMESZTERE - K
SERBELBIRE T RMERT
& HEREBEERENTREE:

. MRAREBER D BRE
W B IR E SR EREKF
MREEBEATE

. AEBEFIRET 2R
HEEEABBBRMEIMES

#E
o BAEATTER BB
VEAE1R AR

. AEEEEBWIE T N
BHEEEE NI R /A
BRI :

. AN - REBRBEFER
RERESTESGREETE
& - DIanf B o Eoat &1 E
KRBT RAEIEEZRIK
F o BLERORER -

AR BEFEBEZFH AR
FAKENEREECAHEER
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R ANERHRERDE -
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()

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (continued)

Equity instrument at fair value through other
comprehensive income

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Group’s total
percentage shareholding in the investee was 19%.

This investment is classified as financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income, rather than as an investment in an
associate, because the Group does not have the power to exercise
significant influence over the investee. Although one representative
has been assigned to the investee as its director of the board,
the Group’s determination that it does not exercise a “significant
influence” over the investee has been based on the following factors:

° The Group does not have a significant influence in respect
of the voting power in the policy-making decisions of the
investee due to the minority shareholding position;

° There is no interchange of management personnel or sharing
of technical information between the Group and the investee;

° There are no potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable or currently convertible;

° The access to the financial and operating information of the
investee was very restrictive for the Group;

° In addition, the Group made a few proposals to the board of
the investee in prior years, such as the dividends distribution
plan and senior management assignment to the investee etc.,
and all of these proposals were vetoed.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
measured at fair value in the consolidated balance sheet are
categorised by level according to the significance of the inputs used
in making the measurements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE—F_—F 1 _A=1—HIFE (LEELSARETIT(FHFSEHYA))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

UanEEFERAR
BETTAHMERS W
HNETHMEE (&)

UARBEFEEESE
AHRMGEE RSN ERT A
(%)

AEENBRR AN EHEREMH
BRANENEE  BRAAEBEE
MEBHKEA - REEEARR
EEELEZHTAEMEAN
SMEREEMNEIEREER
EEHIEA -

B —F+-A=+—HAK=Z
“EFE+-_A=+—H kLW
BEiREN AR EBEREENSE
A B EEE QB Asset Appraisal
Limited 1T {E @ ERATISEHET
ZE  WBEZXHELIXRHERT
/[ EHE S AR T MR kR
BEAMS EHAAEE &
FZEFEFSIEAAABEER
RE3E -

RAMSER - BRRNGEEU
CERBOXHERDUH2HH
TEREEFEREE - EEKTF
MBS SRR E XA FE - BT
AHEBEMEE SNEENYS
SYEABRNFERR - ARE
R HEHHEBEUAR R DR
B E R IENR B ERTEER
B AL B REE - (SER KRS
MFERBEEMEE - mAEM
B ST EBHATRIEL - R
EiERRENEBEDRERAT
RE#RNFEERZ FOEERE -

19 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

()

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (continued)

Equity instrument at fair value through other
comprehensive income (continued)

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of
fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the event or change in
circumstances that caused the transfer. There were no transfers in
or out of Level 3 fair value measurements for financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income during the year.

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the fair values of
unlisted equity investment are valued by independent professionally
qualified valuation firm Asset Appraisal Limited and calculated by
using the market approach to determine the fair value of the assets
by reference to the transaction prices, or “valuation multiples”
implicit in the transaction prices, of identical or similar assets on
the market, which results in these measurements being classified as
Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.

In applying the market approach, a few valuation multiples are to be
determined by dividing a financial parameter by the transaction price
paid for similar business enterprises, such as historical or prospective
turnover or profit at a given level. Valuation multiples are applied to
the corresponding financial parameter of the subject asset in order
to value it. Adjustments are required to the transaction prices or
valuation multiples to reflect the differentiating characteristics of
the business enterprises and the comparable business enterprises
for which the transaction prices or valuation multiples are known.
The multiples adopted in the valuation are among P/B ratio, price/
earnings and price/EBITDA, and the value of unlisted equity
investment was determined by the average of the results calculated
using the different multiples.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

EoE

—FtA=1—HUFE (£FEELBARETT(BI=EHSA))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

19

(i)

(ii)

UAAEEBA
BE AR MHA K
HNSAE (&

19 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (continued)

DAREEFEEESEF (i)  Equity instrument at fair value through other
AEMGENENERTA comprehensive income (continued)
(%)
HRAEBAXT B WA (E3E) Information about fair value measurements using significant
HRAEETEREE unobservable inputs (Level 3)
FABZHEA TABRZHAYLA
it MEE fhER FABEHA (= METs) EENEZ
Unobservable
inputs Relationship of
Valuation Unobservable (probability- unobservable
Description Fair value technique inputs Weighted average) inputs to fair value
(\R&TF7T)
(RMB'000)
FLmgRRE
Unlisted equity investment
—RIBC-F+A=1-H 72,600 5 [k 1.27 LEER - MREEES
— As at 31 December 2021 72,600 Market approach P/B ratio The higher the ratios,
the higher the fair value
BRERSRTERENNAL 887
Price/EBITDA
—RIBCBETA=T-H 61,500 5% max 15.54 HEHR  AEEER
— As at 31 December 2020 61,500 Market approach Price/eamings The higher the ratios,
the higher the fair value
REESHIEREMANEL 1076
Price/EBITDA
UAREBEFTEBEEESE (ii) Debt investments at fair value through other

AHMEGE W BN ERRE
TH

UARBEFERLEZESH T AEM
RAkamEBRETABRERK
RE - RREB /TP RKEIH
RANKE B - AEEFEL TR
ANEEREAERLERS @ £E
WIS SR HERRER
TR - AEEERARSRENR
AR BN FRERENAAER
HARBEBANKA
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comprehensive income

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
comprise notes receivable. Notes receivable consist of bills received
as payments from customers. Certain subsidies of Group’s turnover
of notes receivable is high and the Group utilises the bills to settle
payables to suppliers or redemption from bank before the bills
mature. The Group measures the fair value of the notes receivable
using the discounted cash flow method, which gives rise to fair
values approximating the cost.
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(iii)

(iv)

(v)

B O R AR M ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HE_FE_—F | _HA="1—HIFE (LHELBARETT(GIFEHSH))
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

LAREBEFERH 19 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

BEETAHMESU THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
mNEMEE (&) INCOME (continued)

FFABSRMEMLSWER (i) Amounts recognised in profit or loss and other

ot | comprehensive income

REZAREE B A TSR AR During the year, the following gains were recognised in profit or loss
mAE AR S W as and other comprehensive income:

BE+-A=1+—HLFE

Year ended 31 December

=F=—F —TEF
2021 2020
ARBT T AR¥ETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
SFAHMARAUWEEAR)  Gains/(losses) recognised in other comprehensive
Fig/ (&i8) income (Note 27)
(FIzE27)
B RS B FE Related to equity investments 11,100 (18,246)
FFAEMFE Losses recognised in profit or loss in other
— FEEREE gains — net (Note 7)
(MIEE7)
BEFIR A Related to debt investments 1,993 2,691

NARBEFTEBEE8T AEM  (iv)  Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

RAEWNENEREEAARES are denominated in RMB.
,fé o
FitemEELSBRE - (v)  None of these financial assets is impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T -G H=+—HIIFE (2FELBARETIT(HIESEZHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

20. EWERR R HMEWS 20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

R+=—A=+—H
As at 31 December
—EB=-—-F —TTF
2021 2020
ARET AREBT T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
JEURBEFk — #8%E(a)  Trade receivables — gross (a) 390,109 287,522
FE U AR 75 5RIE (a) Receivables due from related parties (a) (Note 36)

(Ffi3E36) 324,428 332,024
R ERE Less: provision for impairment (31,883) (20,432)
e =R Notes receivable 45,676 5,918
AR Prepayments 542,211 633,819
HAth EUGR Other receivables 111,946 144,558
R ERE Less: provision for impairment (310) (299)
EETBERK Value-added-tax to be offset and prepaid income tax

TR FT SRR 50,650 37,160

1,432,827 1,420,270
W REIFERR Less: long-term prepayments (24,996) (27,174)
mENER Current portion 1,407,831 1,393,096
(a) MRERHEE—METEFPHE (@)  The credit period generally granted to customers in relation
EHAMEAR - HNIER to sales of pipelined gases is up to two months. As for the
BERBREER  AKEBFT customers in relation to engineering construction service,
Z U EFEUGR + T AR 38 the Group generally requests advance payments, and in
HIERT  BEEERYER circumstances of credit sales, management closely monitors
EFMNEERE - WEBR the credit quality of the customers, and credit period was
FIERE —RBETTR granted case by case with maximum of two years. The
BRE - L TABEARE following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables and
310,821,000t (&2 ==& receivables due from related parties in trade nature amounting
F: A R #318,417,000 to RMB310,821,000 (2020: RMB318,417,000), presented
TC) FEW B 7 B 5 FkIE based on billing date at the end of the reporting period:

HERRIZREBHRZ5W
W AR F R ER DA -
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(&)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

H R UK

B O R AR M ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE T

—FT A= —HILFE (FEELSARETIT(KISEFHE))

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(continued)

(a) (%) (a) (continued)

R+=—HA=+—H

As at 31 December
—EB—F —ETHF
2021 2020
AR¥ET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
A Less than one year 569,333 551,318
—FEEWF 1 year to 2 years 101,352 16,216
LA Over 2 years 30,245 38,405
700,930 605,939

(b)

(c)

(e)

IR M B R Lt P W R 9 B
HEEEAABEER—
ﬁo

JRE Wi B R 0 EL b 8 SR A
HMEREEHFLRME

3.1 FEUAR R e H At B IR
HARNEMBERRBEREE
BEEE

HHER  HFSERARE
BRr bhsBERERER

BE - ARETFATAE
AERNERS

TR T AR 5 e L At R LA R O B
EEEAAREE -

RoBE-—F+=-A=+—
H AEBEEREEBEHAA
R # 88,599,000 JT K FE U
BEREERAEBRERE
Tﬁ”@(:gfgi CARM
91,970,000 JT K [fE Y BR 7k
YERE IR (H3E29(c))

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables
approximate their fair values.

See Note 3.1 for the provision for impairment of trade
receivables and other receivables. And the other classes
within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired
assets.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date
is the carrying value of each class of receivable mentioned
above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables were
denominated in RMB.

As at 31 December 2021, the trade receivables with
carrying value of approximately RMB88,599,000 (2020:
RMB91,970,000) were pledged for the Group’s borrowings
(Note 29(c)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B E A= —HIFE (2EELBARETFT(BIESEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

21. Ht3ERENEE MRS 21. PREPAYMENTS RELATED TO OTHER NON-

OREERE CURRENT ASSETS
R+t=—A=+—8
As at 31 December
—E-—F —E-THF
2021 2020
AR%ET T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
TEMARHEN BB RIE () Prepayments related to share purchase
agreements (i) 41,788 208,340
RHEEEZRIENZ Prepayments related to long-term assets
construction 16,601 10,046
58,389 218,386
(i) RZFZ—F+ZA=1— (i) As at 31 December 2021, prepayments amounting to
H BRREARE RMB41,788,000 (2020: RMB208,340,000) were related
41,788,000t( — T = & to the prepayments made for purchasing the equity of other
F: A K ¥ 208,340,000 private companies in gas industry.
Jo) BB EEMRITER
I E R EIIRIEBR o
=7
22. & 22. INVENTORIES
B+=—A=+—H
As at 31 December
—E-—fF —ECTF
2021 2020
ARET T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
MREERME Materials for gas pipelines 149,180 110,772
SHAEmM Consumables 5,462 5,104
154,642 115,876
N—_E-——F+-_A=+—RHE— As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, no inventories
TZ_TF+-_A=+—8H  KH7F write-down was provided.
EEHR BB LA -
FEKRAER AR EERX I The cost of inventories recognised as the Group’s expense
AHEKR AN A AEARE and included in cost of sales amounted to approximately
4,668,463,000t( — & — T F : RMB4,668,463,000 (2020: RMB3,507,196,000).

AR#3,507,196,0007T) °
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23. U AAREBEFERH 23.

(@)

(b)

B O R AR M ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

SETABRENER

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

TH
DAREEFEEESEF (@ Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
ABEHNEMEE
R+=—A=+—H
As at 31 December
—B=-—-F —TETF
2021 2020
AR¥T T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
REBEE Current assets
RITIEI E M Bank financial products 30,000 -
ANE T (i) Forward exchange instrument (i) 9,018 —
39,018 —

(i) REEFTYTARKE ET
BEBREAR 2S8R
152,500,000% 7T # ©
T NFZ AR DR
gq o

SNE T AAEREHRIARS
EBEE ZANEBENKS
EXHHTFERMBBORE

(i) The Group entered into RMB/USD cross currency swap
contracts with a notional amount of USD152,500,000 which
will mature by stages till February 2024.

The cross currency swap contracts are measured at fair value
at the end of the reporting period which is determined by
reference to the prices as quoted by the counterparty financial

WE © institution.
AAn@BESMEBERSZEHE  (b) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
ABEZHNEREs
R+=—A=+-—A8
As at 31 December
—B=-—-F —TTF
2021 2020
AR%T T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
REBAE Current liabilities
SINFE T EL (i) Forward exchange instrument (i) 39,287 30,445
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T -G H=+—HIIFE (2FELBARETIT(HIESEZHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

23. UDAAEESTEHHE  23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
@Eﬁ)\dﬁ%‘ﬁﬂ’yﬁﬁﬂ THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)
B (&

(b) UUAREEFEBHSZEF  (b) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

ABRHNEmAsE (&) (continued)

(i) REERZZTEZZTFTL (i) The Group entered into RMB/USD forward exchange
TARY /" ET/HIETR instruments in 2020. The forward exchange instruments
R IETEERBE including four tranche, tranche one amounting to
mHn F—HoeBA USD13,750,000 matured and settled in 2021, tranche two/
13,750,000t ER = three amounting to USD27,500,000 with maturity in 2022,
T —FREHITEHE F tranche four amounting to USD13,500,000 with maturity in
—Hy S E=HOERER 2023. The transaction exchange rates RMB/USD vary from
27,500,000 7T #H = 7.261-7.447.

T__FIHH - FOBAE
# /513,500,000 7T+ #
R-ZZF-=F2H - AR%

S ETNRHEERIET.261-

7.447 28

RZEZ—F - A&EEF] In 2021, the Group entered into RMB/USD cross currency
NSTARE =18k swap contracts with a notional amount of USD30,000,000
EHER 2&2 %E/t'j which will mature by stages till February 2024. The
30,000,000 7T+ # K = transaction exchange rate RMB/USD is 6.541.

S F = BRI E
e ARE /ETHX5E

£56.541 -

HNE T B REHARURAD The forward exchange instruments and cross currency
BEE  ZAnBENS swap contracts are measured at fair value at the end of the
ERSGEF o BEENRE reporting period which is determined by reference to the
M®E ° prices as quoted by the counterparty financial institution.
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B O R AR M ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

23. UAREEFERH 23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE

SETABENTR THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)
IH(Z

(c) FTAEHBZNEHE (c) Amounts recognised in profit or loss
REFRNATHRERBLREAR During the year, the following gains and losses were recognised in
Fog profit or loss:

BE+T-A=1T—HLHFE

Year ended 31 December

—E-F —ETF
2021 2020
AR®ET T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
B AH TG Fair value losses on forward exchange instrument
— FEEMINET A recognised in other gains — net (Note 7)
NABEEEIEKX
(BtsE7) (16,813) (30,445)
SRITIEM EMFBULA  Interest income from bank financial products = 5,680
24. RERBREEEY 24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(@) BHERREEEY (a) Cash and cash equivalents
W+=A=+—H
As at 31 December
—E-—F —TTF
2021 2020
AR®ET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
FHEES Cash in hand 55 15
IRITER Cash at banks 1,014,923 1,640,066
1,014,978 1,640,081
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B E A= —HIFE (2EELBARETFT(BIESEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

24. BERBREEEY 24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(45 (continued)
(@) BHERRESEEW(E) (a) Cash and cash equivalents (continued)
FHBe RRITERTIATIEE Cash in hand and at banks are denominated in the following
FHE - currencies:
R+=BA=+—~H
As at 31 December
—B-—F —E-THF
2021 2020
AR¥T AREF T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREE RMB 985,164 1,610,998
ETT usb 13,391 2,698
P HKD 16,423 26,385
ReERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 1,014,978 1,640,081
AN R EHER G R IR R INE The conversion of the RMB denominated balances into foreign
Rz EE E LR B EE TS currencies and the remittance of these funds out of the PRC are
B T 78 4 ) SN BEE B 1) 5 R AR Rl K subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control
VAR e promulgated by the PRC government.
(b) ZEZRFIRE (b) Restricted cash
R+=A=+—8H
As at 31 December
—EC--F —EB-FTF
2021 2020
ARMT T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREE RMB 123,132 7,680
B HKD 35,657 11,101
ETT usD 18,490 5,872
IR FHIRE Restricted cash 177,279 24,653
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

—FT A= —HILFE (FEELSARETIT(KISEFHE))

iyi

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

24, BERBEEEY

(b)

(#&)

ZRERE (F)

RZZEZ—F+ZA=+—H' A
R 44,495,000 0 (2 - F :
B) RN RITIEARY ENE
HH R FE 2 % 782,900,0007T
B ¥ 5,274,000 T (KB ARE
22,802,0007L) (ZE=FF : &
7£900,000 7T & 7& # 13,191,000
T #1A AR 16,974,0007T )
BEBRRITIEARITIREERD
EER < : % 38,338,000
(8953 ANR#31,345,0007T) (=
%:%i V) BTERRNEF QR
i @%H&%E’J%Bﬁé%\lfﬁé AN
EMS 750,000 L( Z T =ZF F :
m)RBAOREKRER AR
42, 64400073(_7_7¢ AR
7,384,000 7T ) & HMNE T BEARFE
il AEM20,025,0007E<:2:\:
TF:\)RRANER 1%“‘6 ;
AREE202,000 (=TT F:
AR®200,0007T) Bttt EEE
ERAARZMERRIBITHRES
AR#10,016,000c (=T - F
F:E)BFRNRBRITHRRE B
ERRFESR ©

24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(b)

(continued)

Restricted cash (continued)

As at 31 December 2021, RMB44,495,000 are restricted deposits
held at banks as reserve for issuing notes payable; USD2,900,000
and HKDb5,274,000 (approximately RMB22,802,000)
(2020: USD900,000 and HKD13,191,000, approximately
RMB16,974,000) are restricted deposits held at banks as reserve for
bank borrowings; HKD38,338,000 (approximately RMB31,345,000)
are restricted deposit held at security companies for repurchase
of shares; RMB5,750,000 are restricted deposits held at bank as
reserve for performing guarantee letter; RMB42,644,000 (2020:
RMB7,384,000) are restricted deposits held at bank as reserve
for forward exchange instrument; RMB20,025,000 are restricted
deposits held at bank as reserve for issuing letter of credit;
RMB202,000 (2020: RMB200,000) are restricted deposits held at
bank for purchasing natural gas from the suppliers; RMB10,016,000
are restricted deposits held at bank as reserve for gas pipeline
construction.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

P_E_—FF A= —HIEFE (2FRBURBARET T (HRIESFHA))
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

25. A& - BAEFKE 25. SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE PREMIUM AND

FR TREASURY SHARES
(@) BAFRAEF (@) Share capital and share premium
RGHE EER BRAEH @t
Number of shares  Ordinary shares  Share premium Total
(FRR) NS NS ARETFT
(thousands) RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
BRTIEHE Issued and fully paid:

R-E-ZF-HA—-H At1January 2020 999,615 8,430 1,029,366 1,037,796

“E-ZEERSAE Dividends relating to 2020 dividend

(Pfi331) (Note 31) — — (235,003) (235,003)
RIERERIET 1%/ Issue of shares pursuant
to share option scheme 4,000 36 23,092 23,128
R-E-ZH§ At 31 December 2020
+=A=1+-H 1,003,615 8,466 817,455 825,921

“T-—-FERENE  Dividends relating to 2021

(HE31) dividend (Note 31) — == (289,322) (289,322)
RZEZ-§ At 31 December 2021

+=ZA=t+-AH 1,003,615 8,466 528,133 536,599
ARABERBAEITHEREL The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 2,000,000,000
2,000,000,000/( =T == % : shares (2020: 2,000,000,000 shares) with a par value of HKD0.01
2,000,000,000% ) - FREE & per share (2020: HKDO.01 per share).

BEOOLIT(ZZE-Z4F : FRE
BB 0.017T) °
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25. BRZ& - BAERARE

(b)

B O R AR M ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

25. SHARE CAPITAL , SHARE PREMIUM AND

7 (& TREASURY SHARES (continued)
EFR (b) Treasury shares
BE B st
Number of shares Amounts
(Fm) ARET T
(thousands) RMB’000
R-ZE—LTF At 31 December 2020
+ZA=+—H — —
f& 15 188 Repurchase of shares 31,490 200,697
R-B-—%F At 31 December 2021
+=-B=+—H 31,490 200,697

R-FB-—FE  ARBRBRMA

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company

CfEE & EElRET repurchased its own ordinary shares on the Stock Exchange as
follows:

B/&E RIPEE BREEE BRREE XHAE
Number of Highest Price Lowest Price Aggregate
Month/Year shares per share per share price paid
(FH&) LT BT BT
(thousands) HKD HKD HKD'000
NBE+-R/—B-—% August to December/2021 31,490 8.42 6.55 245,754
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e _—F—

—Ft —A=F—HILFE (2HELBARETT(GIFSEFHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

26.

IR BERAY

RZBZ—FNAZ+H &R
RIEEEHE T RGBT EI([=
S —FFEl]) - ZETEIEERER
SENERHE - F2HEENNE
HEAEEMNF AR - WHEES
BAEBERERNRRAIERIAE
B RWSI RBEIEEAS IRA
RIGEREB N AIFERRER

TR HEAEEESMAERIOF
NER - RIE—FT — —5t 3R #17
B &% THBEAR TR ERITR
AE) 5% °

RZZEZ—F+ZA=+—H &
NAIGRG BT EIZEN B LR
AABAA 12,817,500 AR
alpR e - jﬂﬂ&ﬁﬁﬁb%ﬁemﬁ
B BT FEMERS SR
%o

RITERHIRE B M AR T

26.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

On 26 August 2021, the Board of Directors of the Company
approved the share award scheme (“2021 scheme”), the purposes
of 2021 scheme are to improve the Group’s incentive system, align
the interests of Participants with the Group’s interest, and encourage
them to create long-term value for the Group and the Shareholders
and attract and motivate professional talents to enhance and promote
the Group’s sustainable and healthy development.

The 2021 scheme is valid and effective for 10 years from the
approval of the Board of Directors. The maximum number of shares
that may be issued under 2021 scheme will not exceed 5% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

As at 31 December 2021, 12,817,500 shares were acquired by
an independent trustee appointed by the Company for the share
award scheme with no awarded shares been granted to any selected
participants pursuant to the share award scheme.

Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their

BITEENE T - related weighted average exercise price are as follows:
FHTEE IR EARERA
B Number of
Average exercise share options
price in HKD (F&t)
per share option (thousands)
R-E-ZF—H—H At January 2020 4.970 5,000
BT Exercised 4.970 (4,000)
E Forfeited 4.970 (1,000)
R-B-Z2EH At 31 December 2020 and 2021
—E-—F
+=-B=+—H — —

%:;:*¢+‘H:+*E
BRIIENERE(ZS_ZF:
E)e REBELE T -—F+_A
=t HFERNEBREETE
&4 1 4,000,00017) °

(=F=%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

27. #ENEFWE 27. RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

(a) fRfE (@) Reserves

NAREETE
BHSBIA
HipaRE WM
X EERE SREE @t
Financial
assets at fair
value through

other
Capital Statutory  comprehensive
reserves reserves income Total
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
RZZ-ZH—-F—H At1January 2020 (81,072) 507,421 28,181 454,530
B —@%(MfE19)  Revaluation-gross (Note 19) — = (18,246) (18,246)
it — HE(M#30)  Revaluation-tax (Note 30) — — 4,562 4,562
B#E3) Appropriation (i) = 124,867 = 124,867
WEEIB AR 2 EB8IMEZS  Acquisition of additional
interests of a subsidiary (5,276) — — (5,276)
B T2 Employee share option scheme:
—BIRBmES - Value of employee services 950 = _ 950
— REBRRETE — Issue of shares pursuant to share
TR option scheme (5,210) = = (5,210)
R-B-2fF At 31 December 2020
+=ZA=+-H (90,608) 632,288 14,497 556,177
W=B=—F-F—8  At1lanuary 2021 (90,608) 632,288 14,497 556,177
Bff — @5 (Mi£19)  Revaluation-gross (Note 19) = = 11,100 11,100
Bff —HE(H:30)  Revaluation-tax (Note 30) — — (2,775) (2,775)
BEO) Appropriation (i) — 172,317 = 172,317
R-B=-F At 31 December 2021
+=ZA=+-H (90,608) 804,605 22,822 736,819
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BZ_FE_—F 1 _H=1—HIFE (LHELBARETIT(BRISFHH))
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

27.

(@)
(i)

EEME TS (&

(&)

EE R

KR BEARBERER A KER
R TR B A F A B (T
BFom ) ESERARNR
o REFRREEREBEFE
EER - NIREANASRTES
FHERIEEE M FRATEALH 10% B
EERERBRAER c ETETF AR
HEE BB ATEERBEIEME
K50% - BRAIRBERERE#E
— R -

EEBRBATER AN BHBES
EERNE) - TRaEBIEARRIR
R RF B B AR A LL R A AR R 31T
R MERITRBTROATRBRA
BeEE AL NEMEARH 25% °

HE-_Z-_—F+=-HA=+—H
IEFE BETHETAALAF
METRBABESBERINHARE
172,317,000 c(ZZEZ=ZF : A
FR# 124,867,000 7T) °
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27. RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

(@)
(i)

(continued)

Reserves (continued)

Statutory reserves

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and
Articles of Association of the companies incorporated in the PRC
now comprising the Group (the “PRC Subsidiaries”), it is required
to appropriate 10% of the annual statutory net profits of the PRC
Subsidiaries, after offsetting any prior years’ losses as determined
under the PRC accounting standards, to the statutory surplus
reserves fund before distributing the net profit. When the balance
of the statutory surplus reserves fund reaches 50% of the registered
capital of the PRC Subsidiaries, any further appropriation is at the
discretion of shareholders.

The statutory surplus reserves fund can be used to offset prior years’
losses, if any, and may be converted into share capital by issuing new
shares to shareholders in proportion to their existing shareholding,
provided that the remaining balance of the statutory surplus reserves
fund after such issue is not less than 25% of registered capital.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, approximately
RMB172,317,000 (2020: RMB124,867,000) were appropriated to
the statutory surplus reserves funds from net profits of certain PRC
subsidiaries.



B O R AR M ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

27. REME TR (& 27. RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

(continued)
(b) BEKHR (b) Retained earnings
ARET T
RMB’'000
R-E-_ZHF—H—H At 1 January 2020 2,398,458
FBRARRIFBENFE Profit attributable to owners of the Company 1,043,512
B Appropriation (124,867)
R=—Z_ZF+_H=+—H At31 December 2020 3,317,103
R-—E-—%—H—H At 1 January 2021 3,317,103
BEERARRIFBENTE Profit attributable to owners of the Company 1,000,672
BAE Appropriation (172,317)
R-ZZE=-—F+=-H=+—H At 31 December 2021 4,145,458
(c) HtiZeSas  MERHIE (c) Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Hthiz e
Hithf# s Wi
Total other
comprehensive
Other reserves income
ARBTT ARBT T
RMB'000 RMB’'000
BZE=-Z=-—%+=H8 VYearended 31 December 2021
=t+—HALEFE
WARMEBEZERE  Change in value of financial assets at
B AR MEE fair value through other comprehensive
EafmEmEED income, net of tax
BEZE) - HRTIA 8,325 8,325
HithiR & W 828 Total other comprehensive income 8,325 8,325
BZ=-Z-ZHF+=-H VYear ended 31 December 2020
=+—HLEFE
UWAREBEFEAEE Change in value of financial assets at
BEETAHMER S fair value through other comprehensive
EEemEEN income, net of tax
BEZS) - HRTHIE (13,684) (13,684)
Hiim S WS4 58 Total other comprehensive income (13,684) (13,684)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B E A= —HIFE (2EELBARETFT(BIESEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

28. BEfTERFM R HMMESNTK 28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

R+=—A=+—H
As at 31 December
—EC_—F —E-FF
2021 2020
ARET AREBT T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
FETBRSK (a K b) Trade payables (a and b) 585,245 823,855
FERRE Notes payables 244,494 44,400
FE 1~ AR 75 5K IE (a) Amounts due to related parties (a) (Note 36)

(PF3E36) 4,447 12,654
FERT & KA T Accrued payroll and welfare 8,930 2,135
FERTFIE Interest payables 11,704 11,850
E b pESFR IR Other taxes payables 263,330 225,886
eSS B B Contingent consideration payables 180,700 111,708
E AR EK (a) Other payables (a) 119,931 131,079

1,418,781 1,363,567
(@ RZEBEZ—F+A=+— (@)  As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, all such
AT F+ = A trade payables and other payables of the Group were non-
=+—8 AEELMERS interest bearing and their fair values approximated to their
ERXMEMENTE AR carrying amounts due to the short maturities.

B BREIRE - EARE
BERREEERE -
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B O R AR M ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

28. EERF R EMEFNT 28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

(#&

(b) RZEBEZ—F+ZA=*+— (b) At 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the ageing
AR-_ZTE_ZFTF+_A1 analysis of the trade payables, based on billing date was as
=+—B  ENEFRER follows:

BHBMNERRSITHT -

W+=BA=+—H
As at 31 December
—EZ-F —E-THF
2021 2020
ARET T AREETT
RMB’000 RMB'000
—F PR Less than 1 year 544,956 780,801
—FEWF 1 year to 2 years 24,758 24,655
MEZE=F 2 years to 3 years 6,633 10,854
=FHE Over 3 years 8,898 7,545
585,245 823,855
() AKBEREMNERRREEME (c)  The carrying amount of the Group’s trade and other payables
NRHEREEETATIE were denominated in the following currencies:
BEEHE -
R+=—A=+—8H
As at 31 December
—E-F —E-THF
2021 2020
ARET T AREETTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR RMB 1,412,979 1,354,186
ET usD 4,815 3,790
B HKD 987 5,591
1,418,781 1,363,567
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BPCEC—F L A= —HIUFRE (RHEELBARETT(BIHESFHH))
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

29. B 29. BORROWINGS

R+=—A=+—H
As at 31 December
—EB=-—-F —TTF
2021 2020
ARET AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
IERED Non-current
RITER Bank borrowings
— B (a) — pledged (a) 10,500 =
— BH#ER(b) — guaranteed (b) 497,500 1,593,268
— SR (¢) — pledged and guaranteed (c) 1,235,080 1,172,210
— EAER — unsecured 2,500,319 =
HAbEFK (e) Other borrowings (e) 4,248 4,577
IERENE AR Total non-current borrowings 4,247,647 2,770,055
B Current
IRITIEK Bank borrowings
— B (a) — pledged (a) 200 =
— BER (b) — guaranteed (b) 632,400 1,491,035
— BIEBIER () — pledged and guaranteed (c) 702,530 622,830
— ERAER — unsecured 723,021 45,000
AR AR (d) Borrowings from a shareholder (d) — 130,498
HAEFK (e) Other borrowings (e) 224 5,221
mENEFRAERE Total current borrowings 2,058,375 2,294,584
A sast Total borrowings 6,306,022 5,064,639

254 FHARREREMAT 2021 FFEHRS



29. Bk (&

(a)

(b)
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B Ot B R R ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

29. BORROWINGS (continued)

(@)

(b)

As at 31 December 2021, the current and non-current bank
borrowings were secured by buildings and land-use rights of
Deyang Lvneng and Deyang Huaneng. See Notel4(vii) and
Note 15(b) for details.

As at 31 December 2021, the current and non-current bank
borrowings were guaranteed by the related parties of the
Group, which were Henan Tian Lun Investment Holdings
Group Limited, Henan Tian Lun Gas Engineering Investment
Limited, Henan Tian Lun Real Estate Group Limited, Mr.
Zhang Yingcen (one of controlling shareholders of the
Company), Ms. Sun Yanxi (a family member of Mr. Zhang
Yingcen), Mr. Zhang Daoyuan (a family member of Mr. Zhang
Yingcen), former shareholders of Deyang Lvneng and Mianzhu
Tianjin Chemical Construction Limited.

As at 31 December 2020, the current and non-current
bank borrowings were guaranteed by the related parties of
the Group, which were Henan Tian Lun Gas Engineering
Investment Limited, Henan Tian Lun Real Estate Group
Limited and Mr. Zhang Yingcen (one of controlling
shareholders of the Company).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T -G H=+—HIIFE (2FELBARETIT(HIESEZHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

29. Bk (&

(c)

RoBE-—F+=-A=+—
B - B RIERERITER
HEHRM  WEKBR
RRERHE - KEERME -
AXFEEH LEES N
AR - EHAKRM - KEKR
- HEOKMH - EE &K
- BE R B K
- KB - BRI R
BAFENRIKERE - X
RRRER 2EMR - T
JIIBREE « BRI KM~ —RRE
2 -AEIE RERE
KIEERE - ARHESH - K
e RGBS HEELA
R # 88,599,000 JT K FE U
B R (Hf 5E20(F) » & Z K
R-KERE RERHE -
AXRESHAE - MIFE - 4t
RAMEE  LEES - &
HETRER - Ki@sH - Kl
BR4E - BB - BEIFE
RAFHEMHRFEZ K
ReWMEMSHNETF
RARE BIERER (e
15(b)) + WA A B BH
MHERMREEREER
FRAR] - AR KXmitESE
BRAF - RBRBEE - &
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29. BORROWINGS (continued)

(c)

As at 31 December 2021, the current and non-current
bank borrowings were secured by the gas charging rights of
Shangjie Tianlun, Henan Tian Lun Gas, Wubu Changxing,
Mizhi Changxing, Shijiazhuang Jinming, Shenqiu Huixin,
Jiutai Dadi, Panshi Dadi, Da’an Dadi, Baicheng Dadi,
Zhenlai County Dadi, Dunhua Dadi, Tongyu County Dadi,
Datong Jindi, Huzhu Jindi, Xiping Kaida, trade receivables
with carrying value of approximately RMB88,599,000 of
Tianlun Pipeline, Jintang Gas, Sichuan Mingsheng, Suzhou
Tianlun, Sanming Huiji, Xiping Kaida, Wubu Changxing,
Mizhi Changxing, Shijiazhuang Jinming, Datong Jindi and
Huzhu Jindi(Note 20(f)), equity shares of Jintang Gas, Mizhi
Changxing, Wubu Changxing, Shijiazhuang Jinming, Sichuan
Mingsheng, Beijing Tian Lun Investment, Shenqgiu Huixin,
Jindi New Energy, Datong Jindi, Datong Yasuo, Huzhu Jindi,
Huzhu Limin and Xiping Kaida, buildings and gas pipelines of
Datong Jindi and Huzhu Jindi (Note 15(b)) and guaranteed by
the related parties of the Group, which were Henan Tian Lun
Investment Holdings Group Limited, Henan Tian Lun Real
Estate Group Limited, Mr. Zhang Yingcen and Ms. Sun Yanxi.



1:!:!'.

B Ot B R R ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BEx_—F—

—FT A= —HILFE (FEELSARETIT(KISEFHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)
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29. BORROWINGS (continued)

(c)

(continued)

As at 31 December 2020, the current and non-current
bank borrowings were secured by the gas charging rights of
Shangjie Tianlun, Henan Tian Lun Gas, Wubu Changxing,
Mizhi Changxing, Shijiazhuang Jinming, Shenqiu Huixin,
Jiutai Dadi, Panshi Dadi, Da’'an Dadi, Baicheng Dadi,
Zhenlai County Dadi, Dunhua Dadi and Tongyu County
Dadi, trade receivables with carrying value of approximately
RMB91,970,000 of Tianlun Pipeline, Jintang Gas, Sichuan
Mingsheng, Suzhou Tianlun and Sanming Huiji, equity
shares of Jintang Gas, Mizhi Changxing, Wubu Changxing,
Shijiazhuang Jinming, Sichuan Mingsheng, Beijing Tian
Lun Investment and Shengiu Huixin, and guaranteed by the
related parties of the Group, which were Henan Tian Lun
Investment Holdings Group Limited, Henan Tian Lun Real
Estate Group Limited, Mr. Zhang Yingcen and Ms. Sun Yanxi.

As at 31 December 2020, borrowings of USD20,000,000,
equivalent to approximately RMB130,498,000 were from
International Finance Corporation, one of the Company’s
shareholders, which was guaranteed by Mr. Zhang Yingcen
and two of his family members. The loan was repaid in 2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T -G H=+—HIIFE (2FELBARETIT(HIESEZHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

. fER(E) 29. BORROWINGS (continued)

() MZIE-_—F+-A=+— (e)  As at 31 December 2021, borrowings of RMB4,472,000
H ZSEEBRPARE (2020: RMB4,798,000) from local government were assumed
4,472,000 L( ZZE %4 : by the Group to acquire the exclusive operating rights for city
AR #4,798,0007T) A&7 pipeline network in Xuchang City of Henan Province in 2003.

SRR _ZET=FREEA
MEFETHTRREER
AR AR AYEREREK -

RZZE_ZTF + = )EI As at 31 December 2020, borrowings of RMB5,000,000
Sopr— EI IEﬁlJﬁ{% HA from local government were secured by gas charging right,
# 5,000,000 7T A 7§ F s)l buildings and gas pipelines of Xiping Kaida (Note 15(b)). The
ERBENMAKER B loan was repaid in 2021.

FRMRE BIEREIR (Y
i 15(b) - ZEERER_-F

—7£E1E\/IEJ °
(f) REREIR - NEBERK (f)  The maturities of the Group’s borrowings at respective end of
WEIEBR AT ¢ reporting period are set out as follows:
B+=—A=+—H
As at 31 December
—F-—F —ToFHF
2021 2020
AR¥T T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
—FR — Within 1 year 2,058,375 2,294,584
—FEMF — Between 1 and 2 years 1,924,459 1,824,482
MEERF — Between 2 and 5 years 2,235,939 855,331
HEMU E — Over 5 years 87,249 90,242
6,306,022 5,064,639
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

—FA=1—HUFE (£FELBARETT(BIFSEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

29. Bk (&

(g

(i)

AEEERNEABENT
5 M BB

29.

BORROWINGS (continued)

(g) The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are

denominated in the following currencies:

R+=BA=+—H

As at 31 December
=F=—F —TTF
2021 2020
ARET T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR RMB 3,476,609 2,040,040
ETT usD 2,036,749 592,038
ok HKD 792,664 2,432,561
6,306,022 5,064,639

AEEEROERERELR
AEERE -

ARBEARY - ZLRAEE
fE RN & 3 &S R B A
KT -

(h) The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings approximated

their fair values.

(i) The effective interest rates of the Group’s borrowings
denominated in RMB, USD and HKD at the end of each

reporting date are set out as follows:

R+t=—A=+—8
As at 31 December
—EZ-F —E-THF
2021 2020

AR RMB
ET usD
Dokl HKD

3.45%~6.40%
2.20%~2.35%
1.96%~3.22%

3.48%~6.00%
2.26%~3.58%
2.87%~3.35%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B E A= —HIFE (2EELBARETFT(BIESEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

30. EEEMRER 30. DEFERRED INCOME TAX
(a) EBREMSHEERBENS (@)  The analysis of deferred income tax assets and liabilities is as
s follows:
R+=—A=+—H
As at 31 December
—EB—F —ETF
2021 2020
AR®F T AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
IEIEFTSFi EE Deferred tax assets
—121@ B8 [E — Deferred tax assets to be recovered
KYEEFIE after more than 12 months
BE 11,462 10,199
—12 & B AEE[e] — Deferred tax assets to be recovered
RYERERIE within 12 months
BE 15,578 17,263
27,040 27,462
IRIEFTSHIB(E Deferred tax liabilities
—12 1@ A1%# [ — Deferred tax liability to be recovered
RIEE FT1S after more than 12 months
MaE (726,414) (566,749)
—12 1@ A A& — Deferred tax liability to be recovered
ROIE R IE within 12 months
aE (27,255) (26,472)
(753,669) (593,221)
IEIEFT B Deferred tax liabilities — net
BECEE) (726,629) (565,759)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

30. ELEMEB (& 30. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
(a) (&) (@  (continued)
BELEAMSHERE NAZeX The gross movements on the deferred income tax account are
IR - as follows:

BE+=-RA=1+—HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—EZ-F —E-THF
2021 2020
AR¥T T AREETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
n—H—H At 1 January (565,759) (517,875)
WHEF A7 Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 35)
(F7E35) (115,942) (32,559)
BHE ML AINESHR)  Tax (charge)/credit relating to other
BRIFHIE (:EBR),  comprehensive income (Note 12)
Bk (BEE12) (2,775) 4,562
RIBEm AR Charged to profit or loss (Note 12)
(HzF12) (42,153) (19,887)
RN+-A=+—H At 31 December (726,629) (565,759)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B E A= —HIFE (2EELBARETFT(BIESEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

30. ELEMEB (& 30. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
(b) FAREREMBHREENEE (b)  The movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities
VEBIIT during the year are as follows:
EEFREREE Deferred tax assets
HAAER
fEEE
BHHAER
BRfew
EEBERE  ERER  HEER g  EEER 0 v a3t
Revaluation
of financial
assets at
Provision for fair value
impairment Accrued through
of assets expenses  Taxlosses  Depreciation  profit or loss Others  Offsetting Total

ARRTL  ARETRL  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARETR
RMBOOO ~ RWBOO0  RMBODO  RMBOOO  RMBODD  RMBOOO  RMBODD  RMBO0O

RoB-FF-F-H A1 Januay 2020 3,966 570 36,900 978 - 2,295 (16,031) 28,678
i SN Acquisition of subsidiaries 682 = 2111 = = 235 = 3,028
NERMIR/ (%) Creditedi(charged)

to profit or loss 2,351 464 (7,650) (73) 7611 517 (7.524) (4,244)
i s at 31 December 2020
t-R=1-H 6,999 1,034 31,361 905 7611 3,107 (23,555) 21462
RoB-F-F-H At1Janvary 2021 6,999 1,034 31,361 905 7,611 3,107 (23,555) 27,462

WEFAF (H535)  Acquisition of subsidiaries

(Note 35) - - 1,458 214 - - - 1,672
RBRMIR/(E)  Credited(charged) to
profit or loss 4,305 1,524 (7,570) (118) 1,557 (311) (1,481) (2,094)

W_E--F+ s at 31 December 2021
ZA=t-8 11,304 2,558 25,249 1,001 9,168 2,796 (25,036) 27,040
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

30. IEIEMBH (Z) 30. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

(b) FRELEHEHEEMAR (b)
VEEINTS ¢ ()

The movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities
during the year are as follows: (continued)

ELEFEHAasE Deferred tax liabilities

NRAEE  ERESR

Fpizb:S AR

SHHARE  ARRA/

$Refl  GoUBN  WEBRESHE
MEERE SREEER  WENHE i3 #H &t

Revaluation ~ Withholding

of financial  tax relating to

Fair value assets at  dividends to be

adjustments fairvalue  distributed/

relatedto  through other interests eared

busingss  comprehensive  from the PRC
combinations income  subsidiaries  Depreciation Offsetting Total
ARETL  ARETT  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
RZE-ZE-F-A At 1 January 2020 460,89 9,39 13,906 78,388 (16,031) 546,553
WEFAF Acquisition of subsidiaries 27,069 = = 8,518 = 35,587
EHW AUARME  Credited to other comprehensive income = (4,562) - - - (4,562)
EROR) ik (Credited)/charged to profit or loss (23,099) — 8471 37,19 (7,524) 15,643

i S i3 As at 31 December 2020
TZA=1+-A 464,865 4833 22377 124,701 (23,555) 593,221
RZE=-%5-F-H At 1 January 2021 464,865 4833 22371 124,701 (23,555) 593,221
WEEF AR (H3E35) Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 35) 117,614 - = = = 117,614
EEMEANERTR  Credited to other comprehensive income = 2,775 = = = 2,775
REEN(R) /2B (Credited)icharged to profit or loss (13,916) - 13,671 41,785 (1,481) 40,059
S As at 31 December 2021

T-A=1+-A 568,563 7,608 36,048 166,486 (25,036) 753,669
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T -G H=+—HIIFE (2FELBARETIT(HIESEZHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

30. ELEFTEBL (&

(b)

(c)

FRREMSHREEMAR
VEEINTS ¢ ()

R-E_—F+_A=+—
B AEEBRE—LETFRQ
RZAFTHERNMmE
B TE B oSl B R
EFBEHRABEHNARYE
237,330,000 (= E - &
F: AR #199,448,000
TT)ERER 25458
BHEXERNBIRE - B
—E - —F+ZH=+—
B KRFDRBHNEL
B AN R #4,.746,603,000
T(ZE-_ZTF: ARK
3,988,955,0007T ) ° ZAx &
EEERERARGEHE
BT ARMATOERFE
BERBERAR -

REBARERIELFTER
BEENABARE17,812,000
T(ZEZFF: ARK
17,502,0007T) - M4 fE
B AT 4% B DL OB R 2R B
R ENEEAEARE
761,675,000 c(—E=F
F: AR#¥698,736,000
TL) o RIERNTIEE BN
AT F E B HR:

30. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

(b)

(c)

The movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities
during the year are as follows: (continued)

As at 31 December 2021, deferred income tax liabilities of
approximately RMB237,330,000 (2020: RMB199,448,000)
had not been recognised for the withholding tax that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries.
Such amounts are permanently reinvested. Unremitted
earnings totalled approximately RMB4,746,603,000 as at 31
December 2021 (2020: RMB3,988,955,000). The Group
does not intend to remit these unremitted earnings from the
relevant subsidiaries to the Hong Kong holding entity in the
foreseeable future.

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of
approximately RMB17,812,000 (2020: RMB17,502,000)
in respect of losses amounting to approximately
RMB761,675,000 (2020: RMB698,736,000) that can
be carried forward against future taxable income. The
unrecognised tax losses will expire in the following years:

—E-— —E-EF

2021 2020

AR®ETR AREFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

2022 2022 2,121 2,121
2023 2023 2,495 2,495
2024 2024 23 23
2025 2025 467 467
2026 2026 1,240 =
R HRH No expiry date 755,329 693,630
761,675 698,736
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

RE 31. DIVIDENDS
RZZE-—FEANMREREAA The dividend paid in 2021 was RMB289,322,000 (2020:
R#289,322,00070( —E -FF : RMB235,003,000).

AE#235,003,0007T) °

—E—F —ETF
2021 2020
ARET T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
TR —Z -2 4 Final dividend for the year ended
EARERR S 31 December 2020 of RMB15.30 cents
AR 15.30% per share(2019: RMB12.00 cents per share)
—NE paid to ordinary shares
BIRARK12.009) 154,768 120,027
TBAOKRST == ——% Interim dividend for the year ended
S AR S 31 December 2021 of RMB13.43 cents
Hﬁ/\ﬁ*ﬁz 13.43 % per share(2020: RMB11.40 cents per share)
—E-TF paid to ordinary shares
BRARK11.40%) 134,554 114,976
289,322 235,003
BE_ZFE-_—_F=-A=+—HAWME Pursuant to the resolution of the Board of Directors dated 31 March
ERE AR ESEZRIRER 2022, the directors of the Company proposed to distribute total
2T —F+-_A=+—HItHF final dividend of RMB 147,141,000 (RMB 14.57 cents per share)
ERAKRESFRARE 14575 - for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: RMB154,768,000,
@ AR 147,141,000 (=% RMB15.30 cents per share), which was not recognised as a liability
—TF: BRAR®K15309 - &2 at year end.
% AR ¥ 154,768,0007T) © K
AR EEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

EoE

32.

(@)

&

EENES
BRATSHATNBEBOERE ()

EELNRS

—FFZH=F—HIUFRE (2HEELBARETT(BIHSEFHH))
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

32. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

generated from operations

Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash

BE+t-A=1T—-HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—EZ-F —E-THF
2021 2020
ARET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB'000
BRFT1S TR FE Profit before income tax 1,362,804 1,418,375
IR - Adjustments for:
— TBE BEK — Depreciation of property, plant and
RAEARIRE M equipment and investment properties
EHETE (Notes 15,16)
(MizE 15, 16) 193,374 166,375
— B EEEH — Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 17)
(FFzE17) 123,706 97,502
— AREENE — Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 14)
(fisE14) 10,893 11,789
— Bl (fisE 10) — Finance income (Note 10) (7,729) (11,228)
— AR (5T 10) — Finance costs (Note 10) 228,447 244,675
— FEH W (H5E7) — Net foreign exchange gains (Note 7) (71,115) (188,536)
— SMNETEIBK (MizE7) — Losses on forward exchange
instrument (Note 7) 16,813 30,445
— BKEBEAAEE — Loss from fair value change of notes
BENEL (HFE7) receivable (Note 7) 1,993 2,691
— BaEE AR R — Share of results of associates and
BRPEEEA a joint venture (Note 11(b))
(BF3E11(b)) 10,253 45,880
— RETHE BEK — Gains on disposal of property, plant
BAEHFE (b) and equipment (b) (425) (3,281)
— EHEAAEBE — Changes in fair value of contingent
=2E) (fE7) consideration (Note 7) (54,303) (8,480)
1,814,711 1,806,207
LEESEY Changes in working capital:
— FE — Inventories (37,410) 94,040
— ZRHEE — Restricted cash (65,339) (95)
— EUBRR L E AW  — Trade and other receivables 162,688 209,725
— ERBRA R EMFERFK  — Trade and other payables (47,799) 239,741
— &REE — Contract assets (1,258,657) (652,830)
—ARBE — Contract liabilities 103,209 (45,733)
(1,143,308) (155,152)
KEEANRE Cash generated from operations 671,403 1,651,055
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B O R AR M ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. REELWNBRE(E)

BRETHE - BMERREM

B

FQ\/Eu\ﬁ:/FEﬁi/mE%%q:' &E&EZ—@J
E - BEREREMETIEERE

32. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
(continued)

(b) Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from disposal
of property, plant and equipment comprise:

BE+-A=1+—HLFE

Year ended 31 December

—EZ-F —E-THF
2021 2020
ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
IREFE (FFE15) Net book amount (Note 15) 3,104 9,049
BRETEE BENK  Gains on disposal of property,
REHFNG (HEE7) plant and equipment (Note 7) 425 3,281
BETEE  ME&  Proceeds from disposal of property,
REATS A plant and equipment 3,529 12,330
B FERAEG (c) Net debt reconciliation
RNEFE G S EEE NETY REDEE This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in
BRI DT EE) o net debt for each of the periods presented.
R+=—B=+—8H
As at 31 December
—E-F —E-THF
2021 2020
ARET T AREFIT
e Net debt RMB’000 RMB’000
RekREEFEY Cash and cash equivalents 1,014,978 1,640,081
mEMERE Liquid investment 30,000 _
&R Borrowings (6,306,022) (5,064,639)
HEBE Lease liabilities (9,974) (8,202)
(v Net debt (5,271,018) (3,432,760)
Re RREERE Cash and liquid investment 1,044,978 1,640,081
RIER — BEF =X Gross debt — fixed interest rates (1,180,622) (557,497)
REW — FEIFE Gross debt — variable interest rates (5,125,400) (4,507,142)
HEAE Lease liabilities (9,974) (8,202)
B35 Net debt (5,271,018) (3,432,760)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T -G H=+—HIIFE (2FELBARETIT(HIESEZHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. REELWNIES(4Z) 32. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

(continued)
(c) BEXRFHEAH(E) (c) Net debt reconciliation (continued)
HivEE HETBNAR
Other assets Liabilities from financing activities
BER ik 2
BeZEY RE() &3 HESE o
Cash and cash Liquid Leases
equivalents  investments (i) Borrowings liability Total

ARBTE  ARBTT  ARBTR  ARETT  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

R-ZE-EE-F—HEKTFE  Netdebtasat 1 January 2020 1,349,836 — (5,192,402) (9,666) (3,852,232)
RenE Cash flows 295,235 — (65,447) 4316 234,104
nERE Acquisition leases = = = (2,852) (2,852)
EAREMAHEREE Foreign exchange adjustments and
other non-cash movements (4,990) — 193,210 — 188,220
RZE-ZF+-A=1-H  Net debtasat 31 December 2020
EXFH 1,640,081 — (5,064,639) (8,202) (3,432,760)
RIBZ-F—-F—AE%FE  Netdebtas at 1 January 2021 1,640,081 - (5,064,639) (8,202) (3,432,760)
BenE Cash flows (620,931) 30,000 (1,209,113) 4,673 (1,795,371)
EBATEM Increase from business
combination — — (137,150 — (137,150
miEHE New leases = = = (5,768) (5,768)
A ARME R ES Foreign exchange adjustments and
other non-cash movements (4,172) — 104,880 (677) 100,031
M=Z-—F+-B=1+—H  Netdebtasat 31 December 2021
ERFHE 1,014,978 30,000 (6,306,022) (9,974) (5,271,018)
(M MBMERAREHDER (i) Liquid investment are the investment of bank financial

[ARABEE SRR

HARMBENSBAE]
METERERMIEE - A
S AT B R T LA -
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product that classified as “financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss”, which can be redeemed by the Group
when necessary.



33.

34.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

HEEH
RoBo—F+=A=+—AR=

Z_TFE+_A=+—H &x&E
BEASBAE -

S
CENt

RBERRDATNERBLEZER
FASZANT :

33. CONTINGENCIES

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Group did
not have any material contingent liabilities.

34. COMMITMENTS

(@) Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of each reporting
period, but not yet incurred is as follows:

R+=—B=+—8H
As at 31 December
- —E-FF
2021 2020
ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HEBMEEARMIRE Capital investment to a joint venture 3,600,000 3,600,000
% Ui B T (B Share purchase consideration commitment — 899,508
HEE AR EAMRE  Capital investment to associate 100,000 100,000
TEYEE - W Rkt Property, plant and equipment 19,730 16,850
3,719,730 4,616,358
RerBERAH (b) Licensing fee commitments
BZE+-A=+—RHILLEE
As at 31 December
—EC—F —E-FF
2021 2020
AR¥ET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
TEBE—F Not later than one year 1,100 1,100
HBB—FETHEBAFE Later than one year and no later than five years 4,400 4,400
BB hE Later than five years 6,600 7,700
12,100 13,200
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BE-T -G H=+—HIIFE (2FELBARETIT(HIESEZHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

35.

EBast

R-_EBE-_—F—F=+—H &%
[ 88 A& 37 RE TR 100% K IR
ZARAEREFEMAI B IS
ZHERETAR  SHIFERE
B EHFIR - KBSH
M KBEHBIOO%IRE EXE
EEBEESRMEGEMATTA
BREERTHRRLCE MR AHE
& EHRAMRNELER - BYE
#BAR# 832,760,000 7T °

RZE-_—F—H=+—H"' R
EEHE ABE S 100% 0 IRHE -
2N B AT R B R S B
FZHEREMTR A HEXEBE
HEEEBEMBREBHIEERX
RREE UM REBEERHE
TRTEXER BHEHARE
233,300,0007T °

RZE-_—FNWA=+H " A&H
B ASKERER 100% A AE - 32 A 7
BEPHEMA LB ILE =T
BEREERAR @ KFRERFAE
5 2E 82 00% M Ak i « 1EF5EERE =
ZEM)IE BT SE T RRL
2 HAMRILEEER - REE
#ANR¥ 231,120,000 7T °

MR bR - AREBBEBEAR
EMBHRE -  WEEENHOARE
489,041,000 TR - BHENH
Wt EBRFMIETEENTEN
RFMRAER  BAEEEMIR
EEBLENHBRME  MITEL
BERE R E AT R EREES - A
Ko 78 HA 38 8 G BE P EE AE M IR AR A
KE o HERE TN A kR AT
8% -

TREE NS B KR 2 RER
HERE - RREBEENTAER
B RAMEE - PARIEIZ IR

S o

B
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35. BUSINESS COMBINATION

On 31 January 2021, the Group acquired 100% of the equity
interests of Jindi New Energy, an independent third party established
in the PRC with limited liability, Jindi New Energy holds 100% of
the equity interests of Huzhu Jindi, Huzhu Limin, Datong Jindi and
Datong Yasuo, which are principally engaged in operation of urban
gas, sales of combustion appliance, and operation of automobile
gas refuelling station in Huzhu County, Haidong City and Datong
County, Xining City, Qinghai Province. The total consideration was
approximately RMB832,760,000.

On 31 January 2021, the Group acquired 100% of the equity
interests of Jingyuan Jindi, an independent third party established
in the PRC with limited liability, which is principally engaged in
sales of pipelined natural gas, construction and connection of gas
pipelines in Jingyuan County, Baiyin City, Gansu Province. The total
consideration was approximately RMB233,300,000.

On 30 April 2021, the Group acquired 100% of the equity
interests of Yongyang Energy, an independent third party holding
company established in the PRC with limited liability. Yongyang
Energy holds 90% equity interests of Deyang Huaneng, which is
principally engaged in operation of urban gas and automobile gas
refuelling station in the Mianzhu City, Sichuan Province. The total
consideration was approximately RMB231,120,000.

As a result of the above mentioned acquisition, the Group is
expected to increase its presence in these markets. The goodwill
of approximately RMB489,041,000 arising from the acquisition
is attributable to the pre-existing and well positioned business
operating in competitive markets, operating synergies with other
existed operations of the Group, the expansion to and the strategic
advantages of the upper stream of the industry, and economies of
scale expected to be derived from combining the operations. None of
the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax
purposes.

The following table summarises the consideration paid and
contingent consideration for the acquisition, the fair value of assets
acquired, liabilities assumed and the non-controlling interests at the
respective acquisition date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

35. a6t (&)

35. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

SRR BESH KEER
R=B=-% R=B=-% R=2=-%
-B=t-AH -B=t-AH MA=t+A st
Jindi New Jingyuan Yongyang
Energy as at Jindi as at Energy as at
31 Jan 2021 31 Jan 2021 30 Apr 2021 Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT
#{E Consideration
— Bfifg — Cash paid 699,807 232,126 221,587 1,153,520
— HAEYHE - Contingent consideration 132,953 1,174 9,533 143,660
“HE Total consideration 832,760 233,300 231,120 1,297,180
SR BEdH KERER
RZB--% RZB--% R-B=-F
-A=1-8H -B=1+-8 mA=+H @it
Jindi New Jingyuan Yongyang
Energy as at Jindi as at Energy as at
31 Jan 2021 31 Jan 2021 30 Apr 2021 Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTTL ARBTL ARETT ARETT
AHANNEEE Recognised amounts of identifiable
LAEGEHERSE . assets acquired, and liabilities
assumed:
BeRBReEEY Cash and cash equivalents 78,968 3,319 4,989 87,276
TEE - BB R& Property, plant and equipment 165,843 68,040 60,709 294,592
HHELE Right-of-use assets 3,810 950 4,420 9,180
BREE Intangibles:
— BircEE — Exclusive operating rights 416,921 114,263 = 531,184
— B — Network — — 109,533 109,533
RE Inventories 398 1 957 1,356
BEMEHEE Deferred tax assets 347 38 1,287 1,672
FEMOR R E A MR 3R Trade and other receivables 54,217 23,019 65,846 143,082
HindEnBEE Other non-current assets 24 = 279 303
&3 Borrowings (84,000) (15,000) (38,150) (137,150)
B M A0 Z Trade and other payables (20,130) (14,094) (34,984) (69,208)
aRaE Contract liabiilties (21,140) (7,365) (2,222) (30,727)
BEMEHAR Deferred tax liabilities (63,425) (34,924) (19,265) (117,614)
BB HAFEESE  Total identifiable net assets acquired 531,833 138,247 153,399 823,479
JEpEIERE R Non-controlling interests == = (15,340) (15,340)
HE Goodwill 300,927 95,053 93,061 489,041
4@t Total 832,760 233,300 231,120 1,297,180
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T -G H=+—HIIFE (2FELBARETIT(HIESEZHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

35. ¥B&H (&) 35. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
SR Bt iﬁazﬁ
R=8=-F R-B=-£ R=B=-F
-A=1-H -A=1-A Iﬂ_+E DYE & st
Jindi New Jingyuan Yongyang
Energy as at Jindi as at Energy as at Prior years
31Jan 2021 31 Jan 2021 30 Apr 2021 acquisitions* Total
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
WEEBEENRSRL Outflows of cash to acquire
ThiEESHRE businesses, net of cash acquired
— Bfifs — cash paid 699,807 232,126 221,587 18,605 1,172,125
— WETAINRSE — cash and cash equivalents
&fiﬁﬂ“ il in a subsidiary acquired (78,968) (3,319) (4,989) = (87,276)
B4 Z5-TEEMRE Less: cash paid in 2020 (166,552) = = = (166,552)
WEELRBRLRT Cash outflows on acquisition 454,287 228,807 216,598 18,605 918,297
* BE_E-_—F+-_HF=+— * For the year ended 31 December 2021, such cash consideration
HIEFEE IX R E Y paid out included the amount of approximately RMB5,290,000,
B8 8 DA AT [ 42 B8 )1l 8F RMB2,781,000, RMB9,547,000 and RMB987,000 for the
B -AXRESHE- FMNIBE acquisitions of Sichuan Mingsheng, Shijiazhuang Jinming, Zizhou
ML EESEE DRY Shunxiang and Shengiu Huixin, respectively in prior years.

& AN R #5,290,0007T © A
R %2,781,0007t* A R &
9,547,000 &2 A R # 987,000
I o

(a) BmuwEEAEmEBEY s AR (@)  Acquisition-related costs of approximately RMB102,000 (2020:

102,000t (ZE—ZF : AR RMB35,500) have been charged to administrative expenses in the
35,5007T) ' BEFtABE T —— profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2021.
FH_A=T—HILFEBRAN
TIREA -

(b) TEHE (b) Contingent consideration
NEHELHE RS SR The contingent consideration arrangement requires the Group to pay
IR KRR IR i i — in cash of RMB132,953,000, RMB1,174,000 and RMB9,533,000
A IR IERRE R BB AR respectively, to the former owners of Jindi New Energy, Jingyuan Jindi
My NMEEAEBERZBIBRE AR and Yongyang Energy under the condition that within one year of the
WEEKARABBELREEMERE equity transfer of them, no dispute on the legal right of the equity
HNEGER I AEEBEESRIS and assets, no undisclosed obiligations or unrecorded liabilities to be
f+t AR# 132,953,000 « AR discovered by the Group.
1,174,000 % A R # 9,533,000 7T
HETHEER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE—F_—F 1 _A=1—HIFE (LEELSARETIT(FHFSEHYA))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

EBast(E

C W iE 1Y B IR AR R

FEUERZ R EMERRH A AEBE
2B AREE 143,082,0007T @ HE
BREEERS -

WA R R EE R

RWERSHE-_T-_—F+_A
=+—HHM - KRB IEER
E¥BALAEEEBBRANAARE
281,434,0007T * ERVFAEL A
AE# 55,840,000 7T °

EpBE_ST-_—%—HF—H
BECAHEZZZ—F+=
A=+ BLEFENERAH
WAFREGEHFFFNNEED B A A
R #338,237,0007T & A R #
57,077,000 7T °

RpBRASME_—_ET-_—F+_A
—+—HHME - TRBEERSHE
BAEAESBEERBRANABARKE
86,364,000 T ' BEEVFA BN A
AR 21,406,000 7T °

EWEE-_ZT-_—F—HF—H
BEAEE_FT-_—F+=
A=Z+—BLFEHNEXEH
WATEGFEFBED A A
R #93,501,0007T & A R #
21,181,000 7¢ °

RBERSEE_ET-—F+_A
=+— B - BT REIRE
BAEAAEBEBBRANEARE
162,414,000t « ERVFFIEL A
AER# 15,661,000 7T °

35. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

(c)

(d)

Acquired receivables

The fair values of trade and other receivables approximate their
carrying amounts totalling RMB143,082,000.

Revenue and profit contribution

The acquired business Jindi New Energy contributed aggregated
revenues of approximately RMB281,434,000 and aggregated net
profit of approximately RMB55,840,000 to the Group for the period
from the acquisition date to 31 December 2021.

Had the respective acquisition been consolidated from 1 January
2021, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income would
show pro-forma revenue of RMB338,237,000 and net profit of
RMB57,077,000, respectively.

The acquired business Jingyuan Jindi contributed aggregated
revenues of approximately RMB86,364,000 and aggregated net
profit of approximately RMB21,406,000 to the Group for the period
from the acquisition date to 31 December 2021.

Had the respective acquisition been consolidated from 1 January
2021, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income would
show pro-forma revenue of RMB93,501,000 and net profit of
RMB21,181,000, respectively.

The acquired business Yongyang Energy contributed aggregated
revenues of approximately RMB162,414,000 and aggregated net
profit of approximately RMB15,661,000 to the Group for the period
from the acquisition date to 31 December 2021.
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e _—F—

—Ft —A=F—HILFE (2HELBARETT(GIFSEFHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

35.

(d)

36.

Bt (E)

WA RFBER (E)

FRBE_T-_—F—HA—H
BAEABE_T-_—F+=
A=t—BLEFENEAEH
WAMEHFFNBED B B/A
K ¥236,171,000T & A K #&
20,445,0007T °

BBE RS

it RE— AR NEN S —7
RIEH B FE SR EHEMER
T o ﬁuﬁﬁﬁi@ﬁﬂ? #l - TREAR
B PR

AR B R R 4 A SR M AL
MAXmEEBRARES - ZAA
HEBERARAR(RNEBER
ﬁ%%%ﬂ%)ﬁi)%ié%ﬁ j/IEE—m

Lf‘ﬁi(/\ﬁﬂ [z Hxﬂxﬁj) I%U

ATRARBE-_ZE_—F+_A
=tT-BR-ZZF-_ZFF+-A
=T—HLUEFE  AEEEERT
EREXBETNIZMEB S
HHE - M&F_?_*¢+_
A=+— 5&7777¢+ A
=+ —RMiEREREY S
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35.

(d)

36.

BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

Revenue and profit contribution (continued)

Had the respective acquisition been consolidated from 1 January
2021, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income would
show pro-forma revenue of RMB236,171,000 and net profit of
RMB20,445,000, respectively.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related parties are those parties that have the ability to control the
other party or exercise significant influence in making financial and
operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they
are subject to common control.

The Group is controlled by Tian Lun Group Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), a direct wholly-
owned subsidiary of Gold Shine Development Limited (incorporated
in the BVI), and is ultimately controlled by Mr. Zhang Yingcen, Ms.
Sun Yanxi and Mr.Zhang Daoyuan (“Controlling Shareholders”).

The following is a summary of the significant transactions carried
out between the Group and its related parties in the ordinary course
of business during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31
December 2020, and balances arising from related party transactions
as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020.
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HE_FE_—F | _HA="1—HIFE (LHELBARETT(GIFEHSH))
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

ML RS (&

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
BEA B RER (@) Name and relationship with related parties
B BB @&
Name of related party Relationship
Bl SN PN/ 4

International Finance Corporation (“IFC”)

BRI AL
Suzhou Ping Zhuang

ARBRERRES

Henan Yuzi Tianlun Fund

B RHRERER A F
Henan Yutian New Energy Limited

AR RARRIEREARAA(DIEXWIRE])
Henan Tian Lun Gas Engineering Investment Limited
(“Henan Tian Lun Investment”)

Shareholder of the Company

ik /NC]

Associate of the Group

BEhE

Joint venture of the Group

AEABREXR MESIES 2 AT
Controlled by Henan Yuzi Tianlun Fund

i Gt /N
Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders
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P_E_—FF A= —HIEFE (2FRBURBARET T (HRIESFHA))
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

36. BB ARG (& 36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
(b) EXBERS (b) Significant related party transactions
REB B FET NIERRZ The Group had the following significant transactions with related
Z o parties.

BE+T-A=1T—HLHFE

Year ended 31 December

—E-—F —E-THF
2021 2020
AR¥ET T AREETT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
MRHEE Sales of gas
BRI Suzhou Ping Zhuang 24,679 24,562
B AFAERAR AR Henan Yutian New Energy Limited 87,384 24,284
112,063 48,846
BE+-A=+—HILLEE
Year ended 31 December
—EC-—F —E_TF
2021 2020
AR¥ET T ARBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEMREE Purchase of raw materials
TR AFRERARAE  Henan Yutian New Energy Limited 2,658 =
BZEZ+t=-A=+—HILEE
Year ended 31 December
—E-—-F —E-FTF
2021 2020
AR¥T T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
XRFE Interest charged by
Bl Sl NG| IFC 1,417 9,052
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BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

36. BHMAREG (&) 36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
(b) EXBEXZ(E) (b) Significant related party transactions (continued)

BZE+-A=+—HLEE
Year ended 31 December

—E-—F —TTF
2021 2020
ARET T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HEERES Repayment the principle of borrowing
Bl S NG| IFC 129,595 138,919
BE+-A=+—HLEE
Year ended 31 December
—EB-—F —ETF
2021 2020
ARET T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
RETERE Construction Service
AR AFALRARAF  Henan Yutian New Energy Limited 1,353,576 1,771,606
B A RS H B EETIRE These transactions are carried out on terms agreed with the counter
A ok M IR EGETT © party in the ordinary course of business.
(c) EHBAEEAMVAEER (c) Balances with related parties
R+=—A=+—8H
As at 31 December
—EB-—F —E_TF
2021 2020
AR¥T T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
R R HfEUWTR  Trade and other receivables
— JAEBRREFELR — Henan Yutian New Energy Limited
BRAA] 310,451 318,387
— AEXREE — Henan Tian Lun Investment 13,607 13,607
— BRMFH — Suzhou Ping Zhuang 370 30
324,428 332,024
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36. BEHBARS (& 36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
(c) EARAEEAMALER(2) (c) Balances with related parties (continued)
B+=—A=+—H
As at 31 December
—E-—F —ETF
2021 2020
AR®ET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
cREE Contract assets
— JAEBRRIEER — Henan Yutian New Energy Limited
BRAF 2,398,771 1,120,224
Rt=ZA=+—8H
As at 31 December
—E-—F T T
2021 2020
ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERBRRREMENSR Trade and other payables
— JAEBRRIER — Henan Yutian New Energy Limited
BRAF 4,247 9,891
— B AF — IFC — 2,563
— EINTFE — Suzhou Ping Zhuang 200 200
4,447 12,654
R+=A=+-—H
As at 31 December
—E-—-F —E-FF
2021 2020
ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERER Loan due to
— BRERAT — IFC — 130,498

278 XGMRERERAT 2021 FFEHRE



36.

(d)

(e)

B O R AR M ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BHE

—FT A= —HILFE (FEELSARETIT(KISEFHE))

iyi

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

BEL RS (&)

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
HREEAESHMH (d) Key management compensation
BE+-A=+—HLEFE
Year ended 31 December
:S:—fﬁ — 7 — E'E
2021 2020
AR®T T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
%$ 5 MR Basic salaries and allowances 21,064 18,857
BRIREFIER Retirement benefit contributions 1,295 1,858
22,359 20,715
MERREN (e) Financial gurantee contracts
AEER—KALEENHERR] The Group provided guarantees to bank borrowings of a subsidiary of
RITREFEEER - RZF=—F a joint venture. As at 31 December 2021, the guaranteed borrowings
T-A=1+—R8 GEbENNE of the subsidiary of a joint venture amounted to RMB483,400,000

“ﬂﬁﬁ@%WHWHEAE%
483,400,000 T(ZZE_FF : A
R #492,000,0007T ) © 7 & B 4%
PERT AR5 RS B 0% M ERE
& o

RZZEZZTFAZ+WMA - ki
BECEN—ERRAZAELE
MBARRET HZSRERD
# UEREBE-ZF-FTF—AAN
BHE-ZT-_MFELA+_HORME
BiE &REAERAZSBA/ARE
3,000,000,000 7T ° AREEFT &
BERERGZ  REELEBRR
RHRER - AEERERERD
EAENREREETEBTSES
HHYAERERBRMOER -

EBRA HE_T-—F+=
AZ+—HR-ZT-TF+_4
=+ — AL E AR B
ERANHARBETEALES
Ve - 1o) - BER BRI
IS BRI A E R i
&7 -

(2020: RMB492,000,000).The Group undertaken 50% guarantee
obligation of the aforesaid total borrowings.

On 24 June 2020, one shareholder of the aforesaid joint venture
provided an entrusted guarantee agreement with a maximum amount
to a subsidiary of the joint venture to secure a financing facility
from 9 January 2020 to 12 July 2024 with a maximum outstanding
principal amount of RMB3,000,000,000. The Group has entered
into a counter-guarantee agreement with a maximum amount which
provides a counter guarantee to the shareholder of the joint venture.
The total amount of the counter-guarantee liability assumed by the
Group under the counter-guarantee agreement shall not exceed the
value of the shares in the joint venture.

In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of the financial
guarantee contracts of the Group provided during the year ended 31
December 2021 and 31 December 2020 were insignificant and no
provision is necessary. In addition, the directors do not consider it is
probable that a claim will be made against the Group under any of
these guarantees.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BZ_FE_—F 1 _H=1—HIFE (LHELBARETIT(BRISFHH))
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

37.

BREHRSEE

RZEZ—F+ZAZHEZ=Z
ZZHF—AZ+—HHE &2
AIERBELREANTLHEREK
HH8IETLHMERISNERS
$£43,588,0000% i 17 & 2 A
BEMEBREZNE L3656
T(HAARB298ET T8
Bt XPZEREHRERAY) -
7% 43,588,000 @B ER ZF
T _AtHEH-

REREERMH40EB TR E
50,000,000 IR BB F LR
NEBIELARKRBERBRA
AIESRRIERM8.40B TR
50,000,000 AR B FT AR D E 2
FR—E__F-A=+HWHAR=
T —F-_A=-+)\BEK > AR
AESRBEEMSNETHEAL
HA14EHET(HEARE 3361
TT) °

BEEEeN _ET-__F=F7
=+t HRRE EECEBRE
BE—_T-_—F+-_A=+—HL
FEMNRERETRARKE14.57
Do ZBERMEENBRITHRE
BERE EFULE  #BEZLE
ffzE31 o
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37.

EVENT AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

During the period from 2 December 2021 to 21 January 2022, the
Company has conducted an on-market buybacks of an aggregate of
43,588,000 shares under the Repurchase Mandate at an average
price of approximately HKD8.36 per share. The Company paid an
aggregate of approximately HKD365 million(equivalent to RMB298
million, exclusive of expenses such as commissions, trading fee and
levies) for the said buybacks. Such 43,588,000 ordinary shares were
cancelled on 7 February 2022.

The completion of the placing of 50,000,000 existing shares at
HKD8.40 per placing share to no less than six independent placees
and the subscription of a total of 50,000,000 new shares of the
Company at HKD8.40 per subscription share by Tian Lun Group
Limited took place on 24 February 2022 and 28 February 2022,
respectively. The net proceeds from the subscription amounted to
approximately HKD4 14 million(equivalent to RMB336 million).

Pursuant to a resolution of the Board of Directors on 31 March
2022, a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 of
RMB14.57 cents per share was proposed. The proposal is subject to
approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting, details refer to
Note 31.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

HEr—ZT—

—FA=1—HUFE (£FELBARETT(BIFSEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

AATNEEEEBER 38. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE
EkREZESER MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY
ARIEEAEX Balance sheet of the Company
B+=—A=+—H
As at 31 December
—E-—F —ETF
2021 2020
BaE ARET T ARBET T
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BE ASSETS
FRBEE Non-current assets
Ho A ek Other receivables 12,207 7,941
FREIEE Investments in subsidiaries 11(a) 129,220 129,220
141,427 137,161
REBEE Current assets
E b R Other receivables 2,152,062 2,805,065
WAREBERFER Financial assets at fair value
HE et AEHIEZE  through profit or loss
RSB E 9,018 =
SR B3R % Restricted cash 32,163 16,974
He KBS EY Cash and cash equivalents 53,432 28,709
2,246,675 2,850,748
HEE Total assets 2,388,102 2,987,909
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T -G H=+—HIIFE (2FELBARETIT(HIESEZHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

38. RARFIWEERER
RFESBER (&)

38. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE
MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY

(continued)
RNREEEEBEXR(E) Balance sheet of the Company (continued)
B+=—A=+—H
As at 31 December
—E-—F —ETHF
2021 2020
BsE AR®ET T AREFIT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
EzREE EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
&N Share capital 8,466 8,466
ERERS Treasure shares (K+7E Note(a)) (200,697) =
% A4 ) Share premium (Bf5F Note(a)) 528,133 817,455
G Reserves (B5F Note(a)) 19,179 19,179
REtEiE Accumulated losses (Bf5F Note(a)) (837,680) (776,408)
R Total equity (482,599) 68,692
a& LIABILITIES
EmBAE Non-current liabilities
&R Borrowings 2,037,319 1,587,475
,,.LEJEJ* Current liabilities
NAREBEFTER Financial liabilities at fair
HEEt ASEIBES  value through profit or loss
WERAE 2,617 =
D Borrowings 787,621 1,296,035
HAb Other payables 43,144 35,707
BERADTMEE  Equity attributable to owners
2R of the Company 833,382 1,331,742
weE Total liabilities 2,870,701 2,919,217
HREEREE Total equity and liabilities 2,388,102 2,987,909

KRB EEBBEREHETZN
—E-—HF=ZRA=+— Eﬁﬁ 12

The balance sheet of Company was approved by the Board of
Directors on 31 March 2022 and was signed on its behalf:

HATEERKEFSEE
RRESEE FIRREE
Mr. Zhang Yingcen Mr. Xian Zhenyuan
3 3
Director Director
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

38. XARIMWEEEER 38. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE

Ri#AEEEER (& MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY
(continued)
Bisk (a) A AR EFAR - RAER - & Note (a) Treasury shares, share premium, reserves and accumulated losses
HBERERBEEEER movements of the Company
BEER B A F By
Treasury Share  Accumulated fE
shares premium losses Reserves
AREFTT AREFT AREFT ARETT
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R-ZZE-_ZF—H—H At1 January 2020 — 1,029,366 (742,079) 23,439
REFHE Loss for the year = S (34,329) S
SATEARR R EARAR A Interim and final
dividends paid — (235,003) = —
BT ARSHIEE Value of employee services = = = 950
RIS Issue of shares pursuant
TR, to share option scheme = 23,092 — (5,210)
R-ZEZEF At 31 December 2020
+=HA=+—H — 817,455 (776,408) 19,179
R=Z=-—%F—HF—H At1 January 2021 — 817,455 (776,408) 19,179
RE fE5iE Loss for the year — — (61,272)
S ERFR R EARAS A Interim and final dividends paid — (289,322) — —
f& 15 Bl Repurchase of shares (200,697) — — —
R-B-——F At 31 December 2021
+=BA=+—H (200,697) 528,133 (837,680) 19,179
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B E A= —HIFE (2EELBARETFT(BIESEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

39. EEMFmMMELR (F  39. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF

B R BMRBIN (56 622 DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED
F)E 3831 (AT BY SECTION 383 OF THE HONG
(HEEENRER) KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.
BOINE6226E) & 622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF
EHRARENIKE) INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF

DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G)
AND HK LISTING RULES)

(@) EERTBEZTM (a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
FREFSNITHRBENEMOT - The remuneration of every director and the chief executive is set out
below:
HE-Z-_—F+-A=+—AH1F For the year ended 31 December 2021:
FE -
HERA
PEEESEN
i  AtEwER
BIKER EEA RittES
11754 b L RS LU I GE]
He #é Kiske EUEA Exfs TR EWE‘%& &5
er
emoluments paid
or receivable in
respect of director's
other services in
connection with
Employer's Other  the management
contribution to benefits and of the affairs
Allowances a retirement share-based  of the Company
Discretionary and benefits benefit compensation  or its subsidiary
£8 Name Fees Salaries bonuses in kind scheme expenses undertaking Total
ARETT ARBFT ARBTT ARETT ARBFT ARBTT AREFT ARBFT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
FRSEE Mr. Zhang Yingeen - 780 - 3 31 - - 834
i M. Liu Min - 601 - - - - - 601
FELL Ms. Li Tao - 481 - 10 9 - - 500
iy Mr. Liu jin 132 - - - - - - 132
SRERE Mr. Li Liuging 60 = = = = = = 60
REXL M. Zhao Jun 60 - - - - - - 60
BRgt* Ms. Qin Ling* - 50 - - - - = 50
e Ms. Ou Yaqun* 25 - - - = = = 2%
Bt Ms. Chen Hong* 25 = = = = = = 2%
BRRLE M. Yeung Yui Yuen Michael* 85 - — - — — = 85
s : Chief executive:
HRRRE Mr. Xian Zhenyuan - 600 - 3 31 = = 654
387 2,512 — 56 71 — — 3,026
L BREREE : NZE-—FhH * Mr. Yeung Yui Yuen Michael: resigned with effect on 1 September
A—BEEIE- 2021.
KB+ N —F+— Ms Qin Ling: appointed with effect on 29 November 2021.
AZ+NBEZE-
i+ R—FE-——F+ A Ms Chen Hong: appointed with effect on 30 July 2021.
=THEZE-
BB+ RZTE-—F+ Ms Ou Yaqun: appointed with effect on 30 July 2021.
A=1+HEZE-
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39.

(a)

ESNMaMNER (T 39.
B2 T RBI (56 622
&)5%383f% - (AF
(KBEESNmER)

CE e T ELE Y

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE-T-——Ff-H=1—HIFFE (2FELEARETIT(HIESEHH))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED
BY SECTION 383 OF THE HONG

KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.

=z
BAIN(E622GE) & 622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF
EFHRAIRERIRE) INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF
(42 DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G)
AND HK LISTING RULES) (continued)
BEERTHERETM(Z) (a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (continued)
BE-Z-_FTF+_A=+—AH1F For the year ended 31 December 2020:
FE:
RERAR
INTER SN
AENEH
RIRER RN REEMEE
\ R BEL KR BREmAE
e g Rstte i EEER X%t EhHEe &t
Other
emoluments paid
or receivable in
respect of director's
other services in
connection with
Employer's Other  the management
contributionto~~ benefitsand  of the affairs
Allowances ~ a retirement share-based  of the Company
Discretionary ~ and benefits benefit  compensation  or its subsidiary
£ Name Fees Salaries bonuses in kind scheme expenses  undertaking Total
ARETT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETn ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
RRSEE Mr. Zhang Yingeen = 780 = 5 = = 837
IREE M. Liu Min - 601 - - - — - 601
BREL* Mr. Feng Yi* = = - _ - — _ _
TELt Ms. Li Teo - 432 - 4 16 238 - 690
TERRES Mr. Wang Jiansheng* 3 = = = = = = 3
iyt M, Liu jin 132 - - - - — - 132
FREEE Mr. Li Liuging 60 - - - - - - 60
HELT Ms. Zhao Jun 60 = = = = = = 60
BEFLE Mr. Yeung Yui Yuen Michael 130 = = = = = = 130
s, - Chief executive:
HRERE Mr. Xian Zhenyuan = 600 = 4 53 712 = 1,369
415 2,413 — 12 122 950 — 3912

< BBEL: R-E-FF=A
=+—RBHE -
FRBEAE R-_T-_ZTF=
BE+—ERHE -

*

Mr. Feng Yi: resigned with effect on 31 March 2020.

Mr. Wang Jiansheng: resigned with effect on 31 March 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B E A= —HIFE (2EELBARETFT(BIESEHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

39. EEmVNENER(F  39.

B2 T RBI (56 622
T)% 3831k - (AF
(KBEESNmER)

BB (% 622G E) &
L RARENKE)
(&)

(b) EEHERNAKEFR

RAFEER  BEEEHRETLAR
AMEFRAREEHIRFEE MRS
ARERERARETFRREHMIE
2 RIS T X IR AR AR Ml s R MR
KEf (ZT_FF &) -

(c) EZMERERN

RAFER MEREEKULES
RIS B L ERAE R
AR FREARF ¢ TS

RA(CZT_TF  8F) -

d) BEHESBRBEMEOE=7
REHHE

RAFER - BEFENEERS
MENE=FRE=FRKZRE
—T-TE ).

— ==
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(b)

(c)

(d)

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED
BY SECTION 383 OF THE HONG

KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.
622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G)
AND HK LISTING RULES) (continued)

Directors’ retirement benefits

During the year, no retirement benefits were paid to or receivable
by the directors in respect of their services as directors of the
Company and its subsidiaries or other services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the company or its subsidiary
undertaking (2020: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

During the year, no payments or benefits in respect of termination
of directors’ services were paid or made, directly or indirectly, to the
directors; nor are any payable (2020: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year, no consideration was provided to or receivable by
third parties for making available directors’ services (2020: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE—F_—F+_A=+—HUFE (LHEELBARETIT(HFIZEHST))

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

39. EEMFmMMELR (F  39. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF

(e)

(f)

B2 T RBI (56 622
T)% 3831k - (AF
(KBEESNmER)

BB (% 622G E) &
L RARENKE)
(&)

BRUES EE2XEH
FERBAEEREAZHALZ
BEX - EERRHEMXF 2
RAFER  MEAEE BEFZ
XEFFENBEERAREALZ
B EERSIHEMRZ(ZF =
TEE) -

EEAEXRS RHRSEMN
ERES

WAERER - A FLRETER
PRAEEEHMALALES
EESREER S Y EARDY
EERS RUAARA(ZF-F
FOF

(e)

(f)

DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED
BY SECTION 383 OF THE HONG

KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.
622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G)
AND HK LISTING RULES) (continued)

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

During the year, there are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings
in favour of the directors, their controlled bodies corporate and
connected entities (2020: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

During the year, no significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year (2020: Nil).
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AFEHBERE

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

BE+T-A=+—HLEE
Year ended 31 December
B4 —E--F —ZT-TF —T-hEF T N\F ZT—LF
RESULTS 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
ARETT AREFTT ARETT ARETT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

WA Revenue 7,650,345 6,439,777 6,548,618 5,113,254 3,109,014
EH Gross profit 1,779,119 1,786,125 1,703,892 1,428,216 767,944
BrETS AR AT FE Profit before income tax 1,362,804 1,418,375 1,127,380 864,804 575,839
Fri5fiE A Income tax expense (334,690) (354,702) (313,915) (264,444) (146,682)
FENE Profit for the year 1,028,114 1,063,673 813,465 600,360 429,157
R+=—A=+—H
As at 31 December
BE  BERESR ZB-—-F —T-TF T-NF ZT-N\F T—+LF
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

ARBTRE ARETT ARBTIT ARETT AREBTE
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000

mEE Total assets 15,104,836 12,918,138 11,938,781 11,434,093 8,472,249
BEE Total liabilities 9,576,462 7,937,851 7,751,461 7,890,324 5,354,446
R Total equity 5,528,374 4,980,287 4,187,320 3,543,769 3,117,803
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